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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")
BRBMERZMERAT(HRAGEMZEE

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies
to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is
a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there
will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the
contents of this report (“Report”), make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of the Report.

This Report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
(the "Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”, “we"” or “our”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Group. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this Report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this Report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “"Board”) of
Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited, | am
pleased to present the Group’s annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

During the first half year of 2023, the economy and
business activities of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") have still to be disrupted by the novel coronavirus
(COVID-19) epidemic (the "Epidemic”). Despite the
difficulties arising from the Epidemic, and the birth rate
of the PRC has fallen for six consecutive years from
12.43% for 2017 to 6.39%. for 2023, according to the
statistics published by the National Bureau of Statistics
of the PRC in February 2024. Nevertheless, our sales of
biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive supplies
and equipment remained stable during the year ended 31
December 2023, while, our sales of healthcare products
and supplements recorded decrease in revenue of
approximately 85.4%.

Looking ahead, with the arrival of the Year of the
Loong, the birth rate is expected to rebound. In addition
to compensatory marriage and childbirth following
the Epidemic, the traditional concept of Loong Year
pregnancies among the Chinese population suggests a
potential rebound in the birth rate next year. Therefore,
we maintain a cautious but optimistic outlook on the
recovery of the Group’s business.
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Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take &% @+ AAZRKRESTE @ BHES RO
this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to all #HEBE TLZFRTER N - BETEHE
staff members for their dedicated contributions and 1 ARFRERED RS o A A IR T
unwavering commitment to deliver the best service to our BIXE « EEEMH - GERHLEZRFY
customers over the years. My appreciation also goes to AR RIAERE AT - RIEEE B N
all shareholders, business associates, partners and valued H#EENEBIER » ARFAIEEE -
customers for their generous support and confidence in

the Company. We will continue with our endeavour to

pursue growth of our business and create value for our

shareholders.

Zhang Shuguang REEN
Chairman =
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024 EE —E-_WE=A=-+/H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERE N DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing”) on 13
December 2018 (the “Listing Date”) by way of share
offer of 100,000,000 new shares (“Share Offer”)
offered by the Company at HK$0.5 per share and on 6
September 2022 by way of placing of 14,472,000 new
Shares to not less than six independent placees at the
placing price of HK$0.180 per share (the “Placing”).

Biological Reagents and Auxiliary Reproductive
Supplies and Equipment Segment

Our Group specialises in the research and development,
manufacturing and sales of a wide range of In-Vitro
Diagnostic (“IVD") reagents in the PRC, particularly
focusing on the PRC male fertility IVD reagent market. As
at the date of this Report, the Group’s product portfolio
offers 30 biological reagents, including 27 male fertility
IVD reagents, 2 parasite antibody detection reagents and
1 Epstein-Barr virus antibody detection reagent.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the IVD reagents
business operated by the Company’s principal subsidiary
in the PRC experienced an increase of approximately
Renminbi (“RMB") 1.1 million, or 4.9% in revenue from
the sales of biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive
supplies and equipment.
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Healthcare Products and Supplements Segment

Our Group has diversified its business to healthcare
products and supplements in the PRC, Hong Kong and
Canada. As at the date of this Report, our Group has a
total of 24 natural health product licences granted by
the Natural Health Product Directorate of Health Canada
under our registered brand “Nutronic” and our Group
has already launched 12 products in the market. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, the novel coronavirus
(COVID-19) epidemic and its economic impacts together
with increased competition in the healthcare supplement
market that was impacting sales for this segment,
resulted in significantly drop to 1.3% of the Group’s total
revenue, as compared to approximately 8.5% during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

To diversify our business, Shenzhen Huakang Bio-Medical
Engineering Limited* (“Shenzhen Huakang”), an
indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
acquired a 19% equity interest in Hainan Jinnuosai
Medical Technology Company Limited* (“Hainan
Jinnuosai”) in December 2022 (the “Acquisition”). This
will provide access to intellectual property rights (“IP") for
anoectochilus formosanus extractive (“AFE") from
Huazhong University of Science and Technology*
("University”). However, the unsatisfactory progress in
negotiating the cooperation details between Hainan
Jinnuosai and the University, Shenzhen Huakang
withdrew from the Acquisition when the sales and
purchase agreement with Shenzhen Maxson Technology
Development Company Limited* (the “Vendor"), expired
on 31 December 2023.

* English translation is for identification purpose only
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, our Group will continue research and
testing on rapid point-of-care diagnostic testing (“POCT")
using immunoassay techniques. Once we achieve
satisfactory results, the Group intend to apply for medical
device registration.

Our future strategic priorities are continuing research
and development on POCT, seeking partnerships and
distributors to strengthen our healthcare supplements
business to promote the brand of “Nutronic” and
distribute our products in a more efficient and cost
effective way. Our Group believe diversification into these
areas will contribute to the Group’s ongoing growth.

On 20 February 2024, our Group entered into a
memorandum of understanding with Guangdong
QianZhu Machine Technology Limited* (/& 5218 %4 fef e
B HBR 2 F) (“QianZhu”), in relation to a potential
cooperation in sale and distribution of the Group’s
biological reagents and Point-Of-Care (POC) biomedical
testing products (“Product Series”) through the
platforms and channels of QianZhu in the PRC. Our
Group consider it is a good opportunity to expand the
sales and distribution channels of the Group’s Product
Series in the PRC as well as to broaden its source of
income.

* English translation is for identification purpose only
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group’s revenue decreased by approximately
RMB701,000, or approximately 2.8%, from approximately
RMB25.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately RMB24.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The decrease in revenue was mainly
due to a decrease in the sales of healthcare products and
supplements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Sales of male fertility IVD reagents products remained to
be our major products which accounted for approximately
78.3% of our total revenue generated from our sales of
biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive supplies
and equipment segment for the year ended 31 December
2023. Revenue from this segment for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately RMB24.3 million,
which represented an increase of approximately RMB1.1
million or approximately 4.9% from approximately
RMB23.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Sales of healthcare products and supplements generated
approximately RMB315,000 for the year ended 31
December 2023, which represented a significant decrease
of approximately RMB1.8 million or approximately 85.4%
from approximately RMB2.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately
RMB16.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB821,000,
or approximately 4.9%, from approximately RMB16.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group’s gross profit margin decreased from
approximately 66.8% for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately 65.3% for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Other Income and Other Gains and Losses

Other income decreased approximately RMB150,000 or
approximately 17.0% from approximately RMB884,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB734,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
decrease was primarily attributable to decrease in bank
interest income.

We recorded other gains of approximately RMB251,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023, compared to
approximately RMB860,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022. Such decrease was mainly attributable
to the fluctuations in foreign exchange rate between
foreign currency and RMB, the majority of which was
unrealised foreign exchange difference.

Impairment Losses

The Group recorded impairment losses on trade
receivables (net of reversal) of approximately RMB1.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, as
compared to approximately RMB373,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The significant increase
was mainly attributable to the deterioration of the
repayabilities of the Group'’s distributors due to economic
situation in the PRC.

The Group recorded impairment losses on loan and
loan interest receivables and refundable consideration
paid of approximately RMB349,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023, which is the expected credit loss
estimated by the Group management with reference
to the available information of the counterparty and
adjusted for the relevant default probability analysis
available in similar market.
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses decreased approximately
RMB334,000 or approximately 3.7%, from approximately
RMB9.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately RMB8.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The decrease was primarily attributable
to a decrease in the cost of sales and marketing activities
after the lifting of majority of the epidemic prevention
and containment measures.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased from approximately
RMB9.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately RMB9.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, which represented a slightly increase of
approximately RMB71,000 or approximately 0.7%.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses remained stable
from approximately RMB2.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately RMB2.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, which represented
a slightly increase of approximately RMB70,000 or
approximately 2.8%.

Finance Costs

During the year ended 31 December 2023, finance
costs mainly represented the interest on lease liabilities
under application of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard (“HKFRS") 16 was approximately RMB53,000
as compared to approximately RMB55,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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Results for the year

The loss attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately RMB5.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 as compared to approximately RMB3.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
significant increase in loss approximately RMB2.7 million
or approximately 88.0%, was mainly attributable to
decrease in gross profit of approximately RMB821,000,
significant decrease in foreign exchange gains of
approximately RMB609,000, significant increase in
the amount of impairment losses on trade receivables
of approximately RMB1.0 million and recognition of
provision for impairment loss on loan and loan interest
receivables and refundable consideration paid of
approximately RMB349,000.

Basic loss per share for the year was RMB1.39 cents,
as compared to RMBO0.76 cents for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Taxation

The PRC enterprise income tax rate applicable to the
Group's operating subsidiary in the PRC was 15% (2022:
15%), whereas no assessable profit arising from Hong
Kong for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Dividend

The Board did not recommend payment of the final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
Nil).

The declaration, payment, and amount of future dividend
will be decided by the Board and will depend upon,
among other things, our Group's results of operations,
capital requirements, cash flows, general financial
condition and such other factors as the Board may
consider important.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Our Group funded the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through internally generated funds from
operating activities, proceeds from the Listing and equity
financing by Placing.

As at 31 December 2023, our Group recorded total cash
and bank balances of approximately RMB32.9 million
compared to approximately RMB33.3 million as at 31
December 2022, which were placed with major banks
in the PRC and denominated in RMB and United States
Dollars (“US$"). The decrease was mainly due to the
payments of daily operating expenses.

As at 31 December 2023, the lease liabilities under
application of HKFRS 16 was approximately RMB2.3
million (2022: approximately RMB469,000). The gearing
ratio of our Group calculated based on the lease liabilities
divided by total equity as at 31 December 2023 was
approximately 4.5% (2022: approximately 0.8%).

Details of the movement in the Company’s share capital
are set out in note 28 in the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements. The capital structure of the Group
comprised of issued share capital and reserves. The equity
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB51.0 million as at 31 December 2023
(2022: approximately RMB56.5 million).
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 96 full-time
employees (2022: 82). Staff costs recognised in profit or
loss amounted to approximately RMB14.8 million (2022:
approximately RMB14.8 million) for the year ended 31
December 2023 (including directors and other employee
salaries and retirement benefits). Remuneration policies
and packages for the Group’s employees were based on
individual qualifications, performance, experience, and
conditions prevailing in the industry. In addition, various
training sessions have been offered to employees to
enhance their product and market knowledge.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believed that there were certain risks and
uncertainties involved in the operations, some of which
were beyond the Group’s control. A detailed discussion
of the risk factors was set forth in the section headed “Risk
Factors” in our prospectus dated 30 November 2018 (the
“Prospectus”).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The functional currencies of our operations, assets and
liabilities were mostly denominated in RMB. Therefore,
we were not exposed to any significant foreign exchange
risk for realised losses, except for our Hong Kong
Dollars (“HK$"), US$ and Canadian Dollars (“CAD$")
denominated bank balances. The Group currently did
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. The Group
did not engage in any derivatives agreements and did
not commit to any financial instruments to hedge its
foreign exchange exposure throughout the year ended
31 December 2023. The management will closely monitor
foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arises.
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TREASURY POLICIES

The Group will continue to employ a prudent treasury
policies in managing the Group’s cash balances and
maintain a strong and healthy liquidity to ensure that the
Group is well placed to take advantage of future growth
opportunities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

On 19 December 2022, Shenzhen Huakang, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase
Agreement”) with the Vendor, pursuant to which the
Vendor agreed to sell, and Shenzhen Huakang agreed
to purchase, 19% equity interest in Hainan Jinnuosai, a
company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability
and is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale
of AFE products and related supplements in the PRC, at
a cash consideration of RMB1,900,000. The Group had
fully paid the consideration directly to Hainan Jinnuosai
on 19 December 2022 as paid-up capital in accordance
with the Sale and Purchase Agreement and Shenzhen
Huakang had become shareholder of Hainan Jinnuosai
after registration with relevant authorities in the PRC.
Details of the transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 6 January 2023, 7 February 2023
and 9 February 2023.

On 9 February 2023, Shenzhen Huakang and the Vendor
entered into a supplemental agreement to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement to amend and supplement certain
conditions (the “Conditions”) of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement, pursuant to which if the conditions are
not fulfilled on or before 30 June 2023, the Vendor
shall refund to Shenzhen Huakang the consideration of
RMB1,900,000 and Shenzhen Huakang shall return to
the Vendor the 19% equity interest in Hainan Jinnuosai.
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On 30 June 2023, Shenzhen Huakang and the Vendor
entered into a second supplemental agreement to the
Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which, it
was agreed that the date which the Conditions shall be
fulfilled be changed from “on or before 30 June 2023"
to “on or before 31 December 2023". Save for the
extension of the date to fulfill the Conditions, all other
terms, conditions and provisions in the Sale and Purchase
Agreement remain unchanged. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 30 June 2023.

The Conditions were not yet fulfilled up to 31 December
2023 and no further extension of the date to fulfill the
Conditions was subsequently agreed, the Vendor should
refund to Shenzhen Huakang the consideration of
RMB1,900,000 and Shenzhen Huakang should return to
Vendor the 19% equity interest in Hainan Jinnuosai.

Details of the transaction were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 6 January 2023, 7 February 2023,
9 February 2023 and 30 June 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, save as disclosed
above, the Group did not make any material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any
significant investment.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group pledged a motor
vehicle for lease liabilities with aggregate net carrying
amount of approximately RMB217,000 (37 December
2023: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did
not have any capital commitments in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had no
outstanding corporate guarantee (37 December 2022:
Nil). As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no banking
facilities and did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (37 December 2022: Ni).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save for disclosed elsewhere in this Report, the Group
does not have other plans for material investments and
capital assets as at the date of this Report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting on 13
January 2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share
Option Scheme is a long-term incentive scheme of the
Company to reward its employees, Directors and other
eligible participants for their contributions to the Group
and to assist the Group in its recruitment and retention
of high calibre employees and other eligible participants
who are instrumental to the growth and development of
the Group.

On 9 April 2020, the Company announced the granting
of an aggregate of 26,008,000 share options, subject
to the acceptance by the grantees, at an exercise price
of HK$0.125 per Share of the Company to the eligible
persons under the Share Option Scheme. The market
price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant
was HK$0.125 per Share. All of the share options are
exercisable from the date of acceptance by a grantee to 8
April 2030 (both days inclusive). Each of the grantees has
paid HK$1 to the Company on acceptance of the offer
of share option. Details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 9 April 2020.
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The movement during the year and the options
outstanding as at 31 December 2023 were as follows:

T =F T A=t BRARITTERERE
HFRESITRAT

Number of share options

BREZA
Exercised Forfeited At
At 1 January Granted during during during the 31 December
Category of grantees 2023 the year the year year 2023
R-BZ=%F RER HEZBZ=F
AT ANER —HA—H RERERE RERTE #®2W +=A=+—H”
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Zhang Shuguang
(note)
SREEN S (H72) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. Zhang Chunguang
(note)
RENTEHE) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael
(note)
BSE R (MiT) 4,000,000 - (4,000,000) - -
Mr. He Jiaming (hote)
FERATENZ) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Other employees (note)
Hh & T (Hzt) 7,504,000 - - - 7,504,000
Total
st 23,504,000 - (4,000,000) - 19,504,000
Note: Biat -

The closing price of the shares immediately before the date
on which the options were granted during the year ended 31
December 2020 is HK$0.125. The exercise price is HK$0.125.
The exercise period during which the options may be exercised
is the period from the date of acceptance to 8 April 2030 (both
days inclusive). The date of grant was 9 April 2020.

On 18 August 2023, 4,000,000 options were exercised

under the Share Option Scheme when the market price
of the shares was HK$0.16.
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No share options had been granted or forfeited during
the year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December
2023, the number of shares in respect of which options
had been granted and remained outstanding was
19,504,000 (2022: 23,504,000).

No share options had been granted, exercised or forfeited
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

All the existing share options of the Company are vested
upon granting.

The fair values of share options determined at the date
of grant using the Binomial Option Pricing Model was at
HK$0.1125 per option, with the following key inputs:

The following assumptions were used to calculate the fair
values of share option:

Share price at the date of grant HK$0.125
Exercise price HK$0.125
Expected life 10 years
Expected volatility 103.1%
Dividend yield Nil
Risk-free interest rate 0.778%

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used to
estimate the fair value of the share options. The value
of the share options is subject to the limitation of
the Binomial Option Pricing Model and a number of
assumptions which are subjective and difficult to ascertain.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially effect the fair value estimate.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, since 31 December 2023 up to the date of
this Report no significant events affecting the Company
have taken place.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT
ESNEREERCBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Shuguang, aged 53, is our executive Director
and chairman of our Board. He joined our Group in
September 2003 and was appointed as our Director on
3 August 2017 and was re-designated as our Executive
Director on 25 September 2017. He is mainly responsible
for the management of our Board, giving strategic advice
and guidance on the business and operations of our
Group.

Mr. Zhang Shuguang held a bachelor’s degree and
master’s degree in engineering from Nippon Institute of
Technology, Japan and has over 19 years of experience in
the IVD reagents industry in the PRC.

Mr. Zhang Shuguang is the brother of Mr. Zhang
Chunguang, who is an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of our Group. Mr. Zhang Shuguang
is also the brother of Mr. Chang Yim Yang, who is a
member of our senior management.

Mr. Zhang Chunguang, aged 56, is our executive
Director and chief executive officer of our Group. He
joined our Group in July 2008 and was appointed as
our Director on 3 August 2017 and re-designated as our
executive Director on 25 September 2017. He is mainly
responsible for our business operations and the day-to-
day management of our Group.

Mr. Zhang Chunguang graduated from Hubei Institute
of Economics, in the PRC, majoring in economic English
and has over 10 years of experience in the IVD reagents
industry in the PRC.

Mr. Zhang Chunguang is the brother of Mr. Zhang
Shuguang, who is an executive Director and the chairman
of our Board. Mr. Zhang Chunguang is also the brother
of Mr. Chang Yim Yang who is a member of our senior
management.
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Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael ("Mr. Poon"), aged 52, is our
executive Director, chief financial officer and compliance
officer of our Group. Mr. Poon joined our Group as our
Director on 3 August 2017. On 25 September 2017,
Mr. Poon was designated as our executive Director
and appointed as our compliance officer. Mr. Poon is
responsible for the financial management and corporate
finance of our Group.

Mr. Poon has over 20 years of experience in corporate
management, financial reporting, business advisory,
auditing and accounting. From March 1995 to February
1997, he worked in Chan Chak Chung & Co. and his
last position was audit senior. From March 1997 to June
1999, he worked in Ho & Au Yeung and his last position
was audit semi-senior. From November 2000 to March
2002 he served as senior accountant in Arthur Anderson
& Co., which was merged into PricewaterhouseCoopers
in 2002. Mr. Poon obtained a bachelor’s degree in
administrative studies from York University, Canada in
June 1995, a master’s degree in practicing accounting
from Monash University, Australia in July 1998 and an
executive master of business administration from City
University of Hong Kong in October 2022. Mr. Poon
passed Certified Environmental, Social and Governance
Analyst® (CESGA) from The European Federation of
Financial Analysis Societies (EFFAS®) in December 2022.
Mr. Poon has been a fellow member of HKICPA since
July 2009, and a member with CPA Australia since March
2000 respectively. Mr. Poon passed the qualification
examination of Asset Management Association of
China in 2016. From April 2019 to February 2020, Mr.
Poon has been a Licensed Representative for Type 6
(advising on corporate finance) regulated activity of
Canfield Corporate Finance Company Limited, a licensed
corporation.
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Mr. Poon is currently an independent non-executive
director in a number of Hong Kong listed companies,
namely LFG Investment Holdings Limited (stock code:
3938.HK) since 10 September 2019, the shares of which
are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, and
Niche-Tech Group Limited (stock code: 8490.HK) since 28
June 2019, the shares of which are listed on GEM.

Mr. Poon was an independent non-executive director
of China Uptown Group Company Limited (stock code:
2330.HK) from 29 November 2006 to 6 June 2022,
Smartac International Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Smartac Group China Holdings Limited, Sino Dragon
New Energy Holdings Limited, China Zirconium Limited
and Asia Zirconium Limited) (stock code: 0395.HK) from
29 January 2010 (the Company were delisted with effect
from 20 February 2023), and Teamway International
Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Jin Bao
Bao Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1239.HK) from 19
March 2019 to 1 November 2023, the shares of these
companies are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. From August 2017 to April 2019, Mr. Poon
was an independent non-executive director of Cityneon
Holdings Limited (stock code: 5HJ.SGX), the shares of
which were listed on the main board of the Singapore
Exchange Limited and were delisted with effect from 1
February 2019.

Mr. He Jiaming (“Mr. He"), aged 38, is our executive
Director. Mr. He joined our Group as a business
development director in January 2019. Mr. He is mainly
responsible for evaluating and developing new products
in connection with male fertility and exploring overseas
business cooperation opportunities.

Mr. He graduated from University of Manchester in the
United Kingdom in 2010, with a combined bachelor
and master degree in chemistry and has over six years of
experience in the fields of biochemistry and international
trading.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph (“Dr. Chow"), aged 51.
Dr. Chow is responsible for supervising our Group's
compliance, corporate governance matters and providing
independent advice to our Group.

Dr. Chow graduated from the Monash University in
October 1997 with a degree in the Bachelor of Science.
He obtained a Master of Medical Sciences degree and
a Doctor of Philosophy degree in November 2000 and
November 2007 respectively in the University of Hong Kong.

Dr. Chow has more than 20 years of experiences in the fields
of biomedical testing and molecular diagnostics technology.
Since April 2018, Dr. Chow has been the chief executive
officer of Zhejiang Thunderbio Innovation Limited* ( # )T
ZE=EAYEEE R A F)) (“Thunderbio”) and Dr. Chow
has led his team of inventors and experts at Thunderbio in
commercializing the application of molecular diagnosis and
microfluidic technology, being the technology with growing
applications in more efficient biomedical testing.

Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary (“Dr. Cheng"), aged 56, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 1 September 2020. Dr. Cheng is responsible for
supervising our Group’s compliance, corporate governance
matters and providing independent advice to our Group.

Dr. Cheng obtained a Bachelor’'s degree in Accounting
(Honours) and Master’s degree of Business Administration
from Southern lllinois University, the United States of
America ("USA"), in 1992 and 1994 respectively, and
a Doctor of Business Administration degree from the
City University of Hong Kong with research area in
“Independent Non-Executive Director and Corporate
Governance” in 2011. Dr. Cheng has been a certified
public accountant in both Hong Kong and USA and a
Certified Tax Advisor of the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong. Dr. Cheng has over 25 years of experiences in
financial reporting, business advisory, auditing, accounting,
tax investigation and liquidation. Dr. Cheng is currently the
managing director of Gary Cheng CPA Limited.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only
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Dr. Cheng currently serves as charter president and
honorary advisor of the Lions Club of Huaxia Hong Kong
and committee member of Social Welfare Advisory
Committee of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

Dr. Cheng was an independent non-executive director
in a Hong Kong listed company, namely Smartac
International Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Smartac Group China Holdings Limited, Sino Dragon New
Energy Holdings Limited, China Zirconium Limited and
Asia Zirconium Limited), a company whose shares are
currently listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 395.HK) from 16 November 2001 to 31
December 2021 (the Company were delisted with effect
from 20 February 2023).

Mr. Chan Kin Sang (“Mr. Chan”), aged 72, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 26 November 2018. Mr. Chan is responsible
for supervising our Group’s compliance, corporate
governance matters and providing independent advice to
our Group.

Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Hong Kong
with a bachelor’s degree in laws in November 1979. Mr.
Chan was admitted as a notary public in April 1997. Mr.
Chan is currently a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors, a China-appointed attesting officer and a
practising solicitor in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan has over
30 years of experience in legal practice in Hong Kong
and Mr. Chan is currently the partner of Kwan & Chow,
Solicitors.

Mr. Chan is currently the chairman and independent
non-executive director of GoFintech Innovation Limited
(formerly known as China Fortune Financial Group
Limited) (stock code: 290.HK) since 9 July 2014. In
addition, Mr. Chan is currently also an independent non-
executive director of Pak Tak International Limited (stock
code: 2668.HK) since 3 April 2018 and a non-executive
director of Sino Harbour Holdings Group Limited (stock
code: 1663.HK) since 1 April 2020. The above companies
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Ms. Chow Ching Man (“Ms. Chow"), aged 38, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on
2 August 2023. Ms. Chow is responsible for supervising
our Group’s compliance, corporate governance matters
and providing independent advice to our Group.

Ms. Chow graduated from the National University of
Singapore in 2006 with a degree in Bachelor of Social
Science in Psychology. Ms Chow has approximately 6
years of experiences working in various banks in Hong
Kong and Singapore. Ms. Chow handled the day-to-day
banking services and investment needs of banks’ clients
in the role of relationship manager or executive. Ms.
Chow also worked for KPMG Taiwan for approximately a
year where she coordinated and explored new business
opportunities with bankers located in Asia.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chang Yim Yang, aged 61, is vice chairman and
a director of Shenzhen Huakang and a director of King
Grace Company Limited (“King Grace"”). He joined
our Group in September 2003 and has been mainly
responsible for the general management and business
development of Shenzhen Huakang. He has over 20
years of experience in mergers and acquisitions as well as
capital market operations.

Mr. Chang Yim Yang is the brother of Mr. Zhang
Shuguang, who is our Substantial shareholder, our
executive Director and chairman of our Board. Mr. Chang
Yim Yang is also the brother of Mr. Zhang Chunguang,
who is an executive Director and the chief executive
officer of our Group.

Mr. Chau Lai Ki, aged 40, is the financial controller
of our Group and our company secretary. He is mainly
responsible for the financial management and company
secretarial matters of our Group. He joined our Group
and was appointed as company secretary of our Company
on 25 September 2017. He was further appointed as
financial controller of our Group on 7 November 2017.

EREPNEBER

BEXzt(Art])  38m RW-T—
FNAZREZERBMNBEULIFAITE
= -HETREERAKENAR  bXE
AEERAAEERMBIER -

AR —ETRFEENINEE LKL
HERBOIRRET - [ EINEB LI
WARSRITHBHNOFN TIEER - AL
NEPEEHITRABN G RIBRITES
HBEERTREEEERE - AL TIRE
ERERBA SR EBAM TN —F » BD
MEVERITR T AR R O o

SREER

REBEE 615 RAYIERIIEZRENE
= I\ K& King Grace Company Limited ( [ King
Grace ) EE - FR _TEZT=FNAMAK
SERFEZEABENNERNEBEERER
BR - FRHEREATISEETEEESR
205 £ 5 o

REBTESTIERR WTEETREFE
TREREISREZN - REBEETAR
SERTEFRITRAHRFTRLEZR
R o

BBBEL - 4057 - AASEMEEERA
AWE - RIBEEAKENUKEELD
AMEEH - BR_ZT—+tFhA=-THH
MAREBARRERARRREWE |
RIE—tF+—ALRE-FRBZEILR
SEPHRE -

B PR 22 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

25



26

Mr. Chau Lai Ki held a master’s degree in professional
accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
He is a practising member of the HKICPA and has over
18 years of experience in the finance and accounting
industry.

Mr. Fu Jianhua, aged 58, is the deputy general manager
and chief technology officer of Shenzhen Huakang.
He joined our Group in January 2014 and is mainly
responsible for the technology research and development
of our Group.

Mr. Fu Jianhua held a bachelor’s degree in science
from Wuhan University, the PRC and has over 20 years
of experience in the medical devices and IVD reagents
industry in the PRC.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael was appointed as the
compliance officer of our Company on 25 September
2017. For his qualifications and experience, please refer
to the paragraph headed "Executive Directors” in this
section.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chau Lai Ki was appointed as our company secretary
on 25 September 2017. He is also the financial controller
of our Group. For his qualifications and experience, please
refer to the paragraph headed “Senior Management” in
this section.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

S

Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Board is pleased to present this corporate governance
report for the year ended 31 December 2023. This Report
highlights the key corporate governance practices of the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving high corporate
governance standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the
Company to safeguard the interests of shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has applied the principles and code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules, which has been renumbered as Appendix
C1 under the GEM Listing Rules that came into effect on
31 December 2023.

The Company has adopted and complied with, where
applicable, the CG Code during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this Report (the
“Relevant Period”).

The board will continue to monitor and review the
Company's corporate governance practices to ensure
compliance with the CG Code.

The Board conducted reviews of the system of internal
controls of the Group to ensure an effective and
adequate internal control system is in place. The Board
also convened meetings to discuss financial, operational
and risk management control.

EREMBEER

RIBFGEM E TR AIFE18.441K » EFEMA
REHE_ZE-_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE
MEEERARSE - AREMMARRNEE
EERER -

EFEEHE RENEXREREEH/AR
AREERNRERRMNE - IRITLEE
B FERBRELEBEER  WRERERE
KEEERGAADH o

A AE)E A GEM LT R BIF 8 + AL (R &
—E =+ A=+ BEREMNGEM L
MRS EETFEEAMECHFIHEEE R
PRI EER<FR ) &5 8RB & =F A&
X o

ARRBHZE-_TE-_=F+-_A=+—81
FEEAREHIIE(EEHBEHEX
M EST(UE R ) D EEIRSTE o

EESRBEERMRRARRNEEER
R ARERESTREERTA

EECRIAREN NSRS - AR
RELBYERSNANBEZERG - EFS
NEFGZN UG S EMRREEE

70
J L
*I °

B BR A &l Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

27



28

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no
less exacting than the required standard of dealings
concerning securities transactions by the Directors as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its own code governing securities
transactions of the Directors (the “Required Standard”).
Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all of
them confirmed that they had fully complied with the
Required Standard during the Relevant Period, except for
the incident in connection with the disposal of shares on
4 January 2023, which Mr. Zhang Shuguang is interested
in the shares by reason of the Acting-in-concert
Confirmation dated 16 November 2017, details of which
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 8 March 2023.

Pursuant to Rule 5.66 of the Model Code, the Directors
have also requested any employee of the Company or
director or employee of a subsidiary of the Company
(the “relevant employees”) who, because of his
office or employment in the Company or a subsidiary,
is likely to possess inside information in relation to the
securities of the Company, not to deal in securities of the
Company when he would be prohibited from dealing by
the Model Code as if he were a Director. No incident of
noncompliance of the Required Standard by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

In order to maintain a clear delineation of the businesses
between our Group and our controlling shareholders as
at 31 December 2023 (on 25 January 2024, Mr. Chang
Yim Yang disposed all shares he held and ceased to
be acting in concert with Mr. Zhang Shuguang, so Mr.
Chang Yim Yang cease to be a controlling shareholder
of the Company on that date, details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 25 January 2024.
On 21 March 2024, Mr. Zhang Shuguang cease to be
the controlling shareholder of the Company but shall
remain as the substantial shareholder of the Company
after completion of placing of new shares under
general mandate, details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 21 March 2024.) (the “Controlling
Shareholders”), the latter have entered into a deed of
non-competition in favour of our Company (for ourselves
and as trustee for each of our subsidiaries from time
to time) on 27 November 2018 (the “Deed of Non-
Competition”) to the effect that each of them will not,
and will procure each of their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) not to, directly or
indirectly participate in, or hold any right or interest, or
otherwise be involved in any business which may be in
competition with our businesses.

For details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer
to the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders — Non-competition Undertakings from Our
Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus.

The Company has received a written confirmation from
the Controlling Shareholders that they have complied
with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition in the
year ended 31 December 2023. The independent non-
executive Directors have also reviewed the status of
compliance and written confirmation from the Controlling
Shareholders, and noted that all the undertakings under
the Deed of Non-Competition have been complied with
by each of the Controlling Shareholders for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Group’s business is
vested in the Board which assumes the responsibility of
leadership and control of the Group and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Group.

The Board formulates strategies and sets directions
for the Group’s activities to develop its business and
enhance shareholders’ value. The Board also assumes
the responsibilities for maintaining high standard
of corporate governance, including among others,
reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance, and reviewing and monitoring the
Company's policies and practices in compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements.

The Board has established board committees with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with the committees’ authority and duties. Details of the
respective committee’s terms of reference are available at
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Group are delegated to the executive
Directors and the senior management. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board for
significant transactions.
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Board Composition

During the Relevant Period, the Board comprises eight
Directors of which four are executive Directors and
four are independent non-executive Directors. The
composition of the Board during the Relevant Period is as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Chunguang (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. He Jiaming (Business Development Director)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph
Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
Mr. Chan Kin Sang

Ms. Chow Ching Man

The biographical information of the Directors and
relationships between the members of the Board are set
out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 20 to 26 of this Report.
Mr. Zhang Shuguang, Mr. Zhang Chunguang and Mr.
Chang Yim Yang (one of our senior management) are
brother, and Mr. Zhang Shuguang is our substantial
shareholder.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times
a year involving active participation, either in person
or through electronic means of communication, of a
majority of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice is given for
a regular Board meeting. For all other Board meetings,
notice will be given in a reasonable time in advance.
The Directors are allowed to include any matter in the
agenda that is required for discussion and resolution
at the meeting. To enable the Directors to be properly
briefed on issues arising at each of the Board meetings
and to make informed decisions, an agenda and the
accompanying Board papers will be sent to all Directors
at least three days before the intended date of the Board
meeting, or such other period as agreed. The company
secretary is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’
minutes. Draft and final versions of the minutes will be
circulated to the Directors for comments and record
respectively within a reasonable time after each meeting
and the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection.

The attendance records of each Director at Board and
Committee meetings, at the annual general meeting
("AGM") during the year ended 31 December 2023 are as
follows:
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Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

b/ TSMHERRE
Audit  Remuneration  Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee AGM

Name of Directors £ Bz  ENZBE  §MZEE  RY4ZEE  REBEFAE
Erecutive Directors: HES:
Mr. Zhang Shuguang REXLE 16/16 NATER AT 0 i
Mr. Zhang Chunguang ik 16/16 NANER 20 NANER /1
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael RRERL 16/16 NIATER NATER NIATER 1
Mr. He Jiaming fEALE 16/16 NIANER NIARER NIANEF /1
Independent non-executive Directors: B FEH{TES ¢
Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph FEERT 16/16 n 0 0 i
Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary guTEL 16/16 n 0 NANE R /1
Mr. Chan Kin Sang R 16/16 n NATER 0 "
Ms. Chow Ching Man Elyees 33 0N NIAER 00 NIAER
Total meeting(s) held during theyear ~ EZ-F-=F+-A=1—H

ended 31 December 2023 LFERENEREH 16 7 2 2 1
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

The positions of chairman and chief executive officer are
held by Mr. Zhang Shuguang and Mr. Zhang Chunguang
respectively. The roles of the chairman and the chief
executive officer have been separated and assumed by
different individuals to ensure a balance of power and
authority so that power is not concentrated in any member
of the Board. The chairman provides leadership and is
responsible for the effective functioning and leadership
of the Board. The chief executive officer focuses on the
Company's business development and daily management
and operations generally.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the Relevant Period, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors, accounting for at least one-third of the Board,
with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

Prior to their respective appointment, each of the
independent non-executive Directors has submitted a
written statement to the Stock Exchange confirming their
independence. The Company has received from each
of the independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules and the Board considers that
all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent and meet the requirements as set out
in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non- executive Directors are
independent.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Zhang Shuguang, Mr. Zhang Chunguang
and Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael has entered into a service
contract with the Company commencing from the Listing
Date, which has no fixed term and can be terminated by
either party giving not less than three months’ notice in
writing to the other party. Mr. He Jiaming, has entered
into a service contract with the Company for an initial
fixed term of three years commencing from the date of
appointment and will continue thereafter until terminated
by either party giving not less than three months’ notice.
Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into an appointment letter with our Company
for an initial term of three years commencing from their
respective appointment dates and will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than one
month’s written notice to the other party. Each of the
appointments is subject to termination provisions therein
and provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as
set out in the Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed aforesaid, none of the Directors
has entered into any service agreement or letter of
appointment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without the payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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All the Directors, including the independent non-
executive Directors, are subject to retirement by rotation
and eligible for re-election in accordance with the Articles
of Association. At each AGM, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, or, if their number is not a multiple of
three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at an AGM at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue
to act as a Director throughout the AGM at which he
retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so
far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to
retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and
does not offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors
so to retire shall be those of other Directors subject to
retirement by rotation who have been the longest in
office since their last re-election or appointment and so
that as between the persons who became or were last
re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire
shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves)
be determined by lot. A Director is not required to retire
upon reaching any particular age.

The Company may from time to time in general meeting
by ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director.
Any Director so appointed shall be subject to retirement
by rotation.

The Board shall have the power from time to time and at
any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill
a casual vacancy or as an additional Director. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of the Company
after his appointment and be subject to reelection at
such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following AGM and shall then be eligible
for re-election. Any such Director appointed shall not
be taken into account in determining which particular
Directors or the number of Directors who are to retire by
rotation at an AGM.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to management by laying
down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial
performance, and ensures that sound internal control and
risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible
for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of
the Company and providing a balance in the Board for
bringing effective independent judgement on corporate
actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company and may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of
other offices held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters
relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and
other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation
and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.
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INDEMNITY OF THE DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
coverage on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect
of any legal actions taken against Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual
basis.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments
and changes in order to effectively perform their
responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. All Directors are encouraged
to attend relevant training courses at the Company's
expenses.

All the Directors were kept informed on a timely basis
of major changes that may have affected the Group’s
business, including relevant rules and regulations. During
the year, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills in accordance with code provision
C.1.4 contained in the CG Code.
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The Company organised training sessions for all Directors.
Such training sessions covered a wide range of relevant
topics including Directors’ duties and responsibilities,
corporate governance and updates on GEM Listing Rules,
etc. In addition, relevant reading materials including
memorandum on the duties and responsibilities of the
Directors have been provided to the Directors for their
reference and studying.

The record of continuous professional development
relating to Director’s duties and regulatory and business
development that have been received by the Directors for
the Relevant Period are summarised as follows:

RNNBEATEEEEMEERE o HEE
REREZEEEESEE  2EESBEANE
T CEERRGEIMEMBANZIEN
o i BEEEEREEEMENR 8
REEREIBERTE  UERES2ER
W3E -

EENEHEPRMK FREERENETE
HEBHRNFEFSESHRIEMALT

Nature of Continuous
Professional

Development
Programmesot

Name of Directors BEp 15 R RN R SRS M ()
Executive Directors: MITES -
Mr. Zhang Shuguang RN EAE A&B
Mr. Zhang Chunguang RENTE A&B
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael ERELE A&B
Mr. He Jiaming B Ps A&B
Independent non-executive Directors: BN IEMITES -
Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph EE A&B
Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary g TEL A&B
Mr. Chan Kin Sang PRIEAE S & A&B
Ms. Chow Ching Man B A&B
Notes: BaE -

A:  Attending seminars and/or meetings and/or forums and/or
briefings

B: Reading materials relevant to corporate governance,

director’s duties and responsibilities, GEM Listing Rules and
other relevant ordinances
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WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY AND ANTI-
CORRUPTION POLICY

Whistle-blowing and anti-corruption policies are
established. More details and the mechanism of the
policies could be found in the 2023 ESG report in this
Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees on 26
November 2018, namely, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs.
All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with their authority and duties. The terms of reference
of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are
available to shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board
committee is set out under “Corporate Information” on
page 3.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of four independent non-
executive Directors, namely Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
(Chairman), Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph, Mr. Chan Kin
Sang and Ms. Chow Ching Man.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in
compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing
Rules and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules. The main duties of the Audit Committee are
to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information
and reporting process, risk management and internal
control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit
function, scope of audit and appointment of external
auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the
Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of
the Company. The Audit Committee shall hold at least
two meetings a year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, 7 meetings
have been held for the Audit Committee to review,
the quarterly, interim, and annual financial results and
reports and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems and
continuing connected transactions.

The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
is set out in the section headed “Board and Committee
Meetings” of this Report.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary (Chairman) and Dr.
Chow Kwok Fai Joseph, both are independent non-
executive Directors, and Mr. Zhang Chunguang, an
executive Director.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are in compliance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM
Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the CG Code and
Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The primary functions of
the Remuneration Committee include (i) reviewing and
making recommendations on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management; (ii) establishing formal and
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration
policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any
of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration; (iii) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board'’s corporate goals and objectives; (iv) assessing
performance of executive Directors; and (v) approving
the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts. The
Remuneration Committee shall meet not less than once
every year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee met 2 times to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and
Committee Meetings” of this Report.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management are set out in note 8 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of four members,
namely Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Chairman), an executive
Director, Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph, Mr. Chan Kin Sang
and Ms. Chow Ching Man, they are independent non-
executive Director.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are in compliance with paragraph B.3 of the CG Code
and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The principal duties of the
Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment and succession planning of Directors,
and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee met 2 times to review among other things,
the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; consider the qualifications of the retiring
directors standing for election at the 2022 annual general
meeting; review the structure, size and composition of
the Board and review the Board diversity policy adopted
by the Company.
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The attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and
Committee Meetings” of this Report.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy and
discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing
the Board Diversity Policy.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a
diversity of Board members and will continue to be made
on a merit basis. In assessing the Board composition, the
Nomination Committee would take into account various
aspects as well as factors concerning Board diversity
as set out in the Company’s Board diversity policy and
procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director of the Company, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience etc. The Nomination
Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption. The Board has reviewed the structure of the
Board at least annually to consider the composition of the
Board.

The Board currently has one female member, and the
Board is of the view that it has achieved gender diversity.
The Board will strive to maintain or enhance gender
diversity in the foreseeable future. Specifically, the Board
will always include at least one female Directors in its
composition. The Company is committed to promoting
gender diversity not only within the Board but among its
workforce generally. For the detailed gender ratio in the
workforce (including senior management), please refer to
the 2023 ESG report in this Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the
functions set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code.

During the year, the Board had reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Model Code and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors, the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this Report, and communicate with various level of
staff to ascertain the implementation of policies and
procedures on corporate governance.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company has in place policies and procedures
in relation to risk management and internal control.
The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing the
risk management and internal control systems and for
reviewing their effectiveness. The Company’s internal
control system and procedures are designed to meet its
specific business needs and to minimise its risk exposure.
The Company has adopted different internal guidelines,
along with written policies and procedures to monitor and
lessen the impact of risks which are relevant to its business
and control its daily business operations. Management
will identify the risks associated with the Group’s day-
to-day operations for review by the Board. The Board is
responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks that the Company is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring
that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Board oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. The Board acknowledges
that such risk management and internal control systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

EXERRAE

EXEEERRAERITEEREATRISTRIEX
FA2 VIRFTHEIFIBLAE

FA - BEFEERMAARALEERABRR R
B EERESAEEEBRIISEERE
R’ NRBIERETERREERTENEER
EER BTRETAINEERESERT
(A NBER - ARRETEEERTH
HIE AR R E R EE - WEREKBTIAE
BARREELRERABRNER -

B T % R BR EE 4

ARREHIERERREREMABEZENEK
REREF EFSTEZAREERREER
MEBEIE R - WA EA - ARRIHA
MEERGMEFEEREEAEBNEET
Ko WKREREERE - ARFERATE
HAERES] - U RIABE AR AR &
B BRERNMHEEEXEABRNER
ELNZE  YIRHHAEEKEE &
BEFBIEAEERESEEM0ER -
MRREESES - BEFRRANENEE
RN BN X R RS B AR TR B AR R
R MEE RIEE - WHERA D RIERAL K+
BEMERNEREENAREZERS - E
ZeEEEEEYAREEMAREERL
HEREt B MER - EF@MEARRER
BIERARBEIE RS EEIEMIEHRAREE
ERFEBBRONER - BEASMHBEKRK
BB SIERIE L A IR T IR E VRS -

EREYESEIRIR AR A T Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

43



44

The Group does not have an internal audit function and
is currently of the view that there is no immediate need
to set up an internal audit function within the Group
considering the size, nature and geography of the Group's
business. The Directors are responsible for formulating
and overseeing the implementation of the Group’s risk
management and internal control measures. The Group
has engaged an external independent internal control
consultant (the “IC Consultant”) to conduct an internal
control review on the internal control system of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such review is
conducted annually. The review covers certain business
cycles and procedures undertaken by the Group and
make recommendations for improving and strengthening
the system. The scope of the IC Consultant’s review was
previously determined and approved by the Board. The
IC Consultant has recommended certain internal control
improvement measures to the Board. The Board is of the
view that no material internal control defeats have been
noted. All recommendations given by the IC Consultant
will be properly followed up by the Group to ensure that
they are implemented within a reasonable period of time.
The Directors were of the view that the risk management
and internal control systems were adequate and effective
to safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group’s
assets.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls functions. The Board considers that the Group's
risk management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective. The Board expects that a review
of the risk management and internal control systems will
be performed annually.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 8 in the
Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than the Directors) whose particulars is contained
in the section headed “Biographies of the Directors and
Senior Management” in this Report by band is set out
below:

FMNEE(E )

Remuneration band (in HK$)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Number of individuals

AE

Nil to 1,000,000 Z%1,000,000

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND THEIR
REMUNERATION

Mazars CPA Limited (“Mazars”) is the external auditor
of the Company. The Audit Committee is responsible
for making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditor, which is subject to the approval by the Board
and at the general meetings of the Company by its
shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
remuneration for the audit services provided by the
Company’s auditor to the Group was as follows:

SIS B BB 2 EL 7 A

TERR(BB) GIMEEMBRAA
(THERR]) SARRINEZEE - B
ZESBANINERBNERE BN
IREBRAESSRLEBRSE  HHEX
T EFZAELREBRAKETSHERK
RN ARRIERARE LA -

RNEBE-_ZET-_=F+-_A=+—RHILtFE -
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R

Equivalent to

HK$ RMB
BT HHERA R

Annual audit service for the year BHE_E-_=F+-_HA=+—H
ended 31 December 2023 I FERNFEEZRE 700,000 631,000
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RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND AUDITOR

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of accounts for the year ended 31 December
2023, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows
for that period and comply with the requirement of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) ("Hong Kong Companies Ordinance”) and the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules.

The auditor is responsible for forming an independent
opinion, based on the audit, on the financial statements
prepared by the Directors and reporting the opinion solely
to the Company’s shareholders.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The statement of the independent auditor
of the Company about its reporting responsibilities on
the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 113 to 123.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the
laws of Hong Kong and the GEM Listing Rules and the
overriding principle that inside information should be
announced promptly when it is the subject of a decision.
The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

e the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to
the disclosure requirement under the GEM Listing
Rules as well as the “Guidelines on Disclosure of
Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012,
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e the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy
on fair disclosure by pursuing broad, nonexclusive
distribution of information to the public through
channels such as financial reporting, public
announcements and the Company’s website;

e the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

e the Group has established and implemented
procedures for responding to external enquiries
about the Group’s affairs, the Board will decide, or
designate appropriate persons to communicate with
parties outside the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Company secretary supports the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that the
Board policy and procedures are followed. The company
secretary is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and facilitating induction and
professional development of the Directors. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary to ensure that the Board procedures and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations, are followed.

Mr. Chau Lai Ki was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on 25 September 2017 and has
complied with all requirements relating to qualifications,
experiences and training under the GEM Listing Rules. For
the year ended 31 December 2023, he has undertaken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially
separate issue at general meetings, including the election
of individual Director. All resolutions put forward at
general meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the
GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange
after each general meeting.

Convening an EGM

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, shareholders may convene an EGM in
accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to
convene an EGM” set out below.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company secretary
for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition, including making proposals or moving a
resolution at the EGM.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM for
the purpose of making proposals or moving a resolution
at the EGM must deposit a written requisition (the
“Requisition”) signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned (the “Requisitionist(s)”) at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (presently
located at Room 04, 9 Floor, Kimberley House, 35-35A
Kimberley Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong) for
the attention of the company secretary. The Requisition
must state clearly the name(s) of the Requisitionist(s)
concerned, his/her/their shareholdings in the Company,
the reason(s) to convene an EGM and the proposed
agenda.
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The Company will check the Requisition and the identity
and shareholding of the Requisitionist(s) will be verified
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong.
If the Requisition is found to be proper and in order, the
company secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM
and/or include the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s)
proposed by the Requisitionist(s) at the EGM within
two months after the deposit of the Requisition. On the
contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as not in
order, the Requisitionist(s) will be advised of the outcome
and accordingly, the Board or the company secretary will
not call for an EGM nor include the proposal(s) made or
the resolution(s) proposed by the Requisitionist(s) at the
EGM.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the
Board or the company secretary fails to proceed to
convene such EGM, the Requisitionist(s) himself/herself/
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board or the company
secretary to convene an EGM shall be reimbursed to the
Requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the
Company, shareholders may send written enquiries to
the Company. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the following:

Address: Room 04, 9 Floor, Kimberley House, 35-35A
Kimberley Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong
Kong

(For the attention of the company secretary)

Right to Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose
new resolutions at the general meetings under the
Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands.
Subject to provisions of the Articles, Eligible Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may by means of
requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set
out above.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition,
notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the above address and provide their full name, contact
details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required
by law.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Board is committed to encouraging and maintaining
an ongoing dialogue with shareholders through
the dynamic implementation of a shareholder’s
communication policy through various channels. The
Company’s annual general meeting provides a good
opportunity for the Directors to meet and communicate
with shareholders. All Directors make their best efforts
to attend the Annual General Meeting in order to
answer questions from the Company’s shareholders.
In accordance with the disclosure requirements of
the GEM Listing Rules, the Company makes timely,
accurate and complete disclosure of any discloseable and
material matters in newspapers and websites designated
by the relevant regulatory authorities to protect the
shareholders’ right to information and participation. The
Company also has a dedicated department responsible for
investor relations, the contact details of which are set out
in the section headed “Shareholders’ Rights” above. The
Company attaches great importance to communication
with investors and has hosted individual shareholders
at various shareholder meetings and answered their
telephone enquiries on a number of occasions to enhance
investors’ understanding of and confidence in the
Company.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the above
channels of communication between the Company
and its shareholders on an annual basis. The Board is
satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the
Company'’s activities in communicating with shareholders
and investors during the reporting period.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may declare and pay dividends to the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) by
way of cash or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate. In recommending dividends to allow the
Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits, the
Board would also ensure the Company has adequate
reserves for future growth. The Board’s decision to
declare or to pay any dividends in the future, and the
amount of such dividends will depend upon, among
other things, the current and future operations, financial
condition, liquidity position and capital requirements
of the Group, as well as dividends received from the
Company'’s subsidiaries, which in turn will depend on the
ability of those subsidiaries to pay a dividend. In addition,
any final dividends for a financial year will be subject
to the approval of Shareholders. The declaration and
payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to
any applicable restrictions under the laws of the Cayman
Islands, the laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s Articles
of Association and any other applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to Rule 17.102 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has published on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange its Memorandum and Articles of
Association. During the Relevant Period, the Company
had passed a special resolution at the annual general
meeting held on 16 June 2023 to amend and adopt the
second amended and restated Memorandum and Articles
of Association of the Company in order to comply with
the then amendments to the GEM Listing Rules. Details
of the amendments were set out in the circular of the
Company dated 15 May 2023.

Annual Report 2023 &%

IR S BUR

ARBIANRETAKNEFTERDEENE
A HAAR TR (KRR E IR SRR
B EF@RHBRNRETEAZERTA
RFFRRDZARB N FE - TRHERA
RABFREHBIERARER - NRRAEIR
SR (HE AR R R A B R TE M A B A B R K
BREURN (E i 85 REB M IRE KR K
BEER - BN - RBESMRRLER
FR - ARUE S A2 w8 A ] H B S
(ERMAGBURARZEMEB A RIRMN IS
BEN) o SN - (EAR B B B9 el R HA A
ERBEETERRIERTE - ARARMWKREE
KR IMARFEREED - BEED -
R AR AR B R KA e A B Ko (T ART A
2 RAISOEHR A TRERRBIRR

ERXH

RIEGEM E MR BIE17.1021& » X AFE
RN T N B P48 uh 7138 H AR A S 12 A
KARA) - NAEBEE - AR RAESTGEM E
MAUNERFEE] RZZFEZ=F A+
ARTRRBAFARE BB —BRERIAZ
R LMBETIRMARRE R EIETTRE
R HBER KA RAR - (BRI BHNA
ARIAA-ZE-_=FRATHAMNEK -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE REPORT
RS - dFRERHE

INTRODUCTION

This is the Environmental, Social and Governance (the
"ESG") Report of the Group to highlight its approaches
and strategies in pursuit of sustainable development for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting
Period”). This ESG report covers the environmental and
social performance of the Group’s business operation
of its manufacturing operation in Shenzhen, the PRC,
namely Shenzhen Huakang, during the Reporting Period,
unless otherwise stated. The Group primarily adopts
the principles and basis of Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) as set out in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Group complied with all the provisions set out
in the ESG Reporting Guide during the Reporting Period.

The Group is a medical device supplier principally
specialized in the research and development (the “R&D"),
manufacturing and sale of a wide range of biological
reagents and auxiliary reproductive supplies and
equipment in the PRC, which collectively accounted for
98.7% of the Group's total revenue during the Reporting
Period. The Group’s product portfolio offers 30 biological
reagents, including 27 male fertility IVD reagents, 2
parasite antibody detection reagents and 1 Epstein-Barr
virus antibody detection reagent.

Since December 2020, the Group had a new segment
to commencement, marketing and distribution of self-
developed healthcare supplements under the Group's
registered brand “Nutronic”. The healthcare product
business is included in the report since then and it
contributed approximately 1.3% of the total revenue
during the Reporting Period. There were no major
operational changes in the scope compared with the
period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (the
“Last Reporting Period”).
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THE BOARD'S ESG COMMITMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG
strategy and reporting. Specifically, the Board is held
accountable for the Group’s long-term resilience with
respect to potential shifts in the business landscape that
may result from climate change. As the stewards for long-
term performance and resilience, the Board is committed
to determining the most effective way to integrate ESG
considerations into its structure and committees. The
Group also evaluates and monitors ESG-related risks
and ensures these risks are thoroughly considered and
involved in decision making and embedded into the
management of risk and opportunities across the Group.

The Group strives to achieve a high level of public
transparency by regularly engaging stakeholders and
disclosing information in a timely and accurate manner.
Accordingly, the Group maintains regular exchanges and
dialogues with peers, investors and other stakeholders
to encourage the sharing of methodologies and to stay
informed about the latest ESG-related risks, regulatory
requirements etc. The Group also tracks existing
regulations and emerging regulations to ensure its ESG
policies, processes and disclosures meet expectations.

Legal compliance is an essential pillar for sound corporate
governance and underpins sustainable operations.
The Group has established appropriate and effective
management policies and internal control systems for
ESG issues during the Reporting Period and confirmed
that the disclosed contents comply with the requirements
of the ESG Reporting Guide.
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THE GROUP’S ESG APPROACH

The Board and senior management are engaged in the
materiality assessment in identifying material ESG issues
that impact the Group's business operations. The Board
formulates the approach and strategy towards ESG factors
to identify, evaluate, prioritise and manage material
ESG related issues. The Group holds periodic meetings
to discuss significant matters related to operations and
review management approaches towards a set of ESG
issues. The Group continuously monitors ESG-related risks
through the implementation of appropriate systems and
processes.

Reflecting international concerns on climate change, the
Group has begun assessing the short, medium and long-
term materiality of ESG related risks and opportunities
for the Group. The Group ensures that all its actions
and responses to climate change are proportionate to
the materiality of climate change effects on the Group.
The Board reviews progress against ESG related matters
through setting appropriate targets and strategies to be
implemented to measure progress on an annual basis.
Such measures are crucial to the Group’s business as
they enable the Group to manage ESG related risks and
regulatory requirements.

The Group will consider including ESG targets and
indicators in its executive incentive schemes, where
appropriate.

The favourable policies and systems in the PRC enable
the Group to seize new business opportunities in the
emerging IVD market and invest in the development of
the biomedical industry to tackle future health challenges.
To meet the increasingly sophisticated demands of
customers, the Group seeks to enhance existing products
and develop new products leveraging its vast experience
and advanced technologies, which, in turn, benefits
society.
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REPORTING BOUNDARY

In order to preserve a meaningful comparison, there was
no material change to the methods or KPIs used by the
Group in the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
The Group did not have any reporting boundaries of this
ESG report.

THE GROUP’S MISSION AND VISION
Enhance peoples’ health
Meet customer’s needs

The Group embraces its vision through its operational
practices and in the provision of quality products and
excellent service. Not only does the Group adhere to
stringent standards and requirements to ensure that
its products meet the highest quality, it also actively
engages in developing innovative products for worldwide
healthcare needs and a better quality of life.

The Group’s ambitions are:

e Dbe a pioneer in its core technologies;

e boost investment in R&D;

e recruit high-caliber personnel worldwide;

e establish and implement quality management
systems effectively;

e stay innovative in various business areas;

e enhance the physical well-being of the general
public;

e adhere to the customer-centric principle in business
practice and take full responsibility in service delivery
to customers’ satisfaction;

e comply with relevant rules and regulations; and

e improve quality management systems consistently

for a stable product quality that meets customers’
requirements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY

The Group recognizes the importance of building
positive relationships with its stakeholders. The Group
maintains ongoing dialogues with key stakeholders via
various communication channels including meetings,
performance reviews, customer satisfaction surveys and
interview sessions. Feedback obtained through such
regular engagement is essential to the decision-making
process of the Group’s operations, from improving its
business performance to gaining insights into future
development.

To identify material ESG issues, the Group specifically
engaged both internal and external stakeholders to
gain insights into ESG material topics and challenges
the Group’s operations face. Key stakeholders, such as
shareholders, directors of the board, suppliers, customers
and staff were engaged in the materiality assessment.
In the materiality assessment, stakeholders were asked
to rate a list of 19 topics in terms of their relevance and
importance to the Group's business development and
sustainability, as well as to the wider community.
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The following table summarises the main expectations
and concerns of our key stakeholders and the

corresponding management responses.

Stakeholders

Expectations and Requirements

TR EEFNENTEZRENEIFER
AR EEERIFE -

Communication Channels

& M EER BBEE
Investors and Shareholders e  Corporate Governance e Annual General Meetings
e Returns e Announcements and Circulars
e Company Values e  Financial Reports
e  ESG Reports
REEH MR o (EER o KREBFAE
. B . DEREH
s QRFIEMAE o WKWE
e IRIE - HERERWME
Suppliers e Code of Conduct e Company Website
e Assessment Criteria e Emails
e Phone Calls and Meetings
e o 11RSTH LN F &
o FHEHER] e EH
° B
Customers e  Service and Product Quality e Company Website
e Customer Services e Emails
e Phone Calls and Meetings
®P b HE%&EDDEE ° NGIE DR
o EFR% o T}
e TEMhER
Government e Compliance e Notices and Filings
e  Equality of Employments e Emails
e Occupational Safety e  ESG Report
245} e AR o BHLXIE
o EREFHF o FIP
o BEZE o IRIE - HERER/WME
Employees e Compensation e Trainings
e Occupational Health and Safety e Internal Meetings
e  Career Development e Emails and Notices
(== o Mg o I
o BEREHEZE e NEE=E
o RXRIE o EHIABH
Community e Information Transparency e Company Website
e Announcements
o o EHERE o NAEIAEUL
o &
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RE - HgRERARSE

Results of the materiality assessment and the consolidated EZ 4 HEREEHBNESHIIED 5
list of material aspects are presented in the following  FBRFEM B LKA ©
matrix and table respectively.

MATERIALITY MATRIX EEMIERME

Materiality of Different Topics from Stakeholder Engagement
FhESRHUTETENEEY

Higher
=
; ©
w
5 ©
ga ® © O
£xR
°% oo ©
: ®
© © %
Lower Higher
BIK BS

Internal Assessment on Importance to Business

HWEB IO ARG

B Environmental B Social

REEE HEHE
A1 | Energy BEIR B1 | Employment &%
A2 | Water Ak B2 | Occupational Health and Safety ek es
A3 | Air Emission ANE L B3 | Development and Training ¢ R EaEE |
A4 | Waste and Effluent FEZEYAFK B4 | Labour Standards 25 TR
A5 | Packaging Material Consumption BEMEERE B5 | Supplier Management HEEEIE
A6 | Environmental Protection Measures  IRIE{RTERE 1 B6 | Intellectual Property S EETE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R #HERERERE

Among the environmental and social aspects, the
following ESG topics were deemed as the most important
by the stakeholders:

e Product and service quality

e Occupational Health and Safety

e Development and Training

e  Waste and Effluent

e Employment

STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its ESG
approach and sustainability performance. Stakeholders
may share with the Group any suggestion and view via
email to: hk@szhuakang.com.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

AWARDS, RECOGNITIONS AND MEMBERSHIPS

Since its establishment, the Group has received awards
and recognitions from governmental and international
authorities acknowledging its achievements in product
R&D and occupational safety and health. The Group has

obtained the following awards or certifications:

Awards/Recognitions

&1\, R
Shenzhen High and New Technology Enterprise

ARINTHRHX A B

B HBREARE

%1y RAUREE

ARSIIATR - R S T RS AR
R EEAIRT - LR A ST AR
%22 REETERIGONS - AEED
RS T AN

Awarding authority
TREEE

Innovation Committee of Shenzhen
Municipal Finance Committee of Shenzhen
Shenzhen State Taxation Bureau

Shenzhen Local Taxation Bureau
AITEIEE S

AINTHREES

AR B

RN TS D

High and New Technology Enterprise

IR B

Innovation Committee of Shenzhen
Municipal Finance Committee of Shenzhen
AYMEIFEES

AT BEE &

Certificate of Good Manufacturing Practice Rules
for Medical Devices
ERSMEELEEEERABIE

China Food and Drug Administration

LA e e
BREmEMEEEER

Work Safety Standardization
HEEREZEL

State Administration of Work Safety
BRZ24EEEETERR

ISO13485 Medical Devices
— Quality Management System
ISO13485 BEBMITHXEEERERRE

International Organization for Standardization

BERER A
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Moreover, the Group actively forges close ties with the It oI + 75 52 [B] 75 49z £ 22 (A #4 8 78 7 22 25 B
industry bodies and takes part in professional associations % & W2 HAYBERHNEEG S - AEEH
in the biomedical community. The Group is currently the B RIAMN T HEKE -

member of the following associations:

e Shenzhen Association of Medical Devices, o RNIMEBESWMITERS
e Shenzhen Hi-tech Industry Association, o HNmEEmEXEHE
e Guangdong Medical Device Management Academy, o BEREZBERHEEES

e Guangdong Food and Drug Technology Association e ERARMERE
for Evaluation and Certification,

e Shenzhen Life Science and Biotechnology Association, o FEIITAmEEEAYRITHE - &
and

e Shenzhen Medical Device Quality Promotion o JFJITEFEEHESEERES
Association.

o

These associations provide excellent platforms for ZEHE AR -~ 4% REN=E
knowledge sharing, networking, market insight sharing M3 REEMH Tﬁﬁﬁﬁi‘* °
and business development.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is committed to protecting the
environment and remains vigilant against greenhouse
gas ("GHG") emissions in all business activities. The
Group's Environmental Management Policy outlines
the key objectives and principles of the Group related
to managing the environmental influences of its
operations.

The Group mainly consumed electricity, petrol and
water, and generated wastewater and paper waste
during the Reporting Period. The Group strictly
abides by the laws, rules and regulations enforced by
the PRC in relation to environmental protection and
pollution control, including but not limited to:

e  Environmental Protection Law of the PRC;

e Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the PRC;

e Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Atmospheric Pollution; and

e Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste.

During the Reporting Period, no material
non-compliance with laws and regulations relating
to air and GHG emissions, discharge into water
and land, or the generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste was recorded.

B

AEBBANRER - LEFHEED
PR SRS (DRERE D HRREE
15 - NREBRRBEEBE BB AR
SEEEREBEMEANRRTYENT
ZRERRA -

WERMA > AEBEZEHEES - JUH
KFK - SWEEREKRRER - NEBE
R 3E 57 P B IR R N5 AR Bl 77 m AT
ENER - RAIER - BRETIRR

o FEARKNBERIGREL

o  HEARHMBIKSRIDEE

o FEARKMBEARGZRIEE
R

b A R 0 B B A R D)5 S IR
B35k o

REHRN > WEEXERABERME
ERBEHEN - AR LB ELER
ELREEREYEER LR -

iy

)
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A1. Emissions

Air pollutants and GHG emissions are significant
factors to address in combating climate change.
To reduce emissions, only high-quality fuel is used
within the Group’s fleet. Where appropriate, staff
are encouraged to use public transport. The Group
also tends to choose suppliers that are closely
located to its operations, so that emissions caused by
transport between the suppliers and the operations
can be minimised.

A1.1 Air Emissions

The Group-owned petrol vehicles were used for daily
business operations during the Reporting Period,
which contributed to the emission of nitrogen oxides
("NO,"), sulfur oxides (“SO,"”) and respiratory
suspended particles (“RSP").

Al. B

ZERSRY MR ER B U H T RE
BICPRBHFORASR - REDHER > &
SEEFNERBEENS - NEES
AT XBETEAARRE - AEH
TMARPE R MIBAE AR H 2 ER
RS - 2R A BEIRUER B R
BB P B B S A O BRI ©

A1.1 BESRBERR
WEHA  ANEBNBRFAHEH
ARBEEL  BRERAALY
(TNO, 1) ~ B b (S0, J) K AT IR A
FRFHRF([RSP]) o

Air emissions (non-GHG) from mobile combustion

BERBEELENERFRGERERE)

NO, (kg) RSP (kg) SO, (kg)

AELY TRABIHT HRELEY
Fuel Source #REHR Usage BREHE A (AF) (AF) (AF)
Petrol YU For vehicles E5#f 4.1 0.30 0.10
Note: Bt -

Emission factors for calculations on environmental
parameters throughout the report were made reference to
Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules and their referred
documentation as set out by Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited, unless stated otherwise.
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A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s business
activities contributed to the GHG emission of 131.47
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO,eq."),
mainly carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide.
The overall GHG intensity for the Group was 1.37
tCO,eq. with reference to the number of full-time
employees (“FTE"”), or 0.0028 tCO,eq. per unit of
product sold, representing a decrease of 9.3% and no
change respectively compared with the Last Reporting
Period.

A2 BERBEHEM

BEREHAN - AEBENKE EHEL
T13147TH i — A birE E (| B-Fbik
BB FEE-&ik - FREEES
£ BRERBEHERR - NEEEEER
BRERBEREZEASREREER (2
BES |1 37— S tIREE2FHE
HEMO0.0028ME — Ak E = - & 1A
REHAD R 9.3% M EEE) o

Total
Emission GHG Emission GHG Emission
Scope of GHG Emissions Sources (tCO,eq.) (%)
BERBHER BHAEERBHER
BERBHERHNEE BERHUR (—E{tmEE (%)
Scope 1 Direct GHG Emission
1 EEREREEEN
Combustion of fuel for mobile sources Petrol 17.33 13%
KREH R (R EDIR) YU
Scope 2 Energy Indirect GHG Emission
B2 sEREERE R IR
Purchased electricity 107.91 82%
FEEE /)
Scope 3 Other Indirect GHG Emission
B3 HttEMERERB K
Paper waste disposal 1.06
HIRREEREM
Electricity used for freshwater processing 0.81
R IK B TR PR E 5%
Electricity used for sewage processing 0.33
KRB FFEE
Business air travel by employees 4.03
& B %=k
Total 131.47 100%
et

Note 1: Emission factors were made by reference to
Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules and their
referred documentation as set out by the Stock
Exchange, unless stated otherwise.

Note 2: Emission factor of 0.06101 tCO,/MWh was used
for purchased electricity in the National Grid of
the PRC.

Note 3: Emission factor of 0.71 tCO,/MWh was used for
electricity purchased from the Hong Kong Electric
Company.

Bt BRRARBI  HEREETLR
GEM_E T 38 BB 8520 N B X P AT R T
Ha2EBHmiEh -

B2 ERERXEREEEHEAYE
MEE0.06101HME —EblitE =
KEHE -

W3 BB AEEENATNE N TR
PR 20710 = BB A& K
B o
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A1.3 Hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated
a total of 3.90 tonnes of hazardous waste,
mainly comprised of hazardous solids and liquids.
The intensity was 0.08 kg/unit of product sold,
representing an increase of 60% compared with the
last Reporting Period.

A1.4 Non-hazardous Waste

Non-hazardous waste from the Group’s operations
consists mainly of paper waste and domestic waste.
During the Reporting Period, the Group generated a
total of 1.25 tonnes of non-hazardous waste, 18%
of which was paper waste derived from the Group’s
office operation. The overall intensity was 13.0 kg/
FTE, representing a 7.8% decrease compared to the
Last Reporting Period.

A1.5 Measures to Mitigate Emissions

The Group is dedicated to curbing air pollution
and GHG emissions from its operations. To reduce
emissions produced though its products, the Group
estimates the production needs and determines the
optimal production quantity in one-off production.

The Group highly encourages employees to use
public transport whenever possible. The Group
has adopted the use of online conferencing tools
to reduce air travel. As a result of the Group’s
continuous efforts, both fuel consumption and
vehicle exhaust emissions reduced significantly
compared to the Last Reporting Period. In the long
run, the Group has established a 10-year Group-wise
emission reduction target to reduce emissions by
10% by the fiscal year of 2030.
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A4 BEREZEY)

REBELEFHELNBEZEEEZYETE
BIERE AR K BRI IR o AR HAM ¢
REBEAEEBEREEY.250 - HA
18% ARNEER N EEEERER - B
BEERI3OAT /842 BEE &
FERERRA7.8% ©

A5 B BEE

REBBNORMHIEXBREENE
FOsR IR ERELN o AR EER
EERNPR - AEBBELEERFK - A
E —REEENREEE -

AEEGNEREERMREERIHRR
BTA - AEEERAK RS HEN
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A1.6 Waste Handling and Reduction Initiatives

A2.

The Group strictly observes national laws in handling
both hazardous and non-hazardous waste. Wastes
are reduced and prevented at source wherever
possible. Wastewater, as a kind of hazardous waste,
is temporarily stored in containers, and collected by
designated licensed handlers for further treatment
prior to disposal.

Paper waste is collected and disposed of in
landfills. The Group continues to implement paper-
saving measures to reduce paper waste at source.
For instance, the Group encourages double-
sided printing, promotes the use of electronic
documentation, and keeps track of paper
consumption in promoting a paperless office. The
paper consumption pattern was similar to the Last
Reporting Period. In the long run, the Group has
established a 10-year Group-wise waste reduction
target to reduce waste generation by 20% by the
fiscal year of 2030.

Use of Resources

Although the Group has not established formal
policies on improving resource utilization efficiency,
the Group adheres to the principle of full utilization
of resources and encourages employees to observe
relevant practices to achieve resource conservation.

EREYESEIRIR AR A T Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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A2.1 Energy Consumption

The total energy consumption of the Group was
175,195 Kilowatt-hour (“"kWh"), with an overall
energy intensity of 1,825 kWh/FTE, and 3.78 kWh
per unit of product sold during the Reporting Period,
representing a decrease of 10.8% and an increase
of 0.5% respectively compared to the last reporting

period.

Direct/indirect

A2.1 BERHAE

REME  NEBNBERRERES
175195 T R ([ FEE]) @ #E/RE
ER18255THK S42RBEERE
HEHER3ISTRE « 8 E—ERE
HAR 2 BIRL 2> 10.8% KB A10.5% o

Energy Sources Consumption ~ Consumption Energy Intensity
B/ HEER HEER HAEE RRBE
(unit) (kwh)
(Bf1) (TRE)
Petrol 6,513 L 54,865 572 kKWh/FTE  1.18 kWh/unit of product sold
b 6,5137 S2TRE,/ 118TEE /SHELER
BRERESR
Purchased electricity 175,195 kWh 175,195 1,825 kWh/FTE  3.78 kWh/unit of product sold
FiBE N 175,195 F R B 1825FRE/  378FhEE/SHEHER
BRERIES
Group total 230,060 2,397 kWh/FTE  4.96 kWh/unit of product sold
smaLt 2397TRE/  496TEE /SHELER
BHLBES
Note: Higt -

Conversion factors were made reference to IEA Energy
Statistics Manual and 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National
Greenhouse Gas Inventories.
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A2.2 Water Consumption

Freshwater consumed for daily business operations is
supplied by municipal freshwater supplier. Water is
mainly used for domestic use and in the production
of reagents. During the Reporting Period, the
water consumption for the Group was 1,935 m?3,
contributing to a water intensity of 20.2 m?/FTE or
0.04 m? per unit of product sold.

A2.3 Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group’s major energy consumption is petrol
consumption by vehicles and electricity consumption.
The Group regularly monitors the usage of energy
to achieve maximum consumption efficiency. The
Group has formulated a series of measures to reduce
electricity consumption and increase electricity
efficiency. Energy conservation initiatives adopted by
the Group include:

e maintaining all default temperature settings of
air conditioners at 25.5°C;

e choosing low-carbon and energy-efficient
products and appliances;

e setting computers to energy-saving mode when
idle; and

e switching off office equipment and electronic
devices after office hours.

In the long run, the Group has established a 10-

year Group-wise energy reduction target to reduce
electricity use by 20% by the fiscal year of 2030.

ERLEEE

A2.2 KSEEE

H 5 25218 HERA KT B BUAK
HEREHE - KEZRIEEEAKEA
RAEERE - RIEHHE - AEEEFRE
BIK K A 1,9353 73K - KB E H20.2
NAEK/ FRrBEEMEHELER
0.0437 52K

BER(E A RUREE
AREBENEBERBRRTEN A MB
FRENER - AEBEHEZEERRNE
o RERRERFERE - $Elaﬂ

—RIERAHORERRETAE
Ko REBRDRAELEE BT

e BKBTHAMNMBEEREERN
25.5°C

o EEBEMEEEMERNES

. RBAHEEELHARBRET
1 -

FEME - ARBEDRUI0FEEERE
BR - MR —ZE=TF Y RFE R
B20% °
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A2.4 Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

No issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose
was identified during the Reporting Period. To
sustain water resources, the Group encourages
water conservation and reminds all staff members to
reduce water wastage whenever possible. Compared
to the Last Reporting Period, the water intensity
declined by 30% measured by number of FTE. In the
long run, the Group has set a 10-year Group-wise
water reduction target to reduce water use by 20%
by the fiscal year of 2030.

Water conservation initiatives adopted by the Group
include:

¢ reminding employees to turn off water taps
after use;

e putting up posters related to water resource
conservation at prominent locations;

e monitoring the water usage patterns; and

e enforcing inspections and maintenance to
prevent wastage of water resources.

A2.5 Packaging Materials

Paper cartons and plastics were widely used
as packaging materials for different product
presentations. During the Reporting Period, a
total of 3.41 tonnes of packaging materials were
consumed, including carton boxes, polyethylene and
polypropylene, contributing to an intensity of 0.07
kg per unit of product sold. All packaging materials
have undergone rigorous quality control tests before
use.
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

A3.1Significant Impacts of Activities on the

Environment

The Group’s business activities do not pose
any major significant adverse impacts on the
environment, except for the minor impact arising
from consumption of energy resources and fuels.
The Group’s Environmental Management Policy aims
to facilitate rational and efficient use of resources
such as energy, water and other raw materials.
The Group also carries out various measures for
reducing GHG emissions and advocating resource
conversation through the 3R’s (namely reducing
waste, reusing, and recycling resources) principle.
During the Reporting Period, any waste, wastewater,
or emissions that posed adverse impacts to human or
environment was appropriately managed, controlled,
and treated prior to release into the environment.

Electricity consumption was the largest component
of the Group’s energy, making up nearly 83% of
total energy consumed. To reduce electricity use, the
Group has specifically adopted various management
measures. For instances, the Group has provided
education to employees to raise their awareness of
energy conservation and given preference to low-
carbon and energy-saving appliances.

Looking forward, the Group will persist in operating
the business in an environmentally responsible
manner and drive a continual improvement in its
business processes, products, and services with as
little impact on the environment as possible.

3. BEERRARER
A EBHIIRIBENERTE

AEENEEEBEHIRBL T SEXT
MERTFEE - WEEIREREEDE
FEFTEE £ MR 2RI - REERIR
REBRBOREREER (LR » K
REMEBEMRE)NABEERER - A&
B RIS BB R DR E R B
M EB3R(BIZ R A EEY) - EAAE
WER)RAMEEREEIR - RIS H
A HABRISIRIFEK TR E M T
BEYD - BEKSHER BEREIRIBRI G
IEENEE - EH RER -

REARNEEZARGERAXE D - L9146
MBEEFERIS3% - BRAHEE - AEEZE
PISRANZIEE IR o flan - REEH
BREIRAHEES - B BEERE
ap

Emﬂ% °

RERK  AEESKEHFAHIREEE
MG EER  HBEXBRE  E
n M RIS FHERGE - R EA LR H

o0 437 A=
IRIREKTE o
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A4. Climate Change

Huakang acknowledges that it has a role in limiting
climate change, and that climate change may impose
an impact in limiting the Group's operations. To
better identify and address the risks involved, the
Group is committed to looking at climate change
issues together with other ESG issues. This means the
Board will take initiative in assessing climate-change
related matters with the support of management.
When material aspects are identified, polices shall be
formulated to address them.

With climate change issues considered, Huakang may
be threatened by both physical risks and transition
risks. For all of Huakang’s operations, event-
driven extreme weather may disrupt supply chains
which would interrupt business activities and affect
revenues; and cost may be incurred by the Group
to meet with newly enforced laws and regulations
and market driven changes as a response to climate
change.

That being said, Huakang remains hopeful knowing
that it can bring positive impacts to the environment.
Understanding its more significant environmental
effects being (i) the emissions of air pollutants
and greenhouse gases from the consumption of
purchased electricity and fuel, and (ii) the generation
of certain waste from daily operations, guiding
policies have been established to improve the
Group’s environmental performance.
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B1.

SOCIAL

Employment and Labor Practices

Employment

The Group strictly abides by all applicable laws and
regulations in relation to employment in the PRC,
Hong Kong, and the United Kingdom during the
Reporting Period, including but not limited to:

e Labor Law of the PRC;

e Labor Contract Law of the PRC;

e  The Social Insurance Law of the PRC;

e Special Rules on the Labor Protection of Female
Employees;

e  Social Insurance Law of the PRC;
e Regulation on Paid Annual Leave for Employees;

e Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child
Labor;

e The Hong Kong Employment Ordinance; and

e United Kingdom Employment law, Labour Law
and all relevant laws.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare of the Group.
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BRI HERERA®E

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had a total
number of 96 employees. All of them were full-time
employees. The employee structure sorted by gender,

age group, function and geographical regions are
shown below.

Distribution of Employees by Gender
BEMRI DM

59%

Male Female
o [y

Employees by Job Function
EEBESD

10%

Senior M|ddle Frontline &
Management Management . Office Staff
SREERE PREERE ARRRAEET
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Employees by Age Group
BEFERER DM
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The Employee Manual outlines detailed policies
regarding recruitment and dismissal, remuneration
and compensation, appraisal and promotion,
attendance, compensation leave, etc. Employees
are required to follow strictly the code of conduct
and ethics, which establishes the Group’s ethical
standards and expectation of employees.

Competitive Compensation and Benefits

The Group offers an equitable and competitive
remuneration package to attract and to retain talent.
In addition to basic wages, the Group offers overtime
pay, attendance bonuses, seniority bonuses, housing
allowance, and a discretionary performance bonus.
The Group also safeguards the legitimate interests
of its employees, respects the rights of employees
to rest and leave, and regulates their working hours
and their rights for various types of rest time and
holidays. Apart from medical coverage and statutory
holidays, employees are entitled to a range of leave
including marriage leave, maternity leave, paternity
leave, sick leave and bereavement leave.

Performance Review and Promotion

The Group provides development opportunities to
its employees through regular performance-based
appraisals, to understand their work performance in
a clear way through feedback from their supervisors
and develop excellent personal growth and ongoing
career developments. According to the promotion
policy, employees are eligible for career advancement
within the Group based on their competencies and
suitability for higher-ranking positions.
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Equal Opportunity

The Group respects the differences in employees.
Fair labor practices are followed within the Group
to eliminate discrimination. Employees are provided
with equal opportunities in respect of recruitment,
employment, training and development, promotion,
compensation and benefits, whether on the basis of
race, religion, nationality, ethnicity, age, gender or
disability. There was no non-compliance relating to
equal opportunity, diversity, and anti-discrimination
during the Reporting Period.

Employee Relations

The Group strives to foster a strong sense of
belonging with employees and ensure that every
voice is heard through transparent communication
channels. Regular meetings are held to collect
employee opinions, suggestions, and complaints
which are handled promptly.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Turnover

The Group considers offering a more attractive
remuneration package and benefits to retain talent
based on the Group’s business situation. A total of 7
full-time employees have left the Group during the
Reporting Period, representing an annual turnover
rate’ of 7.3%. The employee turnover rate? by
gender, age group and geographical locations are as
follows:

Mainland China
mA

Geographical
location
IR E

o Female
T . #i 10%
T o
S
[OfEsal Male 5
O ™ 5%
46-55
46 E555% 0.0%
o
= 36-45
S oR 0,
o m 36E455 el
S
) 26-35 10%
2 26E35% °
18-25
18E255%
0% 5% 10%

The annual turnover rate is calculated by total number of
employees who left the Group in the reporting period/
number of employees as at the end of the reporting
period x 100%. Employees who leave the Group within
probationary period are not counted.

Turnover rate refers to total number of employee turnover
in the specific group throughout the reporting period/total
number of employees of the corresponding group as at
the end of the reporting period x 100%.
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B2. Employee Health and Safety

The Group is dedicated to creating an accident and
injury-free working environment for its employees.
During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly
complied with all national laws, regulations and
standards in safeguarding workplace health
and safety, including the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases,
Production Safety Law of the PRC and Regulation
on Work-Related Injury Insurance. The Group
has maintained its Work Safety Standardization
certification for its manufacturing operation in
Shenzhen since 2016.

The Group has in place various safety rules and
guidelines to address various situations and issues.
All frontline workers are required to strictly follow
the safe working practice code. To further enhance
workplace safety, the Group conducts regular health
and safety audits to identify safety risks and carries
out investigations for hidden hazards.

Apart from providing personal protective
equipment for employees engaging in activities
where occupational hazards can potentially arise,
annual health check-ups are offered to ensure
timely treatment can be given. Safety education
and training programs are also provided for the
employees to increase their awareness and improve
their work safety skills.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group has developed contingency plans and
emergency procedures for foreseeable workplace
emergencies. Emergency evacuation plans are
displayed at conspicuous locations. The Group
organizes fire drills every year to ensure that all
employees are familiar with the evacuation routes in
emergency situations.

In the past 3 years, no fatalities of the Group’s
employees have been recorded. No work injury
case or material non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations in relation to occupational health
and safety of the Group was recorded during the
Reporting Period.

Occupational Health and Safety Statistics in

B HBREARE
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FY2023 ZEHaT

Work related fatality TR 0
Work injury cases >3 days THEER> =K 0
Work injury cases <3 days IBESEH < =X 0
Lost days due to work injury EIEELIER 0 days
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B3.

Responses to the Epidemic

A series of anti-epidemic measures have been
put in place to contain the spread of the virus
in the community and protect the wellbeing of
staff. In addition to stepping up the sanitation of
the facilities, the Group has also enforced social
distancing measures in the workplace, conducted
temperature checks for employees, and provided
disinfection supplies such as face masks and hand
sanitizers.

Moreover, the Group has introduced isolation
arrangements for employees with COVID-19
symptoms. In the event of a suspected case of
COVID-19, the Group will arrange enhanced cleaning
and disinfection measures at the relevant area and
report the suspected case to hospitals in accordance
with the reporting criteria and guidelines issued by
the local government. Any infected employee will be
placed in quarantine as soon as is practical, and all
staff are tested for the virus.

Development and Training

Employee development is vital to the sustainable
growth of the Group. The administration department
is responsible for developing annual training
plans pertaining to the various training needs of
employees. Where appropriate, employees are
assessed upon recruitment and reviewed periodically
thereafter for their proficiency in vocational
skills through examinations. Through providing
comprehensive training programs, the Group
ensures that all employees, including R&D personnel,
technicians, or production workers whose experience
and qualifications meet the requirements of relevant
positions.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HBRERRE

During the Reporting Period, 92% of the Group's
employees received training; the total training
hours and the average training hours per employee
were 1,311.5 hours and 14.9 hours per employee

respectively.

REREERR » KEE2%HIEEETE
- IR E RS EES FHYEIIE
ORI ATFELEE,311.5/ 6 &14.9/N

B o

Average

Training training

percentage hours

Gender Qe Uy ZIEDE FHZINEH
Male B4 88% 15.5
Female 1t 97% 14.12
Average

Training training

percentage hours

Employee grade RETIARE D ZIEDLE FHZINEH
Frontline employees AIARE T 91% 14.69
Middle management PAREIEE 89% 20.50
Senior management SRERE 100% 11.95

The Group organized the following internal training
and development seminars during the Reporting

period:

e Anti-Corruption talk (ICAC)

e  Listing Rules and Director’s role training

e Anti-Corruption talk

e QOccupational Health and Safety Training

RNWEHR - AEBEAR T AT REE

AN ERANE

=
o CTRAKERREA
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During the Reporting Period, the Group organized ez
training sessions covering a broad range of topics for

employees from different departments. Some of the B B9 205y
events that the Group attended are as follows:

Name of Conference Time

= nﬁ%*ﬁ H%:' FEﬁ

LA AEEATREMAHET
ZHTZBEEFENEIIEE - AEBEZR
SEEIIAE ¢

Location

o E

CACLP The 20th international medical
testing and blood transfusion
reagents equipment Conference

—HEEERRREEEH M ERAT

%Eg

The 16th Annual Conference of the
Chinese Society of Reproductive
Medicine (SCRM)

REREeF - SNEHAHES

Bires

Rouji International Summit Forum on
Reproduction and Genetics

TELEEGRRSEmE

The 13th Reproductive Medicine
Academic Conference of GDMA

Et+=EEREEEEZEMEH

The Medical Association of Foshan City

Andrology Branch
HLUTESEBENESE
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28-30 May 2023
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12-17 September 2023

—ET-=FNA+=H
Z++H

30-31 March 2023

—E-=F=-HA=+H
z2=+—H

14-16 July 2023

—E-=F+A+mlMHAH
2+75H

16-17 December 2023

—E2-=F+=-A+~H
Z++tH

Nanchang Greenland
International Expo
Center

MBI EREE R O

Nanjing International
Expo Center

MRBEREET O

Garden Hotel
Guangzhou

FEMTEEE S

Zhuhai International
Convention and
Exhibition Center

KEEEEREAR L

The Thousand Lantern
Lake Hotel Foshan

{3 LU TR S
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Name of Conference Time

= n?h % ﬁ H:?t.r FEﬁ

Location

o E

The 1st National Seminar on Future
Development and Construction of

7-10 April 2023

Four Points by Sheraton
Changsha Meixi Lake

Sperm Bank Changsha
—ERERETERRERER —_=FA+HETH b TasRAER
e s

2023 Annual Meeting of Male
Reproductive Medicine Branch of
Wenzhou Medicine Association

—EooFRNESELEREN S —EC=F+-A=-+/\H N EE
E-1+ANRH

Bieg

Hefei Training Course on WHO
Laboratory Manual on the Examination
and Processing of Human Semen
HRTAEBRE N AR RS BRI
BR=FME LRI

Labor Standards

The Group adheres to a strict philosophy of a society
free of child labor and forced labor. There was no
child labor nor forced labor employed in the Group;
no cases of non-compliance of relevant laws and
regulations in relation to labor standards were
recorded during the Reporting Period.

The Group complies with the Labor Law of the PRC,
Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor
and internal recruitment guidelines which prohibits
the employment of workers under the age of 16
in operations. The human resources department
verifies candidates’ valid identity documentation,
age, and working permit to prevent child labor,
forced labor and other forms of unlawful labor. As
such, employees hired by the Group are deemed to
meet the relevant legal requirements. Consequences
of breaching the conditions include immediate
termination of contract.

ERLEEE

28-29 December 2023

4-6 August 2023

— =/ \AMBEZEXH

The 1st Affiliated
Hospital of Wenzhou
Medical University

ZEVNE L=

ER
= 713

The 1st Affiliated
Hospital of Anhui
Medical University
ZRENAEE B
B=ht
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B5.

The Group ensures reasonable working hours
and paid holidays in accordance with all national
employment laws and requirements. The working
hours of the employees are enforced in accordance
with the requirements of relevant local laws and
regulations; thus, no forced labor is allowed. The
Group encourages the employees to complete their
daily work within the specified working hours.
When overtime work by special arrangement is
unavoidable, employees are eligible for overtime pay
based on the agreed hourly wage.

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group engaged 52 suppliers during the
Reporting Period. All of them were in the PRC
primarily providing raw and auxiliary materials for the
manufacturing of IVD reagents. The Group adopts an
integrated approach in screening and evaluating all
potential and existing suppliers. In selecting suppliers,
the Group assesses suppliers against agreed criteria
including production capability, environmental and
social considerations, product efficacy and quality
management systems. The performance of all
qualified suppliers is regularly monitored through the
submission of testing reports and documentation to
demonstrate consistent conformance to all applicable
statutory and regulatory requirements.

All suppliers are evaluated according to not
only conformance to all applicable statutory
and regulatory requirements, but also on their
environmental credentials. If a supplier is deemed
to be in non-performance of its social and
environmental obligations, it will be asked to rectify
the failure as soon as is practical. If non-conformance
continues, the supplier will be removed from the
supply chain.
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B6.

On-site assessments, when needed, are conducted
to ensure that the facility, systems, and products
provided by the suppliers are compliant with the
Group'’s stringent requirements on quality, workplace
safety and hygiene. If a significant non-conformance
is proved, the Group may consider disqualifying
or terminating the partnership with the concerned
supplier.

Product and Service Responsibility
Quality Assurance

The Group is committed to delivering safe, effective,
and reliable IVD reagent products that have attained
the highest quality standards. Aligning with the
Group’s corporate quality values, the Group has
obtained the ISO 13485:2003 certification for
medical device manufacturing and implemented a
quality management system according to the current
good manufacturing practices (the “cGMP"). During
the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied
with all relevant laws and standards established
by the China Food and Drug Administration (the
“CFDA") in the manufacturing of IVD reagents and
kits, which included:

e YY/T 0287-2017 standard (i.e., Medical Devices
— Quality Management Systems — Requirements
for Regulatory Purposes);

e Good Manufacturing Practice for Medical
Devices — Appendix on In-Vitro Diagnostic
Reagents;

e Good Manufacturing Practice for Medical
Devices — Guidelines for Onsite Inspection of In-

Vitro Diagnostic Reagents;

e Regulations on Supervision and Administration
of Medical Devices;

e  Contract Law of the PRC; and

e  Product Quality Law of the PRC.
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The Group’s quality manual outlines the
organizational roles, authorities, as well as
responsibilities for the accountable quality
management across the Group. Specific production
activities are required to be performed in the
designated Class 10,000 and 100,000 cleanrooms
in compliance with the ISO 14644-1 Cleanroom
standard. Moreover, air-sensitive reagent products
are stored under controlled conditions, i.e., at a
consistent temperature within the range of 2°C-8°C.

Customer Services and Product Recall

The Group values the importance of customer loyalty
and is committed to building and maintaining a
stable and long-term relationship with its customers.
The Group cares about customer satisfaction
throughout the entire business process from product
sales to after-sales service. Customer satisfaction
surveys help the Group gain valuable insight into its
performance and identify improvements, thereby
continuously improving the Group’s product and
service quality as well as enhancing customer
experience. Apart from conducting customer reviews,
the Group also constantly explores ways to improve
its products through research and development.

The Group has developed effective mechanisms
and handling procedures for dealing with customer
complaints and product recalls. Any complaints
received will be formally investigated and any
necessary follow-up actions are taken in timely
manner. The Group carries out investigation and
identifies corrective and preventive actions for
each complaint to prevent recurrence. During the
Reporting Period, the Group received no complaints
related to products and services provided, all the
enquiries had been resolved to the customers’
satisfaction. No material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations in relation to customer
services of the Group was identified during the
Reporting Period.
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The Group’s product recall procedure is formulated
in accordance with the Administrative Measures
for Medical Device Recalls established by CFDA.
The quality control department undertakes quality
inspections at different stages of the production
process. In the event of detecting defective products,
the Group will suspend the sale of the concerned
products and notify related customers immediately
for product recall and replacement. There was no
product recalled due to safety and health reasons
and no material non-compliance with laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group in relation to product health and safety
recorded during the Reporting Period.

Data Protection and Privacy

The Group pays special attention to confidentiality
and privacy issue of the Group and third parties. The
confidentiality policy stipulates that all employees are
prohibited from disclosing confidential information
(e.g., trade secrets, proprietary information,
customers data, etc.) to anyone outside of the Group
to others and use them for personal benefit or profit.
In addition, the Group restricts access to confidential
information and trade secrets, except to authorized
persons permitted by the Group. No major incidents
that impacted the Group’s operations or infringed
upon client privacy occurred during the Reporting
Period.
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B7.

Intellectual Property

The Group understands the importance of originality
and appreciates the hard work of the R&D team. The
Group’s Intellectual Property (the “IP”) Rights Policy
aims to protect IP owned by the Group and third
parties in pursuant to the Trademark Law of the PRC
and Patent Law of the PRC.

Furthermore, financial incentives are offered to
motivate the Group’s employees to invent new
products as well as innovative patent projects.
The Group also closely monitors the infringement
actions in the market and actively combats any
infringements. Any unauthorized use of IP rights may
give rise to legal liability. No major incidents relating
to infringement of IP rights occurred during the
Reporting Period.

Having the IP management system in place,
the Group has accelerated the application and
maintenance of patents for its own production
design and technology, ensuring the value of
intellectual property are well respected and
recognized within the Group. As of 31 December
2023, the Group had obtained a total of 19 issued
patents for its inventions.

Anti-corruption

The Group has zero tolerance for bribery and
corruption. The Group’s ethical standards are
clearly set out in the code of conduct and ethics
and Employee Manual, which requires all business
activities to be operated with the highest level of
integrity. The Anti-corruption Policy strictly prohibits
any corrupt acts, practices, and activities within the
Group. The Group strictly controls gifts, meals, and
entertainment that could give the mere appearance
of impropriety. Employees are encouraged to report
any instance or suspected instance of bribery or
corruption related to the Group directly to the
Group.
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All staff are encouraged to keep up to date with the
latest anti-corruption guidelines by reading the PRC
Criminal Law and the PRC Anti-unfair Competition
Act, applying to official bribery and commercial
bribery.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was in full
compliance with all relevant laws and regulations,
including the Criminal Law of the PRC, Anti-unfair
Competition Law of the PRC, Anti-money Laundering
Law of the PRC and Interim Provisions on Banning
Commercial Bribery, the Group's directors and senior
employees have undergone anti-corruption training
to strengthen the Group’s corporate governance.
There was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees
during the Reporting Period.

Whistle-blowing Policy

A whistle-blowing system is established for
employees and other relevant parties to report any
suspected misconducts, malpractices, and unlawful
or unethical behaviors within the workplace.
Whistle-blowers can make confidential reports to
the management of the Group, and are reassured to
be protected against unfair dismissal, victimization,
and unwarranted disciplinary action. Every reported
case will be followed through in accordance with the
Whistleblowing Policy and related procedures.
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B8. Community Investment

The Group is committed to supporting the public by
means of social participation and contribution as part
of its strategic development. To nurture corporate
culture and strengthen practices of corporate
citizenship, the Group embraces human capital
into the social management strategies to sustain
its corporate social responsibility and support the
Group's strategic development. The Group maintains
communications with stakeholders from time to
time to understand the needs of the communities
where the Group operates in and to ensure the
communities’ interests are taken into consideration.
The Group also encourages its employees to take
part in various community events to strengthen
team spirit while caring for vulnerable populations.
In the future, the Group will continue to discharge
its corporate social responsibility to care for the
community and build a harmonious society.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEWE

The Directors are pleased to present their annual
report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised), of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 3 August
2017.

The principal activity of the Company is an investment
holding company. Details of the principal activities and
other particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 33 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group is principally engaged in research and
development, manufacture, marketing and sales of
IVD reagents and auxiliary reproductive supplies and
equipment in the PRC. There were no significant changes
to the Group's principal activities during the current year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

A discussion and analysis of the activities of the Company
as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including an analysis of the Group’s financial
performance, an indication of likely future developments
in the Group’s business and Group’s key relationship with
its stakeholders who have a significant impact on the
Group and on which the Group’s success depends, is set
out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” on
pages 4 to 5 and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 6 to 19 of this Report. The above form part of
this directors’ report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Details of the principal risks and uncertainties of the
Group are set out in notes 2 and 30 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements and in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
Report on page 6 to 19.

Investors are advised to make their own judgement or
consult their own investment advisors before making any
investment in the Shares.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Details of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
on page 53 to 90 of this Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has adopted risk management and internal
control policies to monitor the on-going compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations. To the best
of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, our Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of our Group during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income on page 124 of
this Report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors does not recommend the payment of any
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: Nil).

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

There were no charitable donations made by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in note 12 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in share capital of the Company
are set out in note 28 in the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 127 and note 34(b) in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

PSR

AEEEE T -_=F+_A=1+—HIF
EEEHENAREF124B 5 BRRHM
PEWER °

RERE

EETEIARNBE_ZT_=F1t_A
=t B LEFENERRARE(CFE -
F ) -

BEARRFRRE NEXFRBREEMBRE
=k

ZEBR
BHE_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HUIEFE &K
SEVEELESBN( T --F - #) -
WM - BERZE

FAVE  BEMRBEBDFBIARGAM
BmAMEE12 -

[N

KRR AE B FIEH A SRR T
28

@
REE-_T-_=F+-_F=+—HILEE "
REBRARNRZ FEHEZ2EBFBE D HER
FNRTEGEETEHR RGP IEHRERHM
5T34(b) °

EREYESEIRIR AR A T Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

93



94

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
Company may pay dividends out of the profit or the
share premium account in accordance with the provisions
of Articles of Association, provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company remains able to pay the
debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. As at 31 December 2023, the Company's
reserves available for distribution to shareholders
comprising share premium and accumulated losses of the
Group, amounted to approximately RMB41.3 million.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the most recent five years is set out in the
section headed “Financial Summary” on page 244 of this
Report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023
and up to the date of this Report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Chunguang (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. He Jiaming (Business Development Director)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph
Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
Mr. Chan Kin Sang

Ms. Chow Ching Man
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Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at each general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years. Such
retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the annual general meeting. All Directors
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of shareholders after
their appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting and all Directors appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting and shall then
be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, all the current Directors will retire at the
forthcoming AGM where they will offer themselves for
re-election.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior
management are disclosed in the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 20 to 26 of this Report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than the service contracts, concerning
management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s businesses was entered
into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Zhang Shuguang, Mr. Zhang Chunguang
and Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael has entered into a service
contract with the Company commencing from the Listing
Date, which has no fixed term and can be terminated by
either party giving not less than three months’ notice in
writing to the other party. Mr. He Jiaming has entered
into a service contract with the Company for an initial
fixed term of three years commencing from the date of
appointment and will continue thereafter until terminated
by either party giving not less than three months’ notice.
Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into an appointment letter with our Company
for an initial term of three years commencing from their
respective appointment dates and will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than one
month’s written notice to the other party.

As at 31 December 2023, no Director proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM has entered
into a service contract with the Company, which is
not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 32 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements, no contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by Controlling Shareholders of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, no transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company, or any
of its holding companies or subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director, Controlling Shareholders of the
Company and their respective connected parties had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at any time during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Annual Report 2023 &%

EERBEH

REEYORAE C RENLSEENBRERERA
BEHEARAFIREEH - B L™ H LR
15 WEBETEHR WAl HEA—H RS-
HELATPR=_EANE@AMREL - {5
LD EBARREUREEL  BRER
HER - VT EEESR=F - Bimigf
—HEEEEEA-TBEOAOR=ZEAD
BRI - BWUIFRTEFD BARA]F
VEREE  AfISENZERMENS S
H=%F HHEE - BEEaEET—7n
H—HBELT IR —EANEE@MLL -

RZZE_=F+-A=+—H  REERX
BEARS LEZEENESTYEEARRFR]
MARRBAIR—FRESTRECEER
BRRIN 2 BN TR IEZ IRIEEX

EERERBRRNRESOER

BRERE B IR/ M FE 2 YR 32FT IR & A
REE-_ZE-_=F+-"A=+—BItFERK
EAIEE - AQ RS HEE TR A B M &
N E)VEEEE S B RT S AN B 12 A% IR 3R sk E AT AR
M8 A E M AR B s E AR B A IR AR
BHWERGHNNERNEEEB BB - AR
BES  EREREEEESEEEALTRE
FEESEEREEEAERZNEARS &
EREH -



DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in
the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any of the associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO")) which, once the Shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange, will have to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including any interest or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provision of the SFO) or will be required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or will be required, pursuant to the
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by directors of
listed issuers, will be as follows:

Long Positions in the Shares

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company
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Number of Number of

Name of Directors/ Capacity/ ordinary shares  share options Total  Percentage of
Chief Executive Nature of Interest held® held® interest  shareholding?

Firf Firf ki
EZ/BRTRABHE 5/ BRME EEREAY  BREHAEY st BAk?
Mr. Zhang Shuguang Interests of controlled corporation 209,256,000 4,000,000 213,256,000 51.0%

and concert party”

REXEE REEEERR-BTPALE
Mr. Zhang Chunguang Beneficial owner - 4,000,000 4,000,000 1.0%
REXEE EnfEBA
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael Beneficial owner 4,000,000 - 4,000,000 1.0%
ARELE ERERA
Mr. He Jiaming Beneficial owner - 4,000,000 4,000,000 1.0%
GE ERERA
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Notes:
(1) Allinterest stated are long positions.

(2) The calculation is based on the total number of
418,472,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

(3) On 16 November 2017, Mr. Zhang Shuguang and Mr.
Chang Yim Yang entered into the Acting-in-concert
Confirmation (“Confirmation”) to acknowledge and
confirm, among other things, that they have been and
will be actively cooperating, communicating, and acting
in concert with each other with respect to their interest
in or the business of the relevant members of our Group
since they became shareholders of the Company and
will continue to act in concert after the signing of the
Confirmation. For further details, please refer to the section
headed “History and Reorganisation” in the Prospectus.
The aggregate of 209,256,000 Shares and 4,000,000
share options are deemed to be interested by them in
aggregate under the SFO, consist of (i) 144,032,000
Shares held by Crystal Grant Limited (“Crystal Grant”), a
company wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Shuguang, in which
Mr. Zhang Shuguang is deemed to be interested under
the SFO; and (ii) 65,224,000 Shares held by Ever Charming
Inc. (“Ever Charming”), a company wholly owned by
Mr. Chang Yim Yang, in which Mr. Zhang Shuguang is
deemed to be interested as a result of being a party acting
in concert with Mr. Chang Yim Yang; and (iii) 4,000,000
share options granted to Mr. Zhang Shuguang on 9 April
2020.

(4) Details of the underlying Shares of the Company held

by the Director/chief executives are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme”.
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Long Position in the Ordinary Shares of Associated
Corporations

Name of Directors/ Name of Associated Capacity/

REEEEEERZHR

Number of ordinary ~ Percentage of

Chief Executive Corporation Nature of Interest shares held®°® shareholding

ES BRTBRABHE HBEEERE 5%,/ EsitE FrEEaREeE BREBDL

Mr. Zhang Shuguang Crystal Grant Beneficial owner 100 shares of US$1.00 100%
each

RENEE Crystal Grant ExBEBA 1008 &% 1.00%€ T2 100%
win

Note: Hist -

All interest stated are long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which he is taken or deemed to have under
such provision of the SFO) or which would be required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which would be required
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Others Persons’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares

FERRREMATRRD RAEERG 28
BmRAE
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As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the
Directors, the following persons (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interest or short
position in the Shares or underlying Shares which fell to

be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange

BN RPN EE - AN AR RIRIERE 5

under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as KHIE&HIFE3361K7E7F E 2 Bt A)#
recorded in the register required to be kept by the KA :
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:
Numberof ~ Number of Percentage
Capacity/ ordinary share Total of
Name of Shareholders Nature of Interest shares held® options held“ interest  shareholding
Fis Fi I
BREEE/ £% 51/ ERtE EERMEY BREHAY  EREs AL
Crystal Grant Beneficial owner and 209,256,000 4,000,000 213,256,000 51.0%
concert party™”
Crystal Grant ERBBAR-BITBALY
Ever Charming Beneficial owner and 209,256,000 4,000,000 213,256,000 51.0%
concert party™”
Fver Charming ERBBAR—BIPALO
Mr. Chang Yim Yang Interests of controlled corporation” 209,256,000 4,000,000 213,256,000 51.0%
REGLE RAEEEER
Wealthy Pride Investment Beneficial owner 28,800,000 - 28,800,000 6.9%
Limited (“Wealthy")
Wealthy Pride Investment ~~ E&#HAA
Limited ([Wealthy )
Lau Lai Yee Interests of controlled corporation® 28,800,000 - 28,800,000 6.9%
Lau Lai Yee R AR
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Notes:
(1) All interests stated are long positions.

(2) The calculation is based on the total number of
418,472,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

(3) On 16 November 2017, Mr. Zhang Shuguang and
Mr. Chang Yim Yang entered into the Confirmation
to acknowledge and confirm, among other things,
that they have been and will be actively cooperating,
communicating, and acting in concert with each other with
respect to their interest in or the business of the relevant
members of our Group since they became shareholders
of the Company and will continue to act in concert after
the signing of the Confirmation. For further details, please
refer to the section headed “History and Reorganisation”
in the Prospectus. The aggregate of 209,256,000 Shares
and 4,000,000 share options are deemed to be interested
by them in aggregate under the SFO, consist of (i)
144,032,000 Shares held by Crystal Grant, a company
wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Shuguang, in which Mr.
Zhang Shuguang is deemed to be interested under the
SFO; (ii) 65,224,000 Shares held by Ever Charming, a
company wholly owned by Mr. Chang Yim Yang, in which
Mr. Zhang Shuguang is deemed to be interested as a
result of being a party acting in concert with Mr. Chang
Yim Yang; and (iii) 4,000,000 share options granted to Mr.
Zhang Shuguang on 9 April 2020.

(4) Details of the underlying shares of the Company held
by the substantial shareholder are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme”.

(5) As Wealthy is wholly owned by Lau Lai Yee, who is
deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Wealthy.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Report, at no time
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this Report, have the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company and their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM listing rules) had any
interests in, or had been granted, or exercised any rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company and/or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of SFO).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that Directors shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained in defending any proceedings, whether civil
or criminal, in which judgement is given in his favour, or
in which he is acquitted. The Company has maintained
liability insurance to provide appropriate cover for the
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023.

COMPETING INTEREST

The Directors confirm that none of the Controlling
Shareholders or the Directors and their respective
close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
is interested in any business apart from the business
operated by our Group which competes or is like to
compete, directly or indirectly, with our Group’s business
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this Report.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

On 27 November 2018, the Company entered into the
Deed of Non-competition with each of the Controlling
Shareholders of the Company. Pursuant to the Deed of
Non-competition, each of the Controlling Shareholders
have undertaken, jointly and severally, to the Company
that they would not, and would procure their respective
close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) and/
or companies controlled by the respective Controlling
Shareholders not to, directly or indirectly, either on their
own account or in conjunction with or on behalf of any
person, firm or company, among other things, carry on,
participate or be interested or engaged in or acquire or
hold (in each case whether as a shareholder, partner,
agent or otherwise) any business or activity which is or
may be in competition with the business of the Group.
Details of the Deed of Non-competition are disclosed in
the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders” of the Prospectus. The Company has
received an annual declaration in writing from each of the
Controlling Shareholders confirming that he had complied
with the non-competition undertakings provided to
the Company under the Deed of Non-competition. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
status of compliance and enforcement of the Deed of
Non-competition and confirmed that all the undertakings
thereunder have been complied with since the date of
the execution of the same and up to 31 December 2023.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
in note 32 in the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as mentioned in the section “Connected
Transactions” below, other related party transactions did
not constitute connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Shenzhen Huakang (as tenant) and Shenzhen Junxuan
Biological Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Shenzhen Junxuan”)
(as landlord) entered into tenancy agreements, pursuant
to which Shenzhen Junxuan agrees to rent out Junxuan
Property to Shenzhen Huakang from 14 September 2023
to 31 December 2025 (the “Tenancy Agreement(s)”)™®.

Pursuant to HKFRS 16 “Leases”, the Company shall
recognise the premises leased under Tenancy Agreement
as a right-of-use asset in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. The entering into of the
Tenancy Agreement is regarded as an acquisition of
asset under the definition of transaction as set out in
Rule 19.04(1)(a) of the GEM Listing Rules. The aggregated
value of the right-of-use asset initially recognised under
the Tenancy Agreement was approximately RMB2.6
million.

Note:

Mr. Zhang Shuguang, our Substantial shareholder, executive
Director and chairman of our Board, holds the entire equity
interest in Shenzhen Junxuan. Therefore, Shenzhen Junxuan is
an associate of Mr. Zhang Shuguang pursuant to Rule 20.10(1)(c)
of the GEM Listing Rules, and thus it is a connected person of
our Company under the GEM Listing Rules. The transaction
under the Tenancy Agreements (as defined above) constitutes a
connected transaction of our Company under the GEM Listing
Rules.

*  English translation is for identification purpose only
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Pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, a
transaction was entered into by the Group with the
connected person (as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules) which constituted a connected transaction
during the year ended 31 December 2023. The relevant
applicable ratios (other than the profit ratios) under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules were less than 5.0%
and the total consideration was less than HK$3.0 million,
and therefore pursuant to Rule 20.74 of the GEM Listing
Rules, the connected transaction contemplated herein
was fully exempt from the reporting, announcement,
annual review and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees, and certain policies have been implemented to
ensure that its employees are provided with competitive
remuneration, good welfare benefits and continuous
professional training. The Group also maintains good
relationships with its customers and suppliers, without
whom success in the Group’s production and operation
would be at risk.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting on
13 January 2020. The Share Option Scheme is a long-
term incentive scheme of the Company to reward it's
employees, Directors and other eligible participants for
their contributions to the Group and to assist the Group
in its recruitment and retention of high calibre employees
and other eligible participants who are instrumental to
the growth and development of the Group.
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Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include:
(a) any employee or proposed employee (whether full-
time or part-time and including any executive Director),
consultants or advisers of or to the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity in which the Group an equity
interest (“Invested Entity”); (b) any non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity; (c) any supplier of goods or services to any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (d) any customer
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (e) any person or
entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity;
and (f) any shareholder of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity, and
any company wholly owned by one or more persons
belonging to any of the above classes.

Subject to the earlier termination of the Share Option
Scheme in accordance with the rules thereof, the Share
Option Scheme shall remain in force for a period of ten
years commencing from the date of adoption.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon the exercise
of options granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme adopted by the Group
(including both exercised or outstanding options) to each
grantee within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time.

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director
of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time and with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.
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The total number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all options (excluding for this purpose
options which have lapsed) which have been or may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any share
option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 40,000,000 shares, representing 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the Share Option Scheme and as at the end of
reporting period and the date of approval of this Report.
The maximum number of shares to be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from
time to time.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 30 days from the date of offer, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the Directors, which period
may commence from the date of the offer of the share
options, and ends on a date which is not later than ten
years from the date of grant of the share options subject
to the provisions for early termination thereof.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable
by the Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as quoted
on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of the offer; (ii) the average closing price of the
Company’s shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the
nominal value of a share.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 19,504,000
(2022: 23,504,000) share options outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme. Please refer to paragraph headed
“Share Option Scheme” in the section “Management
Discussion and Analysis” for further details.
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EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Detail of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of our Group are set out in note
8 in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements in
this Report.

There was no arrangement under which a Director has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Save for Directors’ fees, none of the independent non-
executive Directors is expected to receive any other
remuneration for holding their office as an independent
non-executive Director.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employee of the Group is
set up by the management on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. Under the emolument
policy, the basis of determining the emolument payable
to Directors is subject to the decision of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group has 96 full-time employees (2022: 83) located
in Hong Kong and the PRC for operation. Detail of the
staff costs, including Directors’ remuneration, incurred
by the Group are set out in note 7 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements in this Report.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine
the remuneration and compensation packages of the
Directors’ regarding their responsibilities, workload, time
devoted to our Group and the performance of our Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's largest customer contributed approximately
6.9% (2022: approximately 8.0%) of the total revenue
for the year while the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 22.7% (2022: approximately
25.1%) of the total revenue for the year. The Group’s
largest supplier contributed approximately 17.3% (2022:
approximately 15.2%) of the total purchase for the year
while the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 58.1% (2022: approximately 49.6%) of
the total purchase for the year.

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2023
have the Directors, any of their associates or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the number of issued Shares)
had any beneficial interest in any of the above major
customers and suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing Shares or that require the Company
to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares were entered into by
the Company, or subsisting during the year ended 31
December 2023.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the
Company'’s listed securities by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the year 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the Directors confirm that the Company complies with
the minimum of public float of 25% under the GEM
Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and
ensuring a high level of corporate governance standards
and will review and improve the corporate governance
practices and standards constantly. Details of the principal
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 27 to 52 of this Report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation
available to the shareholders by reason of their holdings
of the Shares. If the shareholders are unsure about the
taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of, dealing in or exercising of any rights in relation to
the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional
advisers.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 December 2023, the Company was not involved
in any material litigation or arbitration and no material
litigation or arbitration were pending or threatened or
made against the Company so far as the Company is
aware.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in elsewhere, the Board is not aware
of any material event requiring disclosure, that has taken
place subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this Report.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The notice of the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company will be published and dispatched to
shareholders in the manner specified in the GEM Listing
Rules in due course.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Audit Committee with its
terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33
of the GEM Listing Rules and code provisions D.3.3 and
D.3.7 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee consists of
four independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr.
Cheng Faat Ting Gary (Chairman), Dr. Chow Kwok Fai
Joseph, Mr. Chan Kin Sang and Ms. Chow Ching Man.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems,
effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope of audit
and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements
to enable employees of the Company to raise concerns
about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements and is of the opinion
that the preparation of such statements complied with
the applicable accounting standards, the requirements
under the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable legal
requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been
made.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 have been audited by Mazars,
who shall retire and, being eligible, offers itself for
re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution
for re-appointment of Mazars as auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM. There has
been no change in auditors of the Company in any of the
preceding 3 years.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Report contains forward looking statements with
respect to the financial conditions, results of operations
and business of the Group. These forward looking
statements represent the Company’s expectations or
beliefs concerning future events and involve known and
unknown risks and uncertainty that could cause actual
results, performance or events to differ materially from
those expressed or implied in such statements.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Shuguang
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M A%

mazars

To the members of
Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 124 to 243,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of material accounting
policies information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements" section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements for
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net
trade receivables amounted to approximately
RMB9,683,000 and out of these trade
receivables of approximately RMB8,607,000
were past due. The Group recorded net
impairment losses on trade receivables of
approximately RMB1,414,000 debited to
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the Group’s lifetime expected credit
losses (“ECL") on trade receivables as at 31
December 2023 amounted to approximately
RMB5,785,000.

The management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables
based on provision matrix through grouping of
various debtors that have similar loss patterns,
after considering internal credit assessment of
trade debtors and past due status of respective
trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for
forward-looking information.

In addition, trade receivables that are credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. The
loss allowance amount of the credit impaired
trade receivables is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows
with the consideration of expected future losses.

We identified impairment assessment of
trade receivables as a key audit matter due
to the significance of trade receivables to the
Group's consolidated financial position and
the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the ECL of
the Group's trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period.

Related disclosures are included in Notes 2, 18
and 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our key procedures, among others, included:

(a

(e)

Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating
the design and implementation of the Group's
key controls on how the management estimates
the credit loss allowance for trade receivables;

Testing the integrity of information used by
management to develop the provision matrix
including testing individual customers’ credit
assessment, on a sample basis, through analysing
their nature, size and past due status with
the underlying supporting documents and
comparing the internal credit assessment made
by management on these customers;

Evaluating management’s basis and judgement
in determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables, including their identification of credit
impaired trade receivables, the reasonableness of
management’s grouping of the remaining trade
debtors into different categories in the provision
matrix, and the basis of estimated credit loss rates
applied in each category in the provision matrix
(with reference to historical default rates and
forward-looking information);

Assessing the reasonableness and relevancy of
the external information used by the Group as
the forward-looking information; and

Evaluating the disclosures regarding the
impairment assessment of trade receivables.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of loan and loan interest receivables and refundable consideration

paid

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net loan
and loan interest receivables and refundable
consideration paid amounted to approximately
RMB3,789,000 and RMB1,788,000 respectively.
The Group recorded impairment losses
on loan and loan interest receivables and
refundable consideration paid of approximately
RMB237,000 and RMB112,000 respectively
debited to profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The management of the Group estimates
the amount of ECL on loan and loan interest
receivables and refundable consideration paid
based on historical payment information, if
applicable, current repayment ability, financial
position of the relevant debtors, and with
reference to the relevant estimated value of
collaterals. The Group engaged an independent
professional valuer for ECL assessment on loan
and loan interest receivables and refundable
consideration paid.

The Group’s management believes that they
have considered reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost and effort for this purpose.
Such assessment has taken the quantitative and
qualitative historical information and also, the
forward-looking analysis.

We have identified impairment assessment
of loan and loan interest receivables and
refundable consideration paid as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the carrying
amount of loan and loan interest receivables
and refundable consideration paid to the
Group's consolidated financial position and
the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the ECL of
the Group’s loan and loan interest receivables
and refundable consideration paid at the end of
the reporting period.

Related disclosures are included in Notes 2,
16, 19 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Our key procedures, among others, included:

(a

Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating the
design and implementation of the Group's key
controls on how the management estimates the
credit loss allowance for loan and loan interest
receivables and refundable consideration paid;

Evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and
competence of the independent professional
valuer;

Testing the integrity of significant inputs used by
management in determining ECL;

Evaluating management’s basis and judgement
in determining credit loss allowance on loan
and loan interest receivables and refundable
consideration paid and checking the assumptions
and key parameters to external data sources
where available;

Assessing the reasonableness and relevancy of
the external information used by the Group as
the forward-looking information; and

Checking the calculation of ECL based on
the methodology adopted by the Group and
adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in relation
of credit risk exposed by the Group in the
consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the 2023 annual report of the
Company but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
50.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group'’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE ®EMMBIES
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL (&)
STATEMENTS (Continued)
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement

of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
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as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional I%E’Fﬁﬁ%@(ﬁ’]éﬁ%ﬁﬁ% LA L B B
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of = e
internal control.
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e  QObtain an understanding of internal control relevant e
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

AHAESFRAgTBRRELRE

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies e

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates RESEMELHN ST RBBEKER
and related disclosures made by the directors. BEEE -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is:

Tsoi Wa Shan

Practising Certificate number: P07514
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeEsEkEMEERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE T _=F+_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—EC=E —E 4
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
Kzt ARMFT ARETT
Revenue Y= 3 24,629 25,330
Cost of sales SHERKAR (8,536) (8,416)
Gross profit EA 16,093 16,914
Other income HALA 5 734 8384
Other gains and losses HAh e K EE 6 251 860
Selling and distribution expenses SHE ko HRSZ (8,617) (8,951)
Administrative expenses ITEFEX (9.874) (9,803)
Research and development expenses  fff 25 f 2 (2,553) (2,483)
Provision for impairment losses on B Z W GRIE R B EE
trade receivables, net BT 30 (1.414) (373)
Provision for impairment losses on EWE R R EFHFE R
loan and loan interest receivables AREE 2SS ER
and refundable consideration paid BE a8 30 (349) -
Finance costs BhE R 7 (53) (55)
Loss before tax BRBLATES 1B 7 (5,782) (3,007)
Income tax expense FTiS TR 9 - (68)
Loss for the year attributable to FRZARQTEE A
owners of the Company FEihEsE (5,782) (3,075)
Other comprehensive loss: Hih2HEE -
Item that may be reclassified Higa[gtEF 7IEE
subsequently to profit or loss BaryEEH
Exchange difference on consolidation %34 & X =% (190) (411)
Total comprehensive loss for the XA THEE ABLER
year attributable to owners of 2HEEIBERE
the Company (5,972) (3,486)
RMB cents RMB cents
AR%7 AEE S
Loss per share attributable to RATEE AEWN
owners of the Company EREE 10
Basic and diluted BERREE (1.39) (0.76)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

e PR R

At 31 December 2023 R=E=-=F+=-A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —EoF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kiat ARMFiT AREFT
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB LR 12 7,478 7,572
Right-of-use assets ERERE 13 2,267 696
Intangible assets mpAE 14 2,134 2,811
Interest in an associate S )i N o
-3 15 - -
Consideration paid for acquisition of ~ EUS AR & 2 1+
equity investment HI¥I(E 16 - 1,900
11,879 12,979
Current assets REEE
Inventories rEe 17 3,395 3,116
Trade receivables 2 WA 18 9,683 9,470
Other receivables, deposits and HaEWIE - IRe K&
prepayments TRRTEIR 19 7,423 7,345
Tax recoverable AU [EIFEIE - 189
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHB KRS 20 32,935 33,303
53,436 53,423
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables g SN FIE 21 638 829
Other payables and accrued EL A JE T RRIE K BT
charges EH 22 7,932 5,852
Contract liabilities BHEE 23 552 1,267
Lease liabilities HEAE 13 1,111 410
Deferred income — government BEEWA — BT ED
grants 24 15 15
Amount due to an associate JE Bt & R R IR 25 2,848 1,408
13,096 9,781
Net current assets REBEEFE 40,340 43,642
Total assets less current liabilities EEZLERBAEBES 52,219 56,621
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At 31 December 2023 R—E-=F+_A=+—H

2023 2022
—EB-=F —ECF
Notes RMB000 RMB’'000
BiaE ARMFT AREFIT
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 13 1,177 59
Deferred income — government EEWA — BUSEED
grants 24 23 38
1,200 97
NET ASSETS EEFE 51,019 56,524
Capital and reserves BN H#E
Share capital [N 28 3,674 3,637
Reserves ] 47,345 52,887
TOTAL EQUITY S 51,019 56,524

ExelN _ZE_mME=H —+/\BA#tERE
T ZSEHINNE124E 243 F 4R B B
BmRRIAATALTRERERSE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 124 to
243 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board
of Directors on 28 March 2024 and signed on its behalf
by:

Mr. Zhang Shuguang Mr. Zhang Chunguang

Director Director
= EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEERBER

Year ended 31 December 2023 &f

EET =

F+oA=t+—HILEE

Reserves
R
Share  Accumulated
Share Share Capital ~ Statutory  Translation option profits
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve (losses) Sub-total  Total equity
ZihRAl
k& RHEE B5RE EERE EifiE BRERG (F8) N EREE
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
NEEFT  ARETT  AREFT  AREFT  ARETT  AREFT  ARETT AREFT AREFT
(Note (3)) (Note (b)) (Note (c) (Note () (Note 27)
We) (i) W)  WEw) (W)
At 1 January 2022 R-E--%-5-H 3509 47,48 1,943 2,352 155 2404 94 54,196 57,705
Loss for the year ERER = = = = = = (3,079) (3,079) (3,079
Other comprehensive loss: Hth2ERE
Item that may be reclassified ERTEN AR
subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange difference on consolidation  SAERZ8 - - - - (411) - - (@11) (@11
Total comprehensive loss for FRRERREE
the year - - - - (411) - (3,075) (3,436) (3.486)
Transactions with owners: BREAZRE:
Contributions and distributions HARAT
Statutory reserve appropriation Y - - - 169 - - (169) - =
Issue of new shares upon placing, et~ EFE&Z{THK -
of transaction costs (Note 28) MERARAH3E28) 128 217 - - - - - 217 2305
Total transactions with owners HRRAZRGEE 128 2177 - 169 - - (169) 2177 2305
At 31 December 2022 RZF-“#+-A=+-A 3,637 49,425 1,943 2,521 (256) 2404 (3,150) 52,887 56,524
At 1 January 2023 R-2-24-f-F 3631 4945 1943 2521 (256) 2404 BASO) S8 5654
Loss for the year ENER - - - - - - (5.782) (5.782) (5,782)
Other comprehensive loss: Rth2EER
Item that may be reclassified AR EN B E ER B
subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange difference on consolidation ~ SAERZH - - - - (190) - - (190) (190)
Total comprehensive loss for ERZEFEER
the year - - - - (190) - (5.782) (5972) (5972)
Transactions with owners: HEEAZRS
Contributions and distributions HARAK
Statutory reserve appropriation BAEERE - - - 59 - - (59) - -
Issue of new shares upon exercise of 7RI E/THR
share options (Note 28) (H#28) 3 839 - - - (409) - 40 467
Total transactions with owners ~ REAAZRHEE 37 839 - 5 - (409) (59) 30 467
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=E+ZA=+-A 3,674 50,264 1983 2,580 (446) 1,995 (8,991) 47,345 51,019
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

Notes:

(a

*

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds
or consideration from issuance of the Company’s shares
over their par value.

Capital reserve represents the difference between the
combined capital of the Company’s subsidiaries, King
Grace Company Limited (“King Grace”) and & Il # &
£ EETEE R A A (Shenzhen Huakang Bio-Medical
Engineering Limited*) (“Shenzhen Huakang”) and the
consideration paid for acquiring 44% equity interest of

Shenzhen Huakang by King Grace in 2017.

Statutory reserve is required to be appropriated from
profit after income tax of the entity which established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), determined
in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations
in the PRC. Allocation to the statutory reserve shall be
approved by the board of directors of the PRC entity. The
appropriation to statutory reserve may cease if the balance
of the statutory reserve has reached 50% of the registered
capital of the PRC entity. The statutory reserve may be
used to make up losses or for conversion into capital.
The PRC entity may, upon the approval by a resolution of
shareholders’ general meeting/board of directors’ meeting,
convert the statutory reserve into capital in proportion to
the then existing shareholdings. However, when converting
the statutory reserve into capital, the balance of such
reserve remaining unconverted must not be less than 25%
of the registered capital of that entity.

Translation reserve has been set up and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies adopted for
foreign currency translation as set out in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

English translation is for identification purpose only
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
mERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2023 & Z - — =

F+-A=T—RHIFE

2023 2022
—E—-= —E-_F
RMB000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KeEES
Loss before tax BRAATEE (5.782) (3,007)
Adjustments for: REFEE
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH 677 394
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% - iE MR EITE
equipment 1,600 1,778
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FREZENE 902 968
Loss on disposal of right-of-use HEFREEESE
assets 22 -
Gain on disposal of property, plant ~ HEWZ - E &k&EK=
and equipment (13) —
Interest income MEMA (404) (402)
Provision for impairment losses on B 5 RWGRIE R BB E
trade receivables, net R 1,414 373
Provision for impairment losses on  FEE R R EZF| B K AR E
loan and loan interest receivables B EREEERE
and refundable consideration
paid 349 -
Release of deferred income EEW AL D (15) (15)
Write-off of inventories ZiEEE 210 46
Finance costs BLE R AR 53 55
Operating cash flows before EEESERFH oKL
changes in working capital HERE (987) 190
Changes in working capital LEESEE
Inventories FE (489) 1,048
Trade receivables B 5 WA (1,627) (444)
Other receivables, deposits and HA WA « e KRB
prepayments RIE 1,692 303
Trade payables g N RIE (191) 112
Other payables and accrued HAth T 5K R FEETE A
charges 2,080 1,457
Contract liabilities BHERE (715) (904)
Cash (used in) generated from Re&E (A MBRE
operations (237) 1,762
Income tax refund (paid) REL(BA)FTEH 189 (476)
Net cash (used in) from operating &L&;E8 (FrH)FFBREFHE
activities (48) 1,286
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—EB-=F —ECF
Notes RMB000 RMB’'000
BiaE AR¥FT ARETT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFRH
Interest received EEFLE 185 402
Acquisition of property, plant and WHEMIZE - BB i
equipment (1,502) (649)
Proceeds from disposal of property, — H&EWE « BE K&RE
plant and equipment <2 FTiSskIE 13 -
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-  H&FEREEE 25
use assets I 151 =
Consideration paid for acquisition of ~ERSAXER & X HHY
equity investment & - (1,900)
Loan granted BTER - (3,800)
Development costs paid EARTRER A - (162)
Net cash used in investing REZBFIARESFE
activities (1,153) (6,109)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Repayment for lease liabilities MEBREEK (884) (1,288)
Advance from an associate H /NI XY 1,440 1,307
Proceeds from issue of shares upon  ERE1& 1T TS
placing, net of transaction costs FIE - HRZZEA 28 - 2,305
Proceeds from issue of new shares  1T{EEE IR M 2417
upon exercise of share options ¥R 2 P 5018 28 467 =
Net cash from financing activities BEEEFTERSFE 1,023 2,324
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRREEEBMRD
equivalents RE (178) (2,499)
Cash and cash equivalents atthe FHzREREEE
beginning of the year B9 33,303 36,207
Effect on exchange rate changes EXEHNTE (190) (405)
Cash and cash equivalents atthe HRZBEERELE
end of the year, represented by B4 - i5BITEHR
bank balances and cash B 32,935 33,303
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE T _=F+_A=1+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
(the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company under the laws
of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 3
August 2017 and its shares are listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 13 December 2018. The addresses
of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are set out in the section
headed “Corporate Information” to the annual
report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) are principally engaged in research
and development, manufacture, marketing and sale
of biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive
supplies and equipment in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC"). The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

—REHR
EREMBEZBRAERQR(TRLQF])
R-ZZE—+FN\A=BRERSHEHSE
RRASHEEMR IS —RERRE
RAF - EROR_FT—-N\F+_H
TZREBBMERZMARAR (B
R )GEM LT » NARZ E M FLE
REBEXMEMU BN AF RN F
BRt—8h e

RRBRREERATR] o AREE K HH
BAR (G A5l )R PEARKLM
B([HE ) T2NELEMEL N E
B RmAREmnimeE - £E - EHNE
- AHETENBRRNEIEXRHKZ
A BEN R A SRR MEES3

The consolidated financial statements are presented FREUBEHRERAARB(TARYKE] 2
in Renminbi (“RMB"”), which is the same as 5l - EARARREMBARIMINGEES
the functional currency of the Company and its R BBRSZAFZHAIN AU AAZE
subsidiaries, and rounded to the nearest thousand 2 TR -

unless otherwise stated.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA"), which collective term includes all
applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“"HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting
policies adopted in the 2022 consolidated financial
statements except for the adoption of the following
new/revised HKFRSs that are effective from the
current year.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the
following new/revised HKFRSs:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to
HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform - Pillar Two
Model Rules

Definition of Accounting Estimates
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1: Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The amendments require companies to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than
their significant accounting policies.

The amendments have no effect on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any
items in the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8: Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments clarify how companies should
distinguish changes in accounting policies from
changes in accounting estimates.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12: Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the
recognition exemption in paragraphs 15 and 24 of
HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions
that, on recognition, give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12: International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules

The amendments provide entities with temporary
relief from accounting for deferred taxes arising
from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development’s Pillar Two model rules. The
Amendments also introduce targeted disclosure
requirements to help investors understand an entity’s
exposure to income taxes arising from the rules.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements is historical
cost.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the period are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the elements of
control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position
which is presented within these notes, the investment
in subsidiaries is stated at cost less impairment loss.
The carrying amount of the investment is reduced to
its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is
higher than the recoverable amount. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and/or receivable.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
join control of those policies.

The Group’s investment in associate is accounted
for under the equity method of accounting, except
when the investment or a portion thereof is classified
as held for sale. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost and adjusted
thereafter for the post-acquisition changes in the
Group's share of the investee's net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment. Except
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee, the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses when the Group’s share of
losses of the investee equals or exceeds the carrying
amount of its interest in the investee, which includes
any long term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the investee.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associate are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the investees, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred,
in which case they are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue
when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when “control” of the goods underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
goods or service.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a
point in time upon (i) delivering the goods to the
customers’ warehouse on which the customers
obtain control of the goods or (ii) the customers
collect the goods directly from the Group’s
warehouse, as appropriate.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s gross carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease at inception of the contract. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to
short-term leases and low-value asset leases. Lease
payments associated with these leases are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components from lease components, and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

The Group accounts for each lease component
within a lease contract as a lease separately. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise
to a separate component are considered to be part
of the total consideration that is allocated to the
separately identified components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability at the commencement date of the lease.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAE:HBEER(E)

INFORMATION (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost,
which comprises:

(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation
is provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of
the right-of-use asset (unless the lease transfers
ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by
the end of the lease term or if the cost of the right-
of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise
a purchase option — in which case depreciation
is provided over the estimated useful life of the
underlying asset) as follows:

Factories and office premises 2 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is initially measured at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of
the lease liability comprise the following payments
for the right to use the underlying asset during the
lease term that are not paid at the commencement
date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual
value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily
determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the
lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised
discount rate when there are changes to the lease
payments arising from a change in the lease term
or the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original
discount rate when there is a change in the residual
value guarantee, the in-substance fixed lease
payments or the future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or a rate (other than
floating interest rate). In case of a change in future
lease payments resulting from a change in floating
interest rates, the Group remeasures the lease
liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment
to the right-of-use asset. If the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is
a further reduction in the measurement of the lease
liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount
of the remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate
lease if:

(@) the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

When a lease modification is not accounted for as
a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease
modification,

(a)

the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract on the basis of relative stand-
alone price as described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the
modified contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate over the revised lease term.

for lease modifications that decrease the
scope of the lease, the Group accounts for
the remeasurement of the lease liability by
decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset to reflect the partial or full termination
of the lease and recognising any gain or loss
relating to the partial or full termination of the
lease in profit or loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group
accounts for the remeasurement of the lease
liability by making a corresponding adjustment
to the right-of-use asset.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using
exchange rate prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributable
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a
disposal of the Group'’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation
or a partial disposal of an interest in an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial assets). All of
the exchange differences accumulated in a foreign
exchange translation reserve in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that
does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences is re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit
or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

On all other partial disposals, which includes partial
disposal of associates that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence or joint control,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount
of exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs
for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over
the useful lives of the related assets.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as
an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Group’s employees, including directors, receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby the employees rendered
services in exchange for shares or rights over shares.
The cost of such transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date. The fair value of share
options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in a
reserve within equity.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the vesting conditions are
to be fulfilled, ending on the date on which the
entitlement of relevant employees to the award is
no longer conditional on the satisfaction of any non-
market vesting conditions (“vesting date”). During
the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest ultimately is reviewed. Any
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior periods is charged/credited to profit or loss for
the year of review, with a corresponding adjustment
to the reserve within equity.

Upon the exercise of share options, the resulting
shares issued are recorded by the Company as
additional share capital at the nominal value of the
shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share
over the nominal value of the shares is recorded
by the Company in the share premium account. In
addition, at the time when the share options are
exercised, the amount previously recognised in the
share option reserve will be transferred to the share
premium account.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Equity-settled transactions (Continued)

When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to accumulated
profits or losses.

No expense is recognised for awards that do
not ultimately vest, except for awards that are
conditional on a market condition or non-vesting
condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of
whether or not the market condition or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all non-market
vesting conditions are satisfied. Where an equity-
settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. However, if a new award is substituted
for the cancelled award, and designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award as described
above.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the period. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss
before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Year ended

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.

Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.
Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets over their estimated useful lives using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Year ended

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets — research
and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development
phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and
only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

e the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;

e the intention to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

e the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

e how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

e the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible
asset; and

e the ability to measure reliably the expenditure

attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research
and development expenditure (Continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally
generated intangible asset is the sum of the
expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
listed above. Where no internally-generated
intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally
generated intangible assets are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.
When the asset is available for use, amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. For intangible assets yet to be available for
use, they are stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
is estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

EREDESER

EXETHRERE)

W% - BERERE ERAEREERER
BEERE

REMR  AREFEHEAERFH
BROME - BFEM&E  EAEEE
MEFEENKREE UNEETEEAE
APRBRZEFEECHIBERR -
WEEEAEETR - AEHtAHE
ER RO 58 - AEERIERBE (10
BIMIZE

MR - BB MEE - ERAREENRER
BEMAKWE S REFETHA o WE
AAEHEREEN A WEISFE - AIARSE
Bt EEMBR S EEEMNA
WEIEH - WAl EERE -z nEE
% QIRRIEEN D EEENRSES
B BRAABEER I RERETEA
B-SBoEEENR/ N REELEME
Al e

AU ] < BR A X SRR B A AN 45
BEMEZRSE N EERER
B At AR RESRATARER
KRR EZHBRE - MATAIRR R R
HEBRKREENMRAKRSREMETR
KRB EE(HIRCELEMIZEE
[\ O BB Bs Th 35 5T o

B PR 22 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

155



156

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) in prior periods. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash equivalents represent short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, net of bank overdrafts (if any).
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs of
purchase and, where applicable, cost of conversion
and other costs that have been incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition, is calculated using the first in, first out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period of the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income:

e the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measure at
fair value through profit or loss.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECL") on financial assets which are
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including
trade receivables, other receivables and bank
balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group'’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings (i.e. high risk, normal risk and low risk

type).

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 &ZE —Z—

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
assessment;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EAEHBEER(E)
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk if (i) the financial instrument has a
low risk of default (i.e. no default history); (ii)
the counterparty has a strong capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; and (iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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Year ended

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a

significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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Year ended

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the risk
type (i.e. high risk, normal risk and low risk type)
by considering:

e  Past-due status; and
e Nature, size and industry of debtors.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables and other
receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other
payables and accrued charges and amount due to an
associate are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable
is recognised in profit or loss.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to
the Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of the holding
company of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
holding company, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity

and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(v)

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

i) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant

influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a holding company of the
entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of

which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity and include:

(a)

(b)

(0)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner,

children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

dependants of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate
includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint
venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to Group’s executive
directors for the purpose of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Key sources of estimation and uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Key sources of estimation and uncertainty
(Continued)

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

The Group adopted HKFRS 9 and the management
of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime
ECL of trade receivables based on provision matrix
through grouping of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns, after considering internal credit
assessment of trade debtors and past due status
of respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates
are based on historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information. In addition, trade
receivables that are credit impaired are assessed for
ECL individually. The loss allowance amount of the
credit impaired trade receivables is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows with
the consideration of expected future losses. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying amount of
trade receivables.

Impairment assessment of loan and loan interest
receivables and refundable consideration paid

In measuring ECL and in determining whether there
is a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and whether the financial assets is credit-
impaired, the Group takes into account the historical
actual credit loss experience, financial information,
current conditions, forecasts of future economic
conditions and viability of realising the estimated
value of collaterals. If the financial condition of
the debtors were to deteriorate, or the value of
collaterals held by the Group were lower than the
estimated value, actual write-offs would be higher
than estimated.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Key sources of estimation and uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets

The management determines whether the Group's
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets are impaired when an indication
of impairment exists or when annual impairment
testing is required. This requires an estimation of
the recoverable amounts of the property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets which is equal to the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. Estimating the
value in use requires the management to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. Any impairment will be charged
to profit or loss.

Allowance for inventories

The management reviews the condition of
inventories at the end of each reporting period and
makes allowance for inventories that are identified
as obsolete, slow-moving or no longer recoverable.
The management carries out the inventory review on
a product-by-product basis and makes allowances or
reversal allowance by reference to the latest market
prices and current market conditions.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated
financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the
following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet
effective for the current year, which the Group has
not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants'”
Amendments to HKAS 7~ Supplier Finance Arrangements'”
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback"”

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

M Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

® The effective date to be determined

The management of the Group does not anticipate
that the adoption of these new/revised HKFRSs in
future periods will have any material impact on the
financial performance and financial position of the
Group.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

3. REVENUE 3. k=
(a) BEEEGHWESE

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

174

with customers

2023 2022
—E-=HF . S—
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARMFT ARETT
Type of goods EmEHR
Sales of biological reagents: SHE ERE -
Male fertility in-vitro diagnostic SHETEEINDE
("IVD") reagents (Fegsreir ) A A 19,033 16,807
Parasite antibody detection B A5k R iR S A
reagents 3,059 3,345
Epstein-Barr Virus antibody EBJR = i Al A
detection reagents 851 785
Sales of auxiliary reproductive HEE AR AmA
supplies and equipment B 1,371 2,240
Sales of healthcare products and SHE R E fn R AR o
supplements 315 2,153
24,629 25,330
Type of customers BEFEHR
Distributors I 11,448 12,254
Non-distributors FED EHE 13,181 13,076
24,629 25,330
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

3. REVENUE (Continued)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers

The Group sells biological reagents, auxiliary
reproductive supplies and equipment and
healthcare products and supplements to
distributors and non-distributors mainly
comprising hospitals and medical institutions in
the PRC. Contracts with the Group’s customers
are mainly short term and fixed price contracts.
The revenue is recognised when control of the
goods has transferred, being when the goods
are (i) delivered to the customers’ warehouse
on which the customers obtain control of the
goods or (ii) collected by the customers directly
from the Group’s warehouse, as appropriate.
Following delivery, the customers have full
discretion over the manner of distribution
and price to sell the goods, have the primary
responsibility when selling the goods and bear
the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to
the goods.

In general, the Group will request deposits from
the customers before the goods are delivered
and the amount of deposits requested varies
amongst different contracts. For certain long-
term customers, the Group will deliver the
goods without requesting deposits and allow
a credit period from 30 to 180 days (2022: 30
to 180 days) to these customers and there is
no credit period granted to other customers.
The customers have neither rights of return nor
rights to defer or avoid payment for the goods
once they are accepted by the customers upon
delivery.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

3. REVENUE (Continued)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

The total amount of transaction prices
allocated to the remaining unsatisfied
performance obligations as at 31 December
2023 are approximately RMB552,000 (2022:
approximately RMB1,267,000) and the expected
timing of recognising revenue is within one year.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of
the Company, being identified as the chief operating
decision makers (the “CODM"), for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services
delivered or provided. No operating segments
identified by the CODM have been aggregated in
arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

Based on the Group’s internal information reporting
purpose, the directors of the Company have
determined that there are two reportable operating
segments which are set out below:

(1) Biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive
supplies and equipment; and

(2) Healthcare products and supplements
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 2.

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from
biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive
supplies and equipment, and healthcare products
and supplements.

Segment results, which are the measures reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation
and assessment of segment performance, represent
the profit earned or loss incurred by each segment
without allocation of certain other gains and losses,
administrative expenses, finance costs incurred by
head office, provision for impairment losses on
loan and loan interest receivables and refundable
consideration paid, income tax expense and share
result of an associate.

All assets are allocated to operating segments
other than unallocated corporate assets which are
mainly certain of bank balances, other receivables,
consideration paid for acquisition of equity
investment and right-of-use assets located in Hong
Kong as these assets are managed on a corporate
basis.

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than unallocated corporate liabilities which are
mainly certain of other payables and lease liabilities
located in Hong Kong as these liabilities are managed
on a corporate basis.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results by reportable operating segments:

Year ended 31 December 2023

P
N

T RPER ()
D - KK - BEREEE)

AT RIRA] 2mE 2D FMEH A EE
Yo M SRAEDHT

BE-_Z-_=Ft+-A=+—HLFE

Biological
reagents

and auxiliary
reproductive
supplies and

Healthcare
products and

equipment supplements Total
E Y RE R
HPEERAR RBEEMR
kB REmR et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT ARETFT AREFT
Segment revenue o EER 24,314 315 24,629
Segment results DEBELE (111) (2,256) (2,367)
Unallocated head office and K75 BAEH N\ =
corporate income and K2 aA
expenses: REF -
Other gains and losses HAb Wz & E51E 224
Administrative expenses THAX (3.287)
Provision for impairment W E SR R ERF
losses on loan and loan BRAGREE X
interest receivables and NEEREERE
refundable consideration B
paid (349)
Finance costs BLE KA (3)
Loss before tax BRAXAIEE (5.782)
Income tax expense PRS2 -
Loss for the year FANEE (5,782)
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4. DEERE)
Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities oIS - EE EEREEE)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—HItFE
Biological
reagents
and auxiliary
reproductive Healthcare
supplies and  products and
equipment  supplements Total
AR K
EHEAES Am fERREm &
P& R#Emn fEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFT AREFTT
Segment revenue 7B 23,177 2,153 25,330
Segment results DEBELE 1,935 (2,341) (406)
Unallocated head office and K75 BB N\ =
corporate income and RN alHA
expenses: KA -
Other gains and losses H bWz & E51E 392
Administrative expenses THAX (2,982)
Finance costs BLE KA (11)
Loss before tax BRTE A E1E (3,007)
Income tax expense FTiSHiR X (68)
Loss for the year FRNEHE (3,075)
EREYESIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2023 &HZ—Z - =F+_A=+—HILtFE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4. DEER(HE)
Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities i - ¥E - EEREE(E)
(Continued)
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and TRANEERIEN 2HMEE D EPETT
liabilities by reportable operating segments: NEERBEDT -
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_Z-_=F+=-A=+—HLEE
Biological
reagents
and auxiliary
reproductive Healthcare
supplies and  products and
equipment  supplements  Unallocated Total
EMHBER
BHEERAR BEERR
e RER ROE o
RMB‘000 RMB‘000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARMFT ABMFT  AREFT
Assets EE
Reportable segment assets A 2H/DHEE 58,487 1,229 5,599 65,315
Liabilities a2
Reportable segment liabilities 7] 23k7 2 & & 6,806 4,190 3,300 14,296
Other information HtvER
Depreciation on property, %1%« BE X
plant and equipment RiEE 1,543 52 5 1,600
Depreciation on right-of-use {FFREEENE
assets 857 - 45 902
Amortisation on intangible /& E# i
assets 677 - - 677
Gain on disposal of HENE - HER
property, plant and &l
equipment (13) - - (13)
Loss on disposal of right-of-  (H&EFFREEEERE
use assets - - 22 22
Provision for impairment B SRUFUERE
losses on trade EREETE
receivables, net 1,174 240 - 1414
Provision for impairment ~ [ERER R EFHFIS
losses on loan and loan RAE Eifﬁﬂ
interest receivables and BREEERE
refundable consideration
paid - - 349 349
Write-off of inventories %iEFE - 210 - 210
Additions in property, plant %1% - BiRE R R1E
and equipment RE 1,502 - - 1,502
Research and development ~ FEF %
expenses 2,553 - - 2,553
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4., DEER(E)
Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities oIS - XEE EEREEE)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_Z-_—F+-A=1+—RHItEE
Biological
reagents
and auxiliary
reproductive Healthcare
suppliesand  products and
equipment  supplements Unallocated Total
YR
BHEERE femREmR
MR RiEm AAHL @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANEEFT  AREFT  AREFT  ARETT
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets A2 H/AHEE 57,554 2,257 6,591 66,402
Liabilities =
Reportable segment liabilities 7] 2% & & 5,557 2,531 1,790 9,878
Other information HitEs
Depreciation on property, — #1% « BiE Rk
plant and equipment REHE 1,714 50 14 1,778
Depreciation on right-of-use {FFAEEETE
assets 719 — 249 968
Amortisation on intangible &/ & 5
assets 394 - - 394
Provision for impairment ~ E ZEMGIERE
losses on trade ERREE
receivables, net 290 83 = 373
Write-off of inventories GHEE - 46 - 46
Additions in property, plant ~ ¥1% « BE kR &
and equipment N 649 - - 649
Additions in intangible assets EFEERE 162 - - 162
Consideration paid for ISR ER A 1)
acquisition of equity 4B
investment - - 1,900 1,900
Research and development ~ FEH %
expenses 2,483 - - 2,483
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of the Group's revenue from
external customers which are based on the location
of goods delivered.

DERE R (E)
AR

TREINIEERIMRERE D 2 AE
B INERR o W as 2 MBI E AL o

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ANRETFT AEEFIT

Revenue from external customers: INERR P
The PRC M [ 24,314 23,177
Hong Kong B 315 2,012
Canada nExX —* 141
24,629 25,330

*  Represents amount less than RMB1,000

No geographical segment information of the Group’s
non-current assets is presented as the Group’s non-
current assets (except for office equipment and
one motor vehicles with total carrying amount of
approximately RMB81,000 (2022: approximately
RMB352,000) as presented in property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets which are located
in Hong Kong) are mainly located in the PRC by
physical location of assets.

Information about major customers

The Group’s revenue from any single external
customers did not contribute 10% or more of the
total revenue of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE T - =F+_-A=1+—HIFE

OTHER INCOME 5. HlgA
2023 2022
—E-=5 —E—F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMTFrT AREFTT
Bank interest income RITABIA 185 402
Government grants (Note) B H#Bh (1 5E) 231 336
Loan interest income B B UA 219 7
Sundry income FEIEA 99 139
734 884

Note: Kzt -

In the opinion of the management of the Group, there
was no unfulfilled condition or contingency relating to the

government grants.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

REKIGHHEAER -

6. HtWmRER

AEEEEERAS  WERERFHEIARZ

2023 2022

—E-=F T F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TFT AEEFT

Foreign exchange gains, net b 5 Yz F /B 251 860

EREYESIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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LOSS BEFORE TAX
This is stated after charging:

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

7. BREREE
BETHAEHIRR T HIIEIA

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFir AREFT
Finance costs & A
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEZHE 53 55
Staff costs, including directors’ ETRA  BFEES
remuneration 7B
Directors’ emoluments (Note 8) BEEXFHM(AZES) 2,743 2,991
Other staff costs: HAth 8 TRCA -
Salaries, bonuses and other benefits e - e KHEHAM
b 10,029 9,914
Contributions to defined contribution TE M AT B
plans 2,075 1,881
14,847 14,786
Other items Hg g
Auditor’s remuneration ZEREM N & 631 603
Amortisation of intangible assets B EAESKE(BEHEE
(included in cost of sales) A7) 677 394
Cost of inventories (Note) FERAHZE) 8,536 8,416
Depreciation of property, plant and Mz~ BB &R
equipment e 1,600 1,778
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENTE 902 968
Other rental and related expenses — HiHERBHBRASZ —
short-term leases FEHAHE 739 276
Gain on disposal of property, plantand  HE&E¥E « BE k&G
equipment Weas (13) -
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREEESE 22 -
Write-off of inventories (included in FEZE(BEHEER
selling and distribution expenses) DEEFX) 210 46

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2023, cost of
inventories included approximately R\MB2,878,000 (2022:
approximately RMB2,767,000) relating to the aggregate
amount of certain staff costs, amortisation, depreciation
and other rental and related expenses, which were
included in the respective amounts as disclosed above.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

EERFETHRAESHFMURER
B =¥ & S #H

(a) EBERTETHAEHMH

Date of appointment as

Name Position the director of the Company
i Bifu BZAREANAESZAH
Mr. Zhang Shuguang Executive director and chairman of 3 August 2017
the Board of Directors
RENFA RITESREZSTR —Z—+F/\A=H
Mr. Zhang Chunguang Executive director and chief executive officer 3 August 2017
(Chief Executive)
RENLLE RITESEREFNTE ((THEAR) —Z—+t%/\A=H
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael Executive director and chief financial officer 3 August 2017
REELE RTESRARNBE —Z—+t%/\A=H
Mr. He Jiaming Executive director and business development 14 January 2020
director
AEAEE HTEZRFBERES —EEF-ATHAE
Mr. Chan Kin Sang Independent non-executive director 26 November 2018

R4S E

Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
BT A

Mr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph
BB

Ms. Chow Ching Man
Ei-y e s

BUFNTES

Independent non-executive director

BAFNTES

Independent non-executive director

BUFTES

Independent non-executive director

BAFNTES

“E-N\F+—-A=+/A

1 September 2020
“E_TFNA-H

16 December 2020
“ECTF+ZA+RH

2 August 2023
—T_=F/\AZH

EREYESIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration for
the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable
Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2023

8. EERFEMTHAEHFMURER
REHESHMNZ)

(a) EBREFETHRAEEHM(E)

BIEER E R B REE D RHES
BENFRESERLREBTHRAR
HBT -

BE-Z-_=ft+-HA=t+—HL

FE
Contributions
Salaries to defined
Directors' and other  Discretionary  contribution
fees benefits honuses plans Total
#eR TR
20k Hipf 24 EIE 5 it
RMB'000 RVB'000 RIVIB'000 RVIB000 RMB'000
ABRTL  ARETR  AREFT  AREFr  AREFx
Executive directors HHEE
Mr. Zhang Shuguang REELE - 259 144 76 479
Mr. Zhang Chunguang FEtEE - 314 300 89 703
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael ARERE - 703 36 30 769
Mr. He Jiaming EALE - 32 3 16 484
- 1,708 516 211 2435
Independent non-executive BV FEH/TEZE
directors
Mr. Chan Kin Sang Rttt % - - - %
Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary PETiE 9% - - - %
Mr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph AEELE % - - - %
Ms. Chow Ching Man Bl e 38 - - - 38
308 - - - 308
308 1,708 516 211 2,143
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 8.
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

EERFETHRAESHFMURER

REHESHMNZ)

(a) EBRFETHRAEHM(E)

Year ended 31 December 2022 Bz —F#+-_A=+—HIt
FE
Contributions
Salaries to defined
Directors' andother  Discretionary ~ contribution
fees benefits bonuses plans Total
EETUE Htrighl BTl SRl a5t
RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANEETT  AEETT  AEETT AREFT ARETI
Executive directors HiEZ
Mr. Zhang Shuguang iyt - P)) 300 69 621
Mr. Zhang Chunguang FELEE - 308 300 81 689
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael ARERAE - 897 34 28 959
Mr. He Jiaming RHEE - 414 34 16 464
- 1871 668 194 2733
Independent non-executive ~ BUAH/EE
directors
Mr. Chan Kin Sang RiELs 86 - - - 86
Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary PETEE 86 - - - 86
Mr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph FEBS & 86 - - - 86
258 . - - 258
258 1871 668 194 2,991
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

8. DIRECTORS’" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Mr. Zhang Chunguang’s emoluments disclosed
above included those for services rendered by
him as chief executive officer during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as directors of the Company.

Discretionary bonuses are determined based
on the results of the Group and individual
performance during both years.

During the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors of the Company as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office. There was
no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

EERFETHRAESHFMURER
REHESHMNZ)

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees (b) EEESHESR

The five highest paid employees of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023 included
four (2022: three) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out above. Details of the
remuneration of the remaining one (2022:
two) highest paid employees who are neither a
director of the Company nor chief executive of

BRE_T-_—F+-_HA=+—HI
FE  AEEREESFHEERE
MEZ(—F——F =ZE)EF ' &
E2HEMFBERER EX - Fgk
—H(ZF=——F : FE)BRIEERR
AESBNMFAEEETZETHAEN
A EE ZHMEFBLT ¢

the Group are as follows:

2023 2022

—E-=F —EF

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR¥Frr AREFor

Salaries and other benefits e REMEA 757 886

Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 63 360
Contributions to defined TE BB FET BT

contribution plans 49 97

869 1,343

HHBNF o F s Em %5 IE
EEATEBEDT

The number of these non-director individuals
whose emoluments fell within the following
emoluments band is as follows:

Number of individuals

AE
2023 2022
—EC-=4HF —=E-=
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £21,000,000/ 70 1 2
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

8. DIRECTORS’" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022, no remuneration was paid by the
Group to any of these highest paid non-director
individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as a compensation for
loss of office. There was no arrangement under
which any of these highest paid non-director
individuals waived or has agreed to waive
any emoluments during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

EERFTETHRAEHFMURER
REHESHMNZ)

(b) ZEBEHES(E)

HE_Z-_=FR-_FT-__F+=
A=+—HLFE TEEHMEX
NEHEMTEANZERSHHFEEA
TEAMAREB SR IMARER
BeRETHBEREE HET
IEERZTEF+ A=
HIEFE  BECAZERSHIE
EEATRBEANLHEREXRE
WEEFRME -

9. PSR

2023 2022
—E—= —E- 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARETT
Current tax B EA IE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax — A (S SEFTS R —
current year REEZ - 68

The Company and the subsidiaries incorporated
in the BVI are tax-exempted. Entity established in
the PRC is subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax
at a statutory rate of 25%. Since the Group’s PRC
subsidiary, Shenzhen Huakang is recognised as “High
and New Technology Enterprise” and therefore
is entitled to a concessional tax rate of 15%. The
entitlement of this tax benefit is subject to renewal
by respective tax bureau in the PRC every three years.
The latest approval for Shenzhen Huakang enjoying
this tax benefit was obtained in November 2023 for
the three years ending 15 November 2026.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the
Group had no assessable profit arising from Hong
Kong for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

9. PSR (&)

Reconciliation of income tax expense FRiS 6 X ¥ Bk
2023 2022
—E_-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT ARETT
Loss before tax BRA% AIE 1B (5,782) (3,007)
Income tax at applicable tax rate of B E25%
25% (2022: 25%) ZEZZF 25%)
STEBMEH (1,445) (752)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible S RIHIR B 2 B0 B 75
for tax purpose 7 2,002 il, 5715
Additional tax deduction on research B35 7 sz B N F00RK
and development expenses (Note) (H1az) (638) (623)
Effect of tax concession granted EEBEERNTE - (72)
Unrecognised tax losses RNERNIBEE 81 -
Income tax expense for the year FRERFX - 68
Note: Hiat -

The State Taxation Administrative of the PRC announced
in March 2021 that technology-based small and medium-
sized enterprises engaging in research and development
activities would be entitled to claim an additional 100%
of their research and development expenses as super
deduction. The directors of the Company consider the
eligibility of the PRC subsidiaries and recognise the

BRER

additional tax deduction for the year ended 31 December

2023 and 2022.

FEARENBRRREEE T _—F=
AEM « R ARK RN EERBETHEE
b - B EEKEEINM00% AT AN
FEERIEAMTNG - &
—E-_—FF+_A=Z1+—HIEFE  A2A
BERERE BRI HERTET AR INF AN

2R
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
Reconciliation of income tax expense (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, the Group has unused
estimated tax losses of approximately RMB325,000
(2022: Nil) arising from the PRC that would expire in
2028 and were available for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the respective subsidiary.

Unrecognised deferred tax liabilities

Under the relevant tax law and implementation
regulations in the PRC, withholding income tax
is applicable to dividend earned and payable to
investors that are “non-tax resident enterprises” in
respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiary since 1
January 2008, which do not have an establishment
or place of business in the PRC, or which have
such establishment or place of business but the
relevant income is not effectively connected with
the establishment or place of business, to the extent
such interest or dividends have their sources within
the PRC. Under such circumstances, dividends paid
by the PRC subsidiary to offshore group entities
shall be subject to the withholding tax at 10%
or a lower treaty rate. The Group is subject to
withholding tax in relation to the dividend paid by
the PRC subsidiary. As the Company has decided
not to declare any dividends from undistributed
earnings of the PRC subsidiary amounting to
approximately RMB47,441,000 (2022: approximately
RMB47,188,000) as at 31 December 2023 to the
immediate holding company of the PRC subsidiary in
the foreseeable future, no deferred tax liability has
been recognised in respect of these undistributed
earnings during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

No provision for deferred taxation has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as there were
no significant temporary differences arising during
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 or at
the end of each reporting period.
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10. LOSS PER SHARE

11.

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

10.

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following

BRER

ARRHEB ABIEERERNERNE
TYERA T &R

data:
2023 2022
—EB-=F . S—
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETFT AREFT
Loss: EiE
Loss for the year attributable to owners st EFREAREE
of the Company for the purpose of mEARRIEB A
basic loss per share JEIRFAEE (5,782) (3,075)
Number of shares: REEE :
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FtatEEEAEIE
shares of the Company in issue for the  MEAAAIEHEITE
purpose of basic loss per share AR ANAE 9K 415,962,411 404,638,970

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per
share as the effect of potential ordinary shares is
anti-dilutive during the years ended 31 December

2023 and 2022.

DIVIDENDS

11.

No dividend was paid or declared by the Company
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, nor has any dividend been proposed since the

end of each reporting period.

HE_T_=Ffk-_FT__F+=H
=+—HLFE BaREERAFBE
RESERE - NFREEHBERTRE
KNEEAER -

3=\

HE_T_="Fk-_F-__F+=H
=+—HIEFE  ARABERENHE
RS - RESWMERRITERZ
IKHERAR S -
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Year ended 31 December 2023 &HZ—Z - =F+_A=+—HILtFE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% - BERRE
Leasehold Plant and Office Motor
improvements machinery  equipment vehicles Total
BENXEE  HEREH W% RE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANBEFT  ARETT  AREFT  AERETT AREFT
cost S
t 1 January 2022 A\ —%-A-H 5,565 10,019 2,553 1,610 19,747
Additions B 178 454 17 = 649
Exchange realignment A - - - 19 19
At 31 December 2022 and T
1 January 2023 +-A=+-Bk
“T-=%#-A-H 5743 10,473 2,570 1,629 20,415
Additions AE = 1,13 79 310 1,502
Disposals e - - - (400) (400)
Written off s (404) - - - (404)
Exchange realignment AR - - - 7 7
At 31 December 2023 RZE==%+ZR
=t-H 5339 11,586 2,649 1,546 21,120
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ B3+ E R fER &
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
1 January 2022 R-E-—%-F—-H 2,538 6,878 892 750 11,058
Provided for the year $¢T BE 590 656 385 147 1,778
Exchange realignment AR - - - 7 7
At 31 December 2022 and A —
1 January 2023 TZA=t-Bk
“2-=%-8-H 3,128 7,534 1,277 904 12,843
Provided for the year AEERE 590 483 364 163 1,600
Disposals LE - = - (400) (400)
Wiitten off 7 (404) - - - (404)
Exchange realignment AR - - - 3 3
At 31 December 2023 R=B=zf
+=A=1-H 3314 8,017 1,641 670 13,642
CARRYING VALUES ,EEETE
At 31 December 2023 ZE-=F+CR
_‘I' = 2,025 3,569 1,008 876 7478
At 31 December 2022 R-F-—%+-f
=1-H 2,615 2,939 1,293 725 1572
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13.

12. Y15 - BMERRBE)

(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment Ltz - BEREREEER TR T 5IE
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the BIABAEITE :
following periods:
Leasehold improvements 5 years to 10 years or HEMEEE hETF
over the lease period REEHR
Plant and machinery 5 years to 10 years RS K2tk hETHF
Office equipment 5 years to 10 years AR RETF
Motor vehicles 5 years B hEF
LEASES 13. HE
At At
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
R-BZ=HF R-T__F
+=A +=A
=+—H =t—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Right-of-use assets (Note (a)) EREEE(H@a) 2,267 696
Lease liabilities (Note (b)) HES/HZDb)
Current BIEA 1,111 410
Non-current JERNHA 1,177 59
2,288 469
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Year ended 31 December 2023 &HZ—Z - =F+_A=+—HILtFE

13. LEASES (Continued) 13. HE(#)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EAEE
Factories
Motor and office
vehicles premises Total
IHR
AE O BRAEYE D
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AEETT ARETT ARETT

Reconciliation of carrying  BREIE %R

amount - year ended -BE-2-=F
31 December 2022 +ZBA=+—-HLEE
At 1 January 2022 R-ZZE-_—_F—H—H 326 1,338 1,664
Depreciation e (108) (860) (968)
At 31 December 2022 i S—
+=-A=+—-H 218 478 696
Reconciliation of carrying  RREI{E¥ER
amount - year ended -BE-Z-=F
31 December 2023 +t=ZBA=t—HLEE
At 1 January 2023 R-ZZ2-_=%—H—H 218 478 696
Additions RE - 2,646 2,646
Disposals HeE (173) - (173)
Depreciation e (45) (857) (902)
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F
+=-A=+—8” - 2,267 2,267
At 31 December 2022 N-BE-—F
tTZA=t-H
Cost %N 542 2,746 3,288
Accumulated depreciation REHE (324) (2,268) (2,592)
218 478 696
At 31 December 2023 R-BZ=%
tZA=t-H
Cost BEN - 2,646 2,646
Accumulated depreciation 2t E - (379) (379)
- 2,267 2,267
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

13. LEASES (Continued) 13. HE (&)
(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (a) ERHEEEZE)
The Group leases certain of its factories and REBHES THRERFAMFER
office premises for its operation. The lease RiEZ - HEGHEFIY - BIEF
contract is entered into for fixed term of 2 years - (ZF-—F: —FHF)-

(2022: 2 to 5 years).

The total cash outflow for leases (including HE—_T-_=F+-A=+—H1I1t
other rental and related expenses) for the year FE - HENRESREAE(RE
ended 31 December 2023 were approximately HMmEEREERS) NABARYK
RMB1,623,000 (2022: approximately 1,623,000C( = &E=—4F : AK
RMB1,564,000). #1,564,0007T) °
Certain leases impose a restriction that, unless ATHEER—BRSG - RIFES
the approval is obtained from the lessor, the EHEARE - BRIGHAEEEER
right-of-use asset can only be used by the AAEEFER WA FAEEN
Group and the Group is prohibited from selling EREAEEEE -
or pledging the underlying assets.

(b) Commitments and present value of lease (b) HEEBHNAERAE
liabilities

Present value of

Lease payments lease payments

HEMNK HENRNERE

At 31 December At 31 December

R+=ZA=+—H Rt+=ZA=1+—H
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=F —E—— —E-=F —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL ARETT AREFrT  ARKTZ

Amounts payable: FERRUE -
Within 1 year —FR 1,197 424 1,11 410
More than 1 year but within BB —%
2 years BORME 1,208 60 1177 59
2,405 484 2,288 469
Less: future finance charges & : KREIHEH (117) (15)
2,288 469
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

14. EREE

Development

costs
BE KA
RMB’000
ARBTFT
cosT TEN
At 1 January 2022 R-ZTE-—F—H—H 5,041
Additions NE 162
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R=-_Z-—F+-H=+—H
;r=ZF=-_=F—H—H 5,203
Additions R -
At 31 December 2023 HN= F+=-H=+—8 5,203
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION HETEH
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—_F—H—H 1,998
Provided for the year NEERME 394
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-ZT-_—F+-_F=+—H
MZE_=F—H—H 2,392
Provided for the year REFR A 677
At 31 December 2023 R-EBE_=%+-H=+—H 3,069
CARRYING VALUES BRTEIE
At 31 December 2023 N-EBE-_=%+=-H=+—H 2,134
At 31 December 2022 RZB-_—_F+=-A=+—8H 2,811

Development costs are internally generated at the

BHRAARTINEREERABELE - IR

development phase and amortised on a straight-line SERNIRESEEE - EHBRBETR
basis over 5 years. This asset is tested for impairment W ZIBEEAETREAR -

where an indicator of impairment appears.

The Group has no intangible assets yet to be RZEZ=FR-_F__F+_H

available for use at 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 15. A—BEBE QT WERS
2023 2022
—ZT—= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Share of net assets DMEBEFE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had interests in
the following associate:

Principal place

RZZE_=F+-A=+—0 F~&E
KA E N R AR

Proportion of

of business Paid-up  value of issued
and place of issued  capital held by
Name of associate incorporation capital the Company Principal activities
TEERBE FAEFRHERT
HENRAB R M 3 B BRRA RAEELG FEXREH
Smartronic Limited (“Smartronic”)  Hong Kong HK$100,000 49%  Sales of healthcare
(2022: (Note) products and
HK$100,000) (2022: 49%) supplements
BERINBRAR([BEERIND) B 100,000 7T 49% HERFERK
it Sl 2 (Het)  RiEm
100,000%7T) —FE-
49%)
Note: Btat -

On 3 June 2020, the Group entered into a shareholders’
agreement with an independent third party to acquire
Smartronic with nil identifiable assets, pursuant to which
the Group and the independent third party held as to 49%
and 51%, respectively.

KRB -ZTEA=H  AEEEBIFE=
RIS R R Hpas - AT E A RIEE 2
BRI B AEBBEBIE=F DR
B 49% 2 51% 2 BHE »

EREYESIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

199



200

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The associate is accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.
There are no capital commitment and contingent
liabilities in relation to Smartronic.

Relationship with associate

Smartronic is engaged in sales of healthcare products
and supplements in PRC and HK through the cross-
border e-commerce platforms and other platforms
and channels, which could allow the Group to
benefit from Smartronic’s operations.

Fair value of investment

Smartronic is not listed and there is no quoted
market price available for the investment.

Financial information of associate

Summarised financial information of the associate
of the Group is set out below, which represents
amounts shown in the associate’s financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs and
adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purpose
including any differences in accounting policies and
fair value adjustments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE T - =F+_-A=1+—HIFE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 15. R—REBE AR ER (&)

2023 2022
—E-=5 —E—F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMTFrT AREFTT
Gross amounts L EE
Current assets MENEE 3,547 4,806
Current liabilities mEaE (7,383) (7,180)
Net liabilities BEFEHE (3.836) (2,374)
Included in above: FPAL#IER -
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEY 31 17
Reconciliation #HE
Gross amount of net liabilities FEERR (3.836) (2,374)
Group's ownership interests and REEZBEEERK
voting rights R 49% 49%

Carrying amount of the Group'’s
ownership interests

REBZ AR
RREE

EREYESIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 15.

R—EBE D aNERE)

2023 2022
—ZT—= —E - —F
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Gross amounts AL EE
Revenue & 1,105 117
Loss and total comprehensive expense FABEREZH

for the year i #58 (1,367) (1,213)
There are no share of loss of the associate to the HE—_ZT—-= —E-__F+—_H

Group during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022. The unrecognised share of loss of the
associate for the year ended 31 December 2023
and cumulatively up to the end of the reporting
period amounted to approximately RMB670,000
(2022: RMB594,000) and RMB1,796,000 (2022:
RMB1,126,000), respectively.
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RERZ DL E R BEBED BN AA
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

16. CONSIDERATION PAID FOR ACQUISITION

*

OF EQUITY INVESTMENT

16. RS REREVHIHE

2023 2022
—E—-= —E-_F
RMB000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
Consideration paid for acquisition of S AR IR & 2 AT
equity investment HE - 1,900

On 19 December 2022, Shenzhen Huakang, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the
“Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with Shenzhen
Maxson Technology Development Company
Limited*, (the “Vendor”), pursuant to which the
Vendor agreed to sell, and Shenzhen Huakang
agreed to purchase, 19% equity interest in Hainan
Jinnuosai Medical Technology Company Limited*
(“Hainan Jinnuosai”), a company incorporated in
the PRC with limited liability and is principally
engaged in the manufacturing and sale of
anoectochillus formosanus extractive (“AFE")
products and related supplements in the PRC, at a
cash consideration of RMB1,900,000. The Group
had fully paid the consideration directly to Hainan
Jinnuosai on 19 December 2022 as paid-up capital in
accordance with the Sale and Purchase Agreement
and Shenzhen Huakang had become shareholder of
Hainan Jinnuosai after registration with relevant
authorities in the PRC. Details of the transaction are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 6
January 2023, 7 February 2023 and 9 February 2023.

English translation is for identification purpose only

EREDESER

RZE-_—_F+_A+hB  ARFME
E2EMBARIRYIERE - BEREIImE
KEFERERAR(ERIVESR
wE((BEEHR])  BEEREHFRE
HEmMR)ERAEEESHEHER
BRI AERAA ([ SEE€#HE])19%
B - ZARRPBEFERK 2 ERA
A TEAEFRENERERBEESR
EIRIW([AFE]) Em RIE@ERETHE -
BEKREAARY1,900,0007T - A&
BEREBEEEH#ER_ZE_—_F+_A
THhREERSHEHAEEBR Y
BEREWRER  MHBEEHERNE
ik RNEREKASHEHEENR
R o BEARSHFBIHNARRBHAS
T_=F—AA ZZE_=F"A+
BR-—ZE-=F"ANHNAE -

B PR 22 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

16. CONSIDERATION PAID FOR ACQUISITION

OF EQUITY INVESTMENT (Continued)

On 9 February 2023, Shenzhen Huakang and the
Vendor entered into a supplemental agreement to
the Sale and Purchase Agreement to amend and
supplement certain conditions (the “Conditions”)
of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to
which if the conditions are not fulfilled on or before
30 June 2023, the Vendor shall refund to Shenzhen
Huakang the consideration of RMB1,900,000 and
Shenzhen Huakang shall return to the Vendor the
19% equity interest in Hainan Jinnuosai.

On 30 June 2023, Shenzhen Huakang and the
Vendor entered into a second supplemental
agreement to the Sale and Purchase Agreement,
pursuant to which, it was agreed that the date which
the Conditions shall be fulfilled be changed from
“on or before 30 June 2023"” to “on or before 31
December 2023". Save for the extension of the date
to fulfill the Conditions, all other terms, conditions
and provisions in the Sale and Purchase Agreement
remain unchanged. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 30 June 2023.

The Vendor is a company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liability and is principally engaged in
sales of healthcare foods and supplements in the
PRC. The Vendor is controlled by one of the ultimate
beneficial owners of Hainan Jinnuosai who is also
one of the directors of the Company’s former
controlling shareholder and one of the ultimate
beneficial owners of Smartronic.

The consideration paid was guaranteed by a deed
of personal guarantee executed by Mr. Zhang
Shuguang in favor of the Group on 21 March 2023.
Mr. Zhang Shuguang is a director and substantial
shareholder of the Company.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

CONSIDERATION PAID FOR ACQUISITION
OF EQUITY INVESTMENT (Continued)

The Conditions were not yet fulfilled up to 31
December 2023 and no further extension of the
date to fulfill the Conditions was subsequently
agreed, the Vendor should refund to Shenzhen
Huakang the consideration of RMB1,900,000 and
Shenzhen Huakang should return to Vendor the
19% equity interest in Hainan Jinnuosai. As such,
the consideration paid for acquisition of equity
investment of RMB1,900,000 was presented as
refundable consideration paid and included in Note
19 to the consolidated financial statements.

On 11 March 2024, the Group issued a legal letter
to demand the Vendor to make immediate refund of
the consideration of RMB1,900,000.

16. RUISREREVHHEE)

ZEBGEEE B =F+-_A=+—
BrRENK - BEBLIFE—TREL
REKGMHEOBE - EHERRYIZER
RZRERARK1,900,0007T & EI
EREREHIREI9% SHEHENR
1 o At - BUSIRIBIRE TR EE
AR #1,900,000tEFHE£%) AR R D
EXHE - BIEESREWBRRERME
19 o

RZZBE-WNE=/A+—H » XEFZT
EREKHBERE A VAREREBARKE
1,900,0007T °

INVENTORIES 17. ZE
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ANRETFT AEEFIT
Raw materials EA R 2,262 1,790
Finished goods SIRK mm 1,133 1,326
3,395 3,116

EREMEBER
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES

18. E5 EWFIEA

2023 2022
—ZT—= —E - —F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTFrTr AREFTT
Trade receivables from third parties EWE=RZE5
FEW IR 15,468 13,841
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEEEE (5,785) (4,371)
9,683 9,470

In general, the Group will request deposits from
the customers before the goods are delivered and
the amount of deposits requested varies amongst
different contracts. For certain long-term customers,
the Group will deliver the goods without requesting
deposits and allow a credit period from 30 to 180
days (2022: 30 to 180 days) to these customers and
there is no credit period granted to other customers. EE8 - NI ARERR
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
(net of allowance for credit losses) presented based

on the dates of delivery of goods.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

18. EZ WA (E)

2023 2022

—ZT—= —E - —F

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥For AREF T

0-30 days 0£30K 1,419 1,530
31-90 days 31£90K 2,786 2,742
91-180 days 91£180K 2,561 2,579
Over 181 days HBiE181K 2,917 2,619
9,683 9,470

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s
trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of approximately RMB8,607,000
(2022: approximately RMBS8,277,000) which are past
due as at the end of reporting date. Out of the past
due balances, approximately RMB4,761,000 (2022:
approximately RMB4,646,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default by
considering the historical payment arrangement of
these trade receivables. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables
are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

R_E—_=F+-_A=+—8 AR
SEBESEWRFBEHRARRAELY
A ARYS,607,000t(—F=-—F : 4
AR#8,277,000T) EWFRIE » %%
HRBERRERRGE - ZF8 4
gRR - YA RE4,761,0000( ZF ==
F : A K 14,646,0007T) E B HI90K
K HBIBIOK BT K% EE 5 EWFIR
FIBENRELH - THRBEL - A&
B EmBZ S ERITE T EAR -

BRAE 2 UG BER G IR
BB HRKRMTE30
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

19. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

9. HttBEIWFIE - RERFANKE

PREPAYMENTS

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Fr AEEFIT
Advance payment to suppliers TN EEBRK 735 1,074
Other prepaid expenses H 2 BNRX 604 261
Loan receivable (Note) FEWE R (H152) 3,800 3,800
Loan interest receivable (Note) e E SRF B (HT7E) 226 7

Refundable consideration paid mREIE X NEE(ME16)

(Note 16) 1,900 —
Rental and other deposits Me kHMize 130 151
Other receivables H b fEURIE 377 2,052

7,772 7,345
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEEEE (349) -
7,423 7,345

Note:

On 20 December 2022, Shenzhen Huakang entered into a
loan agreement with Hainan Jinnuosai, pursuant to which
Shenzhen Huakang agreed to grant an unsecured loan in
the principal amount of RMB3,800,000 with maturity date
on 19 December 2023 and bearing interest at the rate of
5.75% per annum as amended and supplemented by a
supplemental loan agreements dated 9 February 2023. The
loan was subsequently guaranteed by a deed of personal
guarantee executed by Mr. Zhang Shuguang in favor of
the Group on 21 March 2023. Mr. Zhang Shuguang is a
director and substantial shareholder of the Company.

On 11 March 2024, the Group issued a legal letter to
demand Hainan Jinnuosai to make immediate repayment
of loan and loan interest receivables.

On 21 March 2024, the Group subsequently entered into
a repayment arrangement with Hainan Jinnuosai and the
Vendor, pursuant to which Hainan Jinnuosai will repay the
outstanding balance of loan receivable and loan interest
receivable and refundable consideration paid on behalf
of the Vendor by instalments up to 31 December 2025.
A subsequent instalment of RMB200,000 was received by
the Group on 26 March 2024.
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20.

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

Details of the provision of loan were set out in the
Company’'s announcements dated 6 January 2023,
7 February 2023 and 9 February 2023.

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are
set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances are carrying interest at prevailing
market rate at the end of each reporting period
and the bank balances and cash that are not
denominated in the functional currency of the
relevant group entities are as follows:

19.

20.

HBERME RERBENKIE
(%)

Kiet - (&)
REEFRNFRENARRRH/-_F ==

F£—HAKNB ZEBEZ=F-A+tBKR=Z
et = = A W == /N

H fth fE W ZORME LG SR B EUA 4R A B IS SRR
MizE30 ©

RITEBRRE

RITREBNZHREHRILZRITHIZN R
AFERAIFFEEREEERESR
BEZRITRBEREMT

2023 2022

—E_-= —EoF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AREFT

Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$") B([#x]) 39 763
United State Dollars (“US$") FE([Ex]) 4,604 5,886
Canadian Dollars (“CAD") mngeAX(mrxl) 36 71

As at 31 December 2023, bank balances that
were placed with banks in the PRC amounted to
approximately RMB32,846,000 (2022: approximately
RMB32,469,000). Remittance of funds out of the
PRC is subject to the exchange controls imposed by
the PRC government.

The Group performed impairment assessment on
bank balances and concluded that the probability of
defaults of the counterparty banks are insignificant
and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is
provided for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

R-_EBE-_=F+_A=+—H W
RAARREMRITZIRITERDABARE
32,846,000 C( = F = —4F : HARK
32,469,0007T) - B E LR BEKER
EI| R B BT B9 SN HE IR TE PR 1)

REEEIRITHEBRETREFTGELRE
HFEFRITELON A EEMTEY - B
M BE B =R —F+—
A=T—HLFE  SEREEER
B -
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

21. TRADE PAYABLES

In general, the Group will make advance payment to
suppliers before the materials are received. Some of
the suppliers may deliver the materials to the Group
without requesting advance payment and a credit
period ranged from 30 to 90 days (2022: 30 to 90
days) is granted by these suppliers. The following is
an aging analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date:

21. EZENRIA

BE - ANEESEEUSMERRHEERS
AR - SR EE ] EEF AN K
BB T B RS TASE - Wik
NFIOAREOKR(ZFE-—F : 30Xk F
90X)Z (=B - ERNBEZAHNES
FERTFIBRRRER TN T ¢

2023 2022
—ZT—= —E - —F
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETFT ARETT

0-30 days 0Z30% 13 77
31-90 days 31290 93 67
Over 90 days FB3EI0K 532 685

638 829
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE T - =F+_-A=1+—HIFE

22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

22. HWERFIEREFTE A

2023 2022
—E—= —E -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFT AREFT
Other accrual and payables Efth T &R RER
HIE 3,434 2,292
Payables for purchase of property, WHEMZE - BE &
plant and equipment AP FRIE 1,140 1,140
Salaries payables iANE = 3,358 2,420
7,932 5,852
Other payables and accrued charges that are not WIEREREEEREEETECE
denominated in the functional currency of the ffER RIBE R ETE R ¢
relevant group entities are as follows:
2023 2022
—EB-=HF . S—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARETT
HK$ BT 3,051 1,749
CAD i 100 40

EREYESIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

3. AR

2023 2022
—Zg== -4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Contract liabilities regarding sales of HEEYRAE -
biological reagents, auxiliary reproductive #Bh A & F S MR &
supplies and equipment and healthcare LA K f@ 2 2 fn SR (R 2
products and supplements mZatBaE 552 1,267

When the Group receives a deposit before delivery
of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities at
the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised
when the goods are (i) delivered to the customers’
warehouse on which the customers obtain control
of the goods or (ii) collected by the customers
directly from the Group’s warehouse, as appropriate.
The amount of deposits requested varies amongst
different contracts. The decrease in contract liabilities
in the current year was mainly attributable to
decrease in contract activities in healthcare products
and supplements segment.

The contract liabilities amounting to approximately
RMB1,267,000 and RMB2,171,000 as at 1 January
2023 and 2022 were recognised as revenue in profit
or loss for years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
respectively. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the contract liabilities as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 are expected to be recognised as
revenue within 12 months and therefore classified as
current liabilities.
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25.

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

DEFERRED INCOME - GOVERNMENT
GRANTS

The Group received grants from the PRC government
authorities for funding of acquisitions of plant and
equipment for conducting research and development
of the biological reagents which benefits the society
as a whole. The relevant deferred income would be
amortised over periods ranging from 5 to 10 years
which represented the useful lives of the relevant
assets.

RSB RS N2 5%
BT - HENE

24. EEW A — BUFFEBY

AEEATEBF#ERE O IIH
RIEBENETEDR
TR - B
BEIEW A RGPS E10F NS - BNE R
BEMAIERFE -

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Fr AEEFIT

Analysed for reporting purposes as: HmEBNATAT
Non-current liabilities ERBAE 23 38
Current liabilities mMEEE 15 15
38 53

AMOUNT DUE TO AN ASSOCIATE

S GE

The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The employees of Shenzhen Huakang are members
of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the PRC government. The Group is
required to contribute certain percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make
the specified contributions.

The Group also participate the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme"”) under the rules
and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority in Hong Kong. The Group's
eligible employees are required to join the MPF
Scheme. The Group has followed the minimum
statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible
employees’ relevant aggregated income with a cap
of HK$1,500 per employee per month.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
approximately RMB2,286,000 (2022 approximately
RMB2,075,000) for the year ended 31 December
2023, represents contributions payable to these
plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of
the plans.

As at 31 December 2023, contributions which had
not been paid over to the plans amounted to Nil
(2022: Nil).
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting
on 13 January 2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”).
The Share Option Scheme is a long-term incentive
scheme of the Company to reward its employees,
Directors and other eligible participants for their
contributions to the Group and to assist the Group
in its recruitment and retention of high caliber
employees and other eligible participants who are
instrumental to the growth and development of the
Group.

The total number of shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other
shares option schemes of the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
shares in issue on the date which the Share Option
Scheme is approved, which is 40,000,000 shares
(“Scheme Limit”). The maximum number of shares
issued and issuable to each eligible person under the
Scheme in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the total number of shares of the Company
in issue as at proposed grant date. Any further grant
of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their associates, are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive directors.
In addition, any share options granted to an
independent non-executive director or a substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue at any time and with
an aggregate value (based on the closing price of
the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5,000,000 within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

On 9 April 2020, the Company announced the
granting of an aggregate of 26,008,000 share
options, subject to the acceptance by the grantees,
at an exercise price of HK$0.125 per share of the
Company to the eligible person under the Share
Option Scheme. The market price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant was HK$0.125 per share.
All of the share options are exercisable from the date
of acceptance by a grantee to 8 April 2030 (both
days inclusive). Each of the grantees has paid HK$1
to the Company on acceptance of the offer of share
option.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE T - =F+_-A=1+—HIFE

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 27. IBRRESTEI(E)
The movement during the year and the share options FREPYIN T =F+=A=+—
outstanding as at 31 December 2023 were as B RARITEBERENERAT
follows:
Number of share options
BhREHA
As at Granted Exercised Forfeited As at
1 January during during during 31 December
2023 the period the period the period 2023
R=B==f R-B-=&
Category of the grantees A& AEHI -A-A REREL R REREE T-A=1-A
Executive Directors YTES
Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Note) ~ REN E4E(H:2) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. Zhang Chunquang (Note) K& J5E4(Ait) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Note) BEB %4 (#:#) 4,000,000 - (4,000,000) - -
Mr. He Jiaming (Note) nRREEWE) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Other employees (Note) EtET (2 7,504,000 - - - 7,504,000
Total st 23,504,000 - (4,000,000) - 19,504,000
The movement during the year and the share options FRNEHENR_E_—_F+_A=1+—
outstanding as at 31 December 2022 were as HRARITEBERENERAT
follows:
Number of share options
BiREN A
As at Granted Exercised Forfeited As at
1 January during during during 31 December
2022 the period the period the period 2022
RWZB-—F S
Category of the grantees &% AR —A-H RERE RERT(E RmRY  +=A=+-A
Executive Directors YTES
Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Note) ~ REEXEE (M) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. Zhang Chunguang (Note) ~ REX £ (/) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Note) E1EE %4 (#i) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. He Jiaming (Note) AL EWR) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Other employees (Note) ~ EtET(#ii7) 7,504,000 - - - 7,504,000
Total @t 23,504,000 - - - 23,504,000
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Note:

The closing price of the shares immediately before the
date on which the options were granted during the year
ended 31 December 2020 is HK$0.125. The exercise price
is HK$0.125. The exercise period during which the options
may be exercised is the period from the date of acceptance
to 8 April 2030 (both days inclusive). The date of grant was
9 April 2020.

On 18 August 2023, 4,000,000 options were
exercised under the Share Option Scheme when the
market price of the shares was HK$0.16.

No share options had been granted or forfeited
during the year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31
December 2023, the number of shares in respect
of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding was 19,504,000 (2022: 23,504,000).

No share options had been granted, exercised or
forfeited during the year ended 31 December 2022.

All the existing share options of the Company are
vested upon granting.

The fair values of share options determined at the
date of grant using the Binomial Option Pricing
Model was at HK$0.1125 per option, with the
following key inputs:

The following assumptions were used to calculate
the fair values of share option:

Share price at the date of grant HK$0.125
Exercise price HK$0.125
Expected life 10 years
Expected volatility 103.1%
Dividend yield Nil
Risk-free interest rate 0.778%
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Year ended

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

28.

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used
to estimate the fair value of the share options.
The value of the share options is subject to the
limitation of the Binomial Option Pricing Model and

31 December 2023 HEZE—F - =F+_A=+—HILFE

27. BBRESTEI(E)

“IEABBREEERA ARG ER
2 nHE - BiREZEER ZIANE
PBEEBEANRS RZHATE AN
ENRRRR - TEHAERRNE

a number of assumptions which are subjective and SHEHRTEGEENEATE -
difficult to ascertain. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions could materially effect the fair value
estimate.
SHARE CAPITAL 28. g7
Number Equivalent to
of share HK$ RMB000
HER
Ri&A AT AEETT
Authorised: EE
At 31 December 2022 and RZE-F+-ZA=+t-HRK
31 December 2023 “E-=F+-A=1-H 1,000,000,000 10,000,000 8,851
Issued and fully paid ordinary ~ BR0.0MBRTZCETRARLER
shares at HK$0.01 per share:
1 January 2022 AT~ —#—F—H 400,000,000 4,000,000 3,509
Issue of shares upon placing RERETRD(Wite)
(Note (a)) 14,472,000 144,720 128
At 31 December 2022 and RIZZZF+-A=1t-HRK
1 January 2023 “Z-=F-A-A 414,472,000 4,144,720 3,637
Issue of shares upon exercise of  {T{EREMEMEITRD(Hitb)
share options (Note (b)) 4,000,000 40,000 37
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=#+-A=1-A 418,472,000 4,184,720 3,674

EREMEBER
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

On 29 July 2022, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent, pursuant to which
the Company has conditionally agreed to place,
through the placing agent, up to 30,000,000 placing
shares to not less than six independent placees at
the placing price of HK$0.18 per placing share. The
placing was completed on 6 September 2022 and
total of 14,472,000 placing shares have successfully
been placed. The net proceeds of approximately
HK$2,580,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB2,305,000) of which approximately HK$145,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB128,000) was
credited to the Company’s equity under share
capital and the remaining balance of approximately
HK$2,435,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB2,177,000) was credit to the Company’s equity
under share premium. The placing shares rank pari
passu with all existing shares in all respects.

On 18 August 2023, a total of 4,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon exercise
of 4,000,000 share options at the exercise price
of HK$0.125 per share option. The difference
of approximately HK$460,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB430,000) between the proceeds
from exercise of share options of approximately
HK$500,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB467,000) and the nominal value of share capital
of the Company issued of approximately HK$40,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB37,000) was
recognised in share premium account. The relevant
share option reserve of approximately HK$450,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB409,000) was
transferred to the share premium account under the
equity.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

29. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from the current and prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, accumulated profits and other
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure regularly. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and new share issues as well as
the issue of new debt.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
consideration paid for acquisition of equity
investment, trade receivables, other receivables, bank
balances and cash, trade payables, other payables
and accrued charges, amount due to an associate
and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risks (currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and impairment assessment and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Annual Report 2023 &%

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30. €@ T A
Categories of financial instruments SRIAER
2023 2022
—ZT—= - —F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMTFrTr AREFTT
Financial assets at amortised cost HREIENAGTEZ
S RIEE 48,702 50,683
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REENAGTE
SRIBE 10,348 6,138
Financial risk management objectives and BRREEEERBE
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SEHE - BHRWGIR - iR
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk
Currency risk

The Group has certain trade receivables, other
receivables, bank balances and cash, other payables
and accrued charges and lease liabilities which are
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities which
exposed the Group to foreign exchange risk. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as

EWMIAE)
BEAREEERRBER(E)

S Ak
EEmE

AEBEETESEKFIR - HivfElk
FRIE - RITEHBRIBS U R H A B R
BREFEAUREEABEUSESE
FRENEEBUINNEE - AmMSAE
B mERlE SRR o AEERRE RN
INBSHEEMEERERAEBEZRA
BT :

follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE =L
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=F —T-—F ZTZ=HF —T-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMFT AREFT AR¥FrT AREFT
HK$ BT 530 1,976 3,051 1,922
us$ == 4,604 5,886 - —

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the management
of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arises.

7 £% B35 B 3 S AR BB SE PR © A
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed currency risk related to
HK$ and US$. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding monetary items which are denominated
in HK$ and US$ and adjusts its translation at the end
of the reporting date for a 5% and 5% change in
HK$ and US$ exchange rates, respectively. 5% (2022:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The analysis below illustrates the
impact for a 5% and 5% strengthening of the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
against HK$ and US$ and a positive number below
indicates an increase in post-tax loss, respectively. For
a 5% and 5% weakening of the functional currency
of the relevant group entities against the HK$ and
US$, respectively, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the loss and the number below
would be negative.

30. @ T A(#)

BEEREEERRBER(E)

miEER(E)
E¥ER (&)

BRRE DT
AEEFZREBTMETHBAERR
R o MERE D ITEBIEAB TTFZETS
BERRGEEERIER - WEREHRD
B B8 B 125% 8 ST 5% 3 T IE &
BOETRERE - AFFEAS%(=ZF
TCF 5% )MBRELERRATEEE
BATHmEINER R - REEERINE
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DR TEEEEEREE, BT
METDRIFAES%M5%ATE KT
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EEBIEE B TANETS BEE
5%7F15% @ BEAeXEFEERTFER
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Increase in post-tax loss

RRBLE B IE N
2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETFT
HK$ BT 107 2
Us$ 3£ 196 271
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances (Note 20).

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of prevailing market
interest rates on bank balances. The Group currently
does not have any interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need
arises.

Total interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

30. @ T A(#)

BEAREEERRBER(E)

misEE(E)
T E

REEFEAERRTBRITAER(ME
20) 2B MEN AR

AEENRERENZEREIESETR
RITHERNBITHISHRKE) - AEH
B A BRI A R SRR - A - R
KBS EBEEMNERE BRI N T R
ZREPEANREAR ©

SR R RS B Y S BE A Y RIS
WA BT -

2023 2022
—E—-= T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRMTFrT AREFIT
Financial assets at amortised cost BREENAGTEZ
TREE 404 402
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the expected change in interest rate will not have
significant impact on the interest income from
variable-rate bank balances, hence sensitivity analysis
is not presented.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge the obligations by counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets, including trade
receivables, other receivables and bank balances as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the end of each reporting period.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is in the PRC, which
accounted for 96% (2022: 95%) of the total trade
receivables as at 31 December 2023.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 10%
(2022: 11%) and 31% (2022: 35%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers, respectively.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group is responsible for determination of
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The Group also requests deposits
from certain customers prior to goods delivery. In
addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade balances based on
provision matrix. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Other receivables

Except for other receivables in respect of loan
and loan interest receivables and refundable
consideration paid were identified to have significant
increase in credit risk, the management of the Group
considers that the financial assets included in other
receivables have low credit risk based on its strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term and low risk of default. Impairment
on other receivables is measured on 12-month ECL
and reflects the short maturities of the exposures.

EEENBRRE
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

In estimating the ECL, the management of the Group
has taken into account the historical actual credit
loss experience over the past years and the financial
position of the counterparties, adjusted for forward-
looking factors that are specific to the debtors and
general economic conditions of the industry in
which the counterparties operate, in estimating the
probability of default of these financial assets, as
well as the loss upon default in each case. Except
for other receivables in respect of loan and loan
interest receivables and refundable consideration
paid were identified to have significant increase in
credit risk, and impairment losses of approximately
RMB349,000 (2022: Nil) were recognised during the
year ended 31 December 2023, the management of
the Group considers the ECL of other receivables to
be insignificant after taking into account the financial
position and credit quality of the counterparties.
There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

Bank balances

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk on bank balances are
significantly reduced.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

30. @ T A (&)

Financial risk management objectives and MERBEEEZERBEEKE)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment SER BB EFNG(E)
(Continued)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment REERAEEE R DR EEIE A
comprises the following categories: T4aR
Internal credit Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
assessment
BB E G it B 5 BWEE HihSREE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk  Lifetime ECL — not credit-  12m ECL
of default and has on-going impaired
business relationship with
the Group with good credit
rating or does not have any
past-due amounts.
Ve RHBFHENRRELR FHEBEEFE-BE 1R2EARPEESR
AEEEREXBBER ERE
EERRES - SEEM
BEATRE o
Normal risk Debtor frequently repays after  Lifetime ECL — not credit-  12m ECL
due dates but usually settle impaired
after due date.
ERRER BEAKRERIBAAREN - 2HEREEEE-BE 2EABRREEER
ERERIEE RS ERE
High risk There have been significant Lifetime ECL — not credit-  Lifetime ECL - not credit-
increases in credit risk since impaired impaired
initial recognition through
information developed
internally.
=ER FEERRBVSHERENAZ 2HEHEERE-BEF 2PRNGEEER-£E
BRI ERED AEIEM ERE ERE
Credit impaired There is evidence indicating the  Lifetime ECL - credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-
asset is credit-impaired. impaired impaired
HBREERE BURKRPEELREERE - 2HEHEEBRRE-LE 2PRHBEESE 1R
EERE FERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating Amount is written off Amount is written off
that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery.
2 AR RPEBABABREN  FIACH%H ACIRE LS

PR - A AKEKD
IR B
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30. @ T A(#)
BEEREEERRBER(E)

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment EERKRBEFG(Z)

(Continued)

TRREETERAGEEBENGNAS

The table below details the credit risk exposures of

the Group'’s financial assets which are subject to ECL

EEmMEENEERRFS

assessment:
Financial assets at Internal credit 12m or
amortised cost assessment lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
REBHERATEZ 12f8 A H 2 H
THEE R ER S E 7 A RHEEREE IREAE
2023 2022
—=E-= —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FrT AREFT
Trade receivables Note (a) Lifetime ECL 11,133 10,766
(provision matrix)
B 5 WA Hiit(a) > HIFE B E B 1R
(B fmreke)
Credit-impaired Lifetime ECL — 4,335 3,075
credit-impaired
HIREERIE EHTEREEEE —
HIREERIE
15,468 13,841
Other receivables Note (b) 12m ECL 507 6,010
HAb FENCRIE B (b) (PAEDSREETE =T ]
Not credit- Lifetime ECL — not 5,926 =
impaired credit-impaired
BEERIE >HRHI(EEEE —
BEERE
6,433 6,010
Total 21,901 19,851
et
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Notes:

(@) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors that are
credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL on
these items by using a provision matrix, grouped by
internal credit assessment.

(b) For the purposes of internal credit risk management,
the Group uses past due information to assess
whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition. At 31 December 2023 and 2022,
except for the loan and loan interest receivables and
refundable consideration paid, the Group has no
past due other receivables. No change in the loss
allowance for other receivables during the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management,
the Group applies internal credit assessment for its
customers in relation to its operation. The following
table provides information about the exposure to
credit risk for trade receivables (not credit-impaired),
which are assessed based on provision matrix at the
end of the reporting period within lifetime ECL.

30. @ T A (&)

BBEBREEREREEKE)
=& Rk OB ERE (&)

HieE -

() BMEZEUFEMS AEECRAZE
BB EERIE KA (LT ERT
ExMAHEEEBRNEEERS - B
RIEEREZEBHASN - REEIER R
BRERABEEMEDERZFER
BERREEES -

(b) FAREERBEEMS @ AEEFER
EEER T EERR B YIIATER AR
EERNBEN - RZBE_=FR=F
——F+=A=1+—0H BREKERRK
&ﬁﬂE&Tﬁﬁaﬁﬁﬁfﬁ'Kﬁ
EfEstElEal -  BE
TEERIEICF+ZA=1— Ei
FIE o E R UK R OE S 1R R A
@Jo

ERAKEEERRERE 2 —8n &
SERMHESERETPERAMBEER
i o TRBEHEE ZRWFANRREH
RERBEEEZEERBRER - IR
2HIEHEEBR(BEERE) R
fil o
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30. @ T A(#)
BEEREEERRBER(E)

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

EEREB N BERE(E)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

At 31 December 2023 R-B-_=%+=-H=+—H

Gross

Average carrying  Impairment
loss rate amount losses
Internal credit assessment NEE &R FiEER BREAE HEEE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKEFT ARKETF T
Low risk e 9.0 4,454 401
Normal risk ERRER 14.9 5,175 771
High risk =k 18.5 1,504 278
13.0 11,133 1,450

At 31 December 2022 RN_E-——F+=-—A=+—H

Gross

Average carrying Impairment
loss rate amount losses
Internal credit assessment N BTG FHEER RERE HEEE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Low risk i 8.5 4,865 412
Normal risk ERRR 14.1 4,086 575
High risk S]EN 17.1 1,815 309
12.0 10,766 1,296

fETEIR R D EMER AR AR F MR
BEBEMAENEQRMGE - WIREH
TEEBZRALENATRISHAEIESR

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue B o NEEEEE TR 2 MHE N
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed EREEENEREEEBSANERE
by management of the Group to ensure relevant we

information about specific debtors is updated.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables
under the simplified approach.

30. @ T A (&)
BEAREEERRBER(E)

EERE N BERE(E)

TRIURLE 5 B IRE A R
R EHBRHEERRES) -

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HIEH

e FEER

EEEA (HBRER
(REEHE) HifE) H)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2022 R-T-_—_F—H—H 673 3,325 3,998
Impairment recognised BERRRE 691 98 789
Impairment losses reversed EREREEE (68) (348) (416)
At 31 December 2022 and N —
1 January 2023 +TZA=+—8k

—T=F—-H—H 1,296 3,075 4,371
Impairment recognised B R E 1,181 2,562 3,743
Impairment losses reversed BRERERE (1,027) (1,302) (2,329)
At 31 December 2023 R-S-=F

+tZA=+- 1,450 4,335 5,785

EEE Y EE 2GR 2 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are
mainly due to the provision of lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, including those not credit-impaired
and credit-impaired with gross carrying amounts of
approximately RMB11,133,000 (2022: approximately
RMB10,766,000) and approximately RMB4,335,000
(2022: approximately RMB3,075,000), respectively.

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss
allowance for loan and loan interest receivables and
refundable consideration paid.

30. @ T A(#)

BBEREERRREEK(E)

FERBKREREE)

HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HLHF
B BZRWFEEEREESHTER
R E S EWRIEFIREHBEHREE
EBEEE BEFEEREENAARE
11,133,000 2 BE EREE 2 BB
H(ZF=——1F : HAKR 10,766,000
o) REEEREL A AR4335000
THEEREESRBHRB(ZFE -
F : A K3 075,0005T)

TREURBLEY S & BRI S0 AT R
B8 (T {ERE IR EHHER

Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)

FHAENEEER(REERE)

Loan and Refundable
loan interest  consideration
receivables paid Total
BRERR ARE
BERFE EXEE met
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBETFT ARETFT
At 31 December 2022 and i S 2
1 January 2023 +-A=+-Bk
—Z-=%—-H-H - - -
Impairment recognised BHERRE 237 112 349
At 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=%
+-A=+—H 237 112 349
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. M T A#E)
Financial risk management objectives and MBEREEEERBEK(E)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk MENE SR
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group EERBECRBAIE  AEEERK
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash #HFEeRRSEEYMNERERRRT
equivalents deemed adequate by the management RHIKF - MR ASEKEEBATE
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the e WRLRESMEBRTE -

effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining TRFAVNAEEIFITES R A EOFIER
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial B - TRIIBRBEAEBENZFREER
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the AzemBBENRURRERERR

undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay.

Weighted
average  On demand Total Total
effective ~ or within undiscounted carrying
interest rate Tyear 1to2years  cash flows amount
ik 357 BREX AERRE

ERAZ  g-fm -ERF RBAE  RERLE
%  RMB0O0  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000
ARRTR  AERTZ  ARETr  ARRT%

At 31 December 2023 R=BZ=E+-A=1-H

Trade payables BHEME - 638 - 638 638
Other payables and accrued charges B R st B - 4574 - 4574 4,574
Lease liabiltes HEaRE 345 1,197 1,208 2,405 2,288
Amount due to an associate ERBERANE - 2,848 - 2,848 2,848

9,257 1,208 10,465 10,348

FEEAYEEIRIRGMR A T Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited 235
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

30. @ T A(#)

BEEREEERRBER(E)

REETEREE)

Weighted
average O demand Total Total
effective or within undiscounted carrying
interest rate Tyear  Tto2years  cashflows amount
il 32 REX AETRE
BRI F—FR —EWE RELE  REGLE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEETL  AREFT  AREFT  ARETL
At 31 December 2022 R-E--E+-A=+-H
Trade payables BHEME - 829 = 829 829
Other payables and accrued charges AN UARE B - 3432 - 3432 3432
Lease liabilties BEAE 483 44 60 484 469
Amount due to an associate ERBERANE - 1,408 - 1,408 1,408
6,093 60 6,153 6,138
Fair value measurements of financial SMITAZAFEFE

instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities that are
not measured at fair value on recurring basis

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amount of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values based on a discounted cash flow analysis.
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Year ended

31. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH
FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

The Group recognised right-of-use assets
by incurring lease liabilities of approximately
RMB2,646,000 (2022: Nil) during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's
liabilities arising from financing activities.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

31 December 2023 HEZE—F - =F+_A=+—HILFE

31. REREzHtER

(a) EEHREXS

BE-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—HLt
FE ASBAELEHEAGEY
ANE#2,646,000C( =—F = —4F :
) MERERAEEE -

(b) MEEBEEZEBEZIHE

TRAMANECEREETHEL A
BEE - MEDBELEZRETE
ﬁfﬁéméiﬁixfﬁéﬁéﬂﬁ’\$
SEGEAHERERTHOELARE
EEREEMECAE -

Amount
due to an Lease
associate liabilities
PE{H
AEFRIE HEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2022 R-E-_—_F—H—H 101 1,684
Financing cash flows, net ~ B&EREMRE * FE 1,307 (1,288)
Interest expenses MEFX - 55
Exchange difference EHZ=5 - 18
At 31 December 2022 and R-ZT-_—F+_A=1t—HRK

1 January 2023 —FT-=F—H—H 1,408 469
Financing cash flows, net ~ @&ER&R=E  FE 1,440 (884)
Addition of new leases BRFTHE - 2,646
Interest expenses FERX - 53
Exchange difference ME 5, HE - 4
At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=%+—-H=+—H 2,848 2,288

EEENBRRE

B PR 22 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

Related party transactions

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had entered
into following transactions with its related party
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022:

32. BEFRS

(a) BESRZ

FRINER B B SRR B3t )5 2 I FR

G - BE T =

FR-_FB-—F

TZA=T—BILFE A&EEH
HEGERFINIATRS ¢

2023 2022
—=E-= —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREFT AREFT
Lease and utilities expenses paid BRI EET £
to Shenzhen Junxuan Biological FirAR AR (FRY
Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Shenzhen E& |) 2 & M A
Junxuan”) (Note) X (H17E) (856) (943)
Sales to Smartronic M pE Bl ST SHE - 254

Note:

Shenzhen Junxuan is a related company controlled
by Mr. Zhang Shuguang, an executive director of the
Company.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The emoluments of directors as key
management personnel of the Group during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 were
as follows:

AINEHRARRATESRENLTLE

EHIRBERT] ©

(b) TEEEAEHM

EX(ERAEEIEEEAR)#H

Eom =%

— = — —

— = e

F+=H

=t BIEFEZFHMIT

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

A% T T AREFor

Salaries, bonuses and other benefits ¥ & - JEAL & E M 1&F) 2,532 2,797
Contributions to defined contribution St ET 215K

plans 21 194

2,743 2,991

English translation is for identification purpose only
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33. AARIFEMB AR ZF1E
OF THE COMPANY

Details of principal subsidiaries at the end of the RBEHR - TEZMBABFBNT :
reporting period are as follows:

Place of Proportion ownership
Name of incorporation/  Paid up issued/registered interest and voting power  Principal activities/ Type of
subsidiary establishment capital held by the Company place of operation legal entity
AL/ BRTRARKRA/ ARAFEHERRR
HEARER BB B4 RERRA RERELA TEER/EEHE EREREY
Directly Indirectly
B# [}
Nutronic Biomedical ~ Hong Kong Issued and fully paid share 100% N/A" Investment holdings/ Limited liability
Group Limited capital HK$98 (2022: 100%) Hong Kong company
Nutronic Biomedical &% BETRERRAIBET 100% AR RERR/EE ERAT
Group Limited (CE-—%:
100%
King Grace The BVI Issued and fully paid share 100% N/A " Investment holdings/ Limited liability
capital US$10 (2022: 100%) Hong Kong company
King Grace ZBRTHE  DEARERBAI0EL 100% TER RESR/ R ARAA
100%)
Shenzhen Huakang ~ The PRC Paid-up registered capital N/A 100% Research and development,  wholly foreign-owned
US$1,800,000 (2022:100%) - manufacture, marketing oo
and sale of biological
reagents and auxiliary
reproductive supplies and
equipment/The PRC
AR hEl SR EMRA1,800,000%7T Oyl 100% H% 4% ZHRHEE  NEEELR
CE-F: ENBHREREER
100%) &REE/TE
Nutronic Healthcare  Hong Kong Issued and fully paid share N/A 100%  Sales of healthcare products — Limited liability
Company Limited capital HKS1 (2022:100%)  and supplements/Hong company
("Nutronic Kong
Healthcare")
Nutronic Healthcare &% BETRARRAET NER 100% HERFERRARR/ ARAA
Company Limited (ZE=zf: &
(INutronic 100%)
Healthcare )
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt REEHAR - SIEI B A R B TERE
securities at the end of reporting period. EiESH o

EREYESIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2023 &HZ—Z - =F+_A=+—HILtFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

34. KA R MBMRRT

2023 2022
—EBE-=F T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kt AR¥FT ARBFr
Non-current assets *REBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NI 9,099 9,099
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB RRE 6 11
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 217
9,105 9,327
Current assets REEE
Other receivables, deposits and HAEBGIE - Re &
prepayments FERRIE 8 396
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE WS B B A B RIE 34(a) 7,842 8,283
Bank balances and cash SR1THS ﬁ%&fﬁﬁ 2 259
7,852 8,938
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accrued Ho{th FEA RIB K FE T
charges BH 3,298 1,614
Lease liabilities HEaE - 114
Amount due to a subsidiary e — IRt B A BRI 34(a) 3,340 3,251
6,638 4,979
Net current assets REBEEFRE 1,214 3,959
Total assets less current EERERRBERE
liabilities 10,319 13,286
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE - 59
NET ASSETS EEFE 10,319 13,227
Capital and reserves BEAXR#E
Share capital (LZN 3,674 3,637
Reserves & 34(b) 6,645 9,590
TOTAL EQUITY RERARE 10,319 13,227
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34. KA RIBBIRRRTR(E)

THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Amounts due from (to) subsidiaries

The amounts due from (to) subsidiaries were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

(b) Movement in the Company’s reserves

(a) FEW(f3) B2 RRIEA
FE W (15F) B8 22 B I8 JB8 A A4

et B RIZEREE -

(b) ARFZ#HEEE

Share
Share option  Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
R RE BRERE ZHEE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEEFT  ARETT  AREFT  ARETT
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_F—H—H 47,248 2,404 (39,418) 10,234
Loss and total comprehensive FREBREZARY
expense for the year ek - - (2,821) (2,821)
Transactions with owners: BRBEAZRS
Contributions and distributions ~ £30 %7/
Issue of new shares upon placing, ~ EEERE(THTE »
net of transaction costs MBRRZHKA 2177 - - 2177
At 31 December 2022 and A —a
1 January 2023 +ZA=Z+-Ak
“E--%-f-H 49,425 2,404 (42,239) 9,590
Loss and total comprehensive FRBERZERX
expense for the year ek - - (3375) (3,375)
Transactions with owners: BEBAZRS
Contributions and distributions 50 Z 7/
Issue of new shares upon exercise  {TEEBRIEMZITHR
of share options 839 (409) - 430
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=f%
+ZA=+-H 50,264 1,995 (45,614) 6,645

EEE Y EE 2GR 2 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-—Z—=F+ - A=+—HIFE

35. EVENT AFTER THE END OF REPORTING
PERIOD

Subsequent to 31 December 2023, save as disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group has the following subsequent events:

(1) On 8 January 2024, the Company entered
into a placing agreement with a placing
agent, pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to place, through the
agent, up to an aggregate of 82,000,000
placing shares at a placing price of HK$0.105
per placing share to not less than six places
who are individual, corporate, institutional
investor or other investors that are third parties
independent of the Company and its connected
persons (the “Placing 1”). The Placing 1 was
completed on 31 January 2024 and total of
20,000,000 placing shares have successfully
been placed. The net proceeds of approximately
HK$1,990,000 will be utilised for general
working capital of the Group for its operation

outside of the PRC. The placing shares rank pari

passu with all existing shares in all respects.
Details are set out in the Company's

announcement dated 8 January 2024, 15
January 2024 and 31 January 2024.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z—=F+_-A=+—HILFEE

35. EVENT AFTER THE END OF REPORTING 35. Si&HicE=1\E &)

PERIOD (Continued)

(2) On 9 February 2024, the Company entered ) RZZTEZMWE=-_ANAB ' "AQF)HE

into a placing agreement with a placing
agent, pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to place, through the
agent, up to an aggregate of 62,000,000
placing shares at a placing price of HK$0.096
per placing share to not less than six places
who are individual, corporate, institutional
investor or other investors that are third parties
independent of the Company and its connected
persons (the “Placing 2”). On 5 March 2024,
the Company and the placing agent, have
entered into a supplemental placing agreement
state that the placing price would be revised to
HK$0.104 per placing share and the long stop
date has been extended from 5 March 2024 to
26 March 2024. The Placing 2 was completed on
21 March 2024 and total of 31,000,000 placing
shares have successfully been placed. The net
proceeds of approximately HK$3,180,000 will
be utilised for general working capital of the
Group for its operations outside of the PRC. The
placing shares rank pari passu with all existing
shares in all respects.

Details are set out in the Company's
announcement dated 9 February 2024, 14
February 2024, 5 March 2024 and 21 March
2024.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M=

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the ZAEBRBERETRFEZEE  EER
Group for the last five financial years is set out below. BEBMEEINNT - AEZW TEHERE B
This summary does not form part of the consolidated k&K 2 EH—ELH -

financial statements.

RESULTS E

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=f —“E--F —“Z-—-F% —Z°TF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANRETT ARETT ARETT AREEFT AREFT

Revenue WA 24,629 25,330 26,127 21,967 25,471
(Loss) Profit before taxation &t AT (518 )% A (5,782) (3,007) (3,903) (11,372) 658
Taxation ia] - (68) (317) (255) (942)

Loss for the year attributable to A2 BB A
the owners of the Company ~ JE(EFE 1 (5,782) (3,075) (4,220) (11,627) (284)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING ¥7ZE - &R IEERES

INTERESTS

Assets BE

Non-current assets ERBEE 11,879 12,979 13,396 13,691 15,244
Current assets TEEE 53,436 53,423 53,664 59,010 63,468
Total assets BELE 65,315 66,402 67,060 72,701 78,712
Equity and liabilities BEREE

Total equity R 51,019 56,524 57,705 61,859 70,685
Non-current liabilities =l 1,200 97 718 1,576 816
Current liabilities V=K 13,096 9,781 8,637 9,266 7,211
Total liabilities BfERH 14,296 9,878 9,355 10,842 8,027
Total equity and liabilities EnRkBEESE 65,315 66,402 67,060 72,701 78,712
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